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Dear Nancy Marconi:
Re:

Enbridge Gas Inc. (Enbridge Gas)
Ontario Energy Board (OEB) File No.: EB-2022-0110
2021 Utility Earnings and Disposition of Deferral & Variance Account
Balances - Interrogatory Responses

In accordance with the OEB’s Procedural Order No. 1 dated, July 18, 2022, enclosed
please find the interrogatory responses of Enbridge Gas.
In accordance with the OEB’s revised Practice Direction on Confidential Filings effective
December 17, 2021, Enbridge Gas is requesting confidential treatment of the following
exhibit – details of the specific confidential information for which confidential treatment is
sought are set out below:
Exhibit
I.FRPO.14 Attachment 1

Description of
Document
Capacity
Released to
Third Party for
UDC Mitigation

Brief Description

Basis for Confidentiality Claim

Attachment 1 provides
further details on the
capacity released
(assigned) to third parties
for the purposes of
mitigating the overall
UDC impact.

Details provided in the attachment
meets the categories of
information to be treated as
confidential in the OEB’s Practice
Direction on Confidential Filings
under:
• Appendix A (i) prejudice to
any person’s competitive
position, and
• Appendix B (i) Unit pricing of
a third party

In the event that you have any questions on the above or would like to discuss in more
detail, please do not hesitate to contact me.

September 2, 2022
Page 2

Sincerely,
(Original Digitally Signed)
Richard Wathy
Technical Manager, Regulatory Applications
cc.: D. Stevens (Aird & Berlis)
EB-2022-0110 Intervenors
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Ontario Energy Board Staff (STAFF)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit B, Tab 3, Schedule 1, p. 3
Question(s):
In the discussion on Utility O&M for 2020 and 2021, Enbridge Gas noted that outside
services increased by $11.3 million over the prior year due to an increase in integrity
spending, higher locates costs due to higher contact rates, higher postage costs from
lower e-bill utilization, higher contract costs for call centre, back-office billing and
collections support.
a) Please provide the postage costs and e-bill utilization rates for 2020 and 2021
b) Please explain the reasons for the drop in e-bill utilization and confirm if the trend is
likely to continue in future years.
Response:
Evidence review has revealed that the variance explanation originally provided and
referenced above was incorrectly stated. While outside services increased by
$11.3 million and all other explanations are accurate, the statement on postage costs
should have been expressed as a decrease, not an increase. It follows from an
increase, not decrease, in e-bill utilization. The corrected paragraph is as follows:
Outside services (Line 4) increased $11.3 million over the prior year
primarily due to an increase in integrity spending, higher locates costs
due to higher contract rates, higher contract costs for call center, backoffice billing and collections support, and increases in regulatory
consulting costs related to rebasing preparations as well as higher
regulatory fees reflecting the volume of proceedings including Integrated
Resource Planning (IRP), offset by lower postage costs from higher e-bill
utilization.

Filed: 2022-09-02
EB-2022-0110
Exhibit I.STAFF.1
Page 2 of 2

Responses to parts a) and b) follow.
a) 2021 Postage Costs
2020 Postage Costs

$14.7 million
$15.5 million
$ (0.8 million) decrease in postage costs

b) E-bill utilization has increased from 60.4% at the end of 2020 to 62.0% at the end
of 2021. Enbridge Gas expects the adoption rate to increase but at a slower
pace.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Ontario Energy Board Staff (STAFF)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Accounting Policy Changes Deferral Account
Exhibit C, Tab 1, p. 2
Question(s):
As part of the settlement proposal in the 2019 Deferral and Variance Account (DVA)
disposition proceeding (EB-2020-0134), parties agreed to defer the review, allocation
and disposition of all balances in the Accounting Policy Changes Deferral Account
(APCDA) until the end of Enbridge Gas’s deferred rebasing term (2023). The company
continues to track the annual revenue requirement impact of accounting policy changes
made as of the amalgamation date (January 1, 2019) as well as any further accounting
policy changes adopted since that time.
Please identify any accounting policy changes made in 2021 that are in addition to
those made in 2019 and 2020. Please provide details of the additional changes and the
impact of those changes on the balances in the APCDA.
Response:
There were no new accounting policy changes made in 2021 and, therefore, there are
no further impacts recognized in the APCDA beyond those impacts resulting from
changes made in 2019 and 2020.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Ontario Energy Board Staff (STAFF)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Enbridge Gas Tax Variance Deferral Account
Exhibit C / Tab 1 / pp. 12-14
Question(s):
The balance in the 2021 Tax Variance Deferral Account (TVDA) also includes balances
related to accelerated CCA impacts of capital additions related to amalgamation/
integration capital projects. In accordance with the Decision and Order in the 2020 DVA
proceeding (EB-2021-0149), the balances related to amalgamation/integration capital
projects will be reviewed in Enbridge Gas’s 2024 rebasing application. The 2021
balance for amalgamation/integration projects is $10.463 million.
a) Please provide a table identifying the specific projects categorized as
amalgamation/integration spending and the accelerated CCA amount associated
with each project. Please also provide the reasons for classifying these projects as
amalgamation/integration related capital spending.
b) Please confirm if Enbridge Gas funded amalgamation/integration capital projects in
2021 through synergies. If yes, please establish a link between the achieved
synergies and the related amalgamation/integration projects.
Response:
a) Please see Attachment 1 of this response, which contains the 2021 in-service capital
for amalgamation/integration projects, the associated accelerated versus regular
CCA variance, as well as the resultant income tax (or earnings) impact, and
grossed-up revenue requirement impact in the TVDA. Attachment 1 also includes
the 2020 opening UCC amounts and associated CCA impacts recognized in the
2021 TVDA balance of $10.463 million.
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As noted at Exhibit B, Tab 3, Schedule 2, pages 11 and 12, integration capital
includes expenditures required to integrate EGD and Union. Enbridge Gas continues
to evaluate projects to determine whether they meet the criteria of integration capital:
a one-time incremental cost related to the amalgamation of EGD and Union.
Projects can be newly identified to address integration needs, or they may be driven
by a need to replace an asset due to obsolescence. In either case, the project is
classified as integration as it drives a harmonized solution that adds value to the
integrated utility. It’s important to note that the work being addressed through some
integration projects would have been required for either or both rate zones in the
absence of amalgamation (because of factors such as obsolescence or growth), but
the projects are nonetheless included as integration capital because the project
supports the amalgamated utility.
Each of the projects noted in Attachment 1 has been determined to have met the
criteria noted above.
b) During the deferred rebasing period, Enbridge Gas is leveraging amalgamation/
integration synergies derived from initiatives to fund, in whole or in part, the annual
costs related to amalgamation/integration capital (and amalgamation/integration
period charges). This is premised on the fact that during the deferred rebasing term,
Enbridge Gas retains the benefits from amalgamation, but also pays the associated
costs (the benefits follow the costs principle). It is further evidenced by the fact that
capital related to amalgamation/integration capital projects has been excluded from
the capital forecasts utilized to determine Incremental Capital Module (ICM) eligible
capital amounts over the deferred rebasing term. As a result, funding for such
projects is not provided through ICM rates for capital amounts above the ICM
threshold, nor is it provided through base rates (i.e., they are not pushing other
capital projects above the ICM threshold).
The Company notes that each individual amalgamation/integration capital project
may or may not be funded, in whole or in part, by savings it creates over the
deferred rebasing term. Certain individual projects may not generate
synergies/savings but it does support amalgamation. For projects that do result in
savings, the realization of those savings may not occur until after the project has
gone into service. As such, at any point in time over the deferred rebasing term,
costs for an individual project may be occurring without the realization of savings to
that point. One such example is the 2021 Customer Information System (CIS)
implementation.
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Capital Cost Allowance - 2021 In-Service Capital for Amalgamation/Integration Projects

CCA Pool

CCA Pool
Opening
Opening UCC
UCC
Accelerated CCA Regular CCA
2020 Projects
Scada and Gas Control Consolidation
Scada and Gas Control Consolidation
CIS Phase 1 (Hana Upgrade)
Customer Experience
Bill Print and Presentment

195,042
2,978,584
3,173,626

355,967
808,030
12,339,848
22,427
10,180
13,536,452

2021 Projects
Meter Shop
Meter Shop
CIS Integration (plus Web Integration/My Account)
SCADA
AWS/Customer Connections
CIS (Hana)
Total Impact of Accelerated versus Regular CCA - 2021

-

CCA Pool
Capital
Additions

CCA Class / Rate Accelerated CCA

CCA Variance

Class 12 100%
Class 50 55%
Class 50 55%
Class 12 100%
Class 12 100%

107,273
1,638,221
1,745,494

355,967
444,416
6,786,916
22,427
10,180
7,619,907

(355,967)
(337,143)
(5,148,695)
(22,427)
(10,180)
(5,874,413)

(94,331)
(89,343)
(1,364,404)
(5,943)
(2,698)
(1,556,719)

(128,342)
(121,555)
(1,856,332)
(8,086)
(3,670)
(2,117,986)

Class 1 6%
Class 8 20%
Class 12 100%
Class 50 55%
Class 50 55%
Class 12 100%

155,075
15,987
53,797,855
8,827
11,811,417
546
65,789,707

51,692
5,329
26,898,927
2,942
3,937,139
273
30,896,302

103,383
10,658
26,898,927
5,885
7,874,278
273
34,893,404

27,397
2,824
7,128,216
1,559
2,086,684
72
9,246,752

37,274
3,843
9,698,253
2,122
2,839,025
98
12,580,615

-

1,723,054
53,290
53,797,855
10,699
14,316,869
546
69,902,314

Regular CCA

Earnings
Impact
Grossed-up
(26.5% tax rate) Earnings Impact

10,462,630
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Ontario Energy Board Staff (STAFF)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Storage & Transportation Deferral Account – EGD
Exhibit D, Tab 1, p. 2
Question(s):
The balance in the EGD rate zone Storage and Transportation Deferral Account
(S&TDA) is $7.9 million plus interest to be recovered from ratepayers. The primary
driver for the balance in the 2021 S&TDA is higher than forecasted transportation prices
and higher than forecast market-based storage costs in 2021.
Please provide the average market-based storage costs for 2020 and 2021. Why have
market-based storage costs increased in 2021?
Response:
The market-based storage costs for 2020 and 2021 are $23.3 million and $22.4 million
respectively. The average storage costs for 2020 and 2021 are $0.88 / GJ and $0.85 /
GJ respectively. The reduction in 2021 market-based storage costs relative to 2020 is
driven by lower storage prices. The market-based storage costs for 2021 are higher
than the 2018 OEB-approved forecast by $2.3 million, driven by higher in-franchise
storage requirements for EGD rate zone customers and higher storage prices compared
to the OEB-approved forecast from 2018.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Ontario Energy Board Staff (STAFF)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Transactional Services Deferral Account - EGD
Exhibit D / Tab 1 / p. 4 and Exhibit D / Tab 1 / Schedule 2
Question(s):
Transactional services refer to optimization of storage and transportation assets.
Storage optimization transactions rely on the storage of or the loan of gas between two
points in time at the same location. The evidence indicates that there were no storage
optimization revenues for 2021.
Why was Enbridge Gas not able to optimize any storage transactions for the EGD rate
zone in 2021?
Response:
Enbridge Gas has not been able to optimize any storage transactions for the EGD rate
zone in 2021 because of reduced demand and value for short term storage services.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Ontario Energy Board Staff (STAFF)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Unabsorbed Demand Costs Variance Account – Union Gas
Exhibit E, Tab 1, pp. 1-4
Question(s):
In order to meet customer demands across the Union rate zones and to meet the
planned storage inventory levels as of October 31, approved rates for the Union rate
zones in 2021 included planned unutilized pipeline capacity of 11.3 PJ in Union North
West, 3.1 PJ in Union North East and 0 PJ in Union South. The actual unutilized
capacity in 2021 was 28.5 PJ of which 19.6 PJ was in Union South. There is a debit
balance of $3.145 million applicable to sales service customers related to the cost of the
unutilized capacity in Union South.
a) Please confirm that the planned unutilized capacity in Union South is set at 0 PJ as
any excess pipeline capacity is used to fill storage at Dawn in a typical year.
b) Please explain why the 19.6 PJ of unutilized pipeline capacity in 2021 was not used
to fill storage levels.
c) Please outline the measures that Enbridge Gas implemented in order to reduce the
total actual unutilized capacity in 2021.
Response:
a) Confirmed. For the Union South rate zone, Enbridge Gas plans for upstream
pipeline capacity to flow at 100% utilization each day of the year. During times when
usage is less than upstream supply, the excess supply is injected into storage at
Dawn. When demands are greater than upstream supply, gas is withdrawn from
storage and transported to Union South in‐franchise customers. Consequently, there
is no planned unutilized capacity in Union South.
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b - c)
Enbridge Gas manages the Union rate zone transportation portfolio on an integrated
basis, and the decisions of which planned supply purchase to reduce is determined
based on achieving the greatest avoided cost while meeting both customer demands
in the summer and storage injection requirements. As a result, Enbridge Gas fills
storage using the most cost-effective supply paths.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Ontario Energy Board Staff (STAFF)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Upstream Transportation Optimization Variance Account – Union Gas
Exhibit E / Tab 1 / p. 6
Question(s):
Consistent with the method approved in EB-2011-0210 Decision and Rate Order, the
legacy Union Gas credited $15.392 million in rates to ratepayers during 2021. The
company earned $7.529 million in net revenues from upstream transportation
optimization during 2021, of which 90% or $6.776 million was credited to ratepayers.
The balance in account is a debit of $8.616 ($15.392 minus $6.776) million to be
recovered from ratepayers.
a) In response to an interrogatory in the 2020 DVA and Earnings Sharing proceeding
(OEB Staff IRR#16, EB-2021-0149), Enbridge Gas noted that reduced price volatility
and market spreads limit Enbridge Gas’s ability to earn optimization revenues.
Please explain whether the same drivers resulted in lower optimization revenues for
2021. Was the price volatility greater in 2021 than 2020?
b) Considering the recent natural gas price volatility, does Enbridge Gas expect to earn
higher transportation revenues for 2022 as compared to 2020 and 2021? Please
explain your response.
Response:
a) The same drivers as noted in response to EB-2021-0149, Exhibit I.OEB STAFF.16
remain applicable. There was greater price volatility in 2021 as compared to 2020.
b) Yes, Enbridge Gas expects to earn higher transportation optimization revenues in
2022 vs. 2020 and 2021 as a result of continued price volatility, market spreads and
market demand.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Ontario Energy Board Staff (STAFF)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Short-term Storage and Other Balancing Services Deferral Account – Union Gas
Exhibit E, Tab 1, pp. 8-9 and Exhibit E, Tab 1, Schedule 2
Question(s):
The Short-term Storage and Other Balancing Services Deferral Account includes
revenues from C1 Off-Peak Storage, Gas Loans, Supplemental Balancing Services and
C1 Short-Term Firm Peak Storage. The net revenues from services provided was 1.082
million of which the ratepayer share is $974,000. The balance in the deferral account is
a debit from ratepayers of $3.577 million ($4.551 million - $0.974 million). The schedule
(Exh. E, Tab 1, Sch. 2) provides a calculation of the net revenues for 2020 and 2021.
a) The Short-term Storage and Other Balancing Services revenue for 2020 was $4.735
million, which dropped to $2.610 million in 2021. However, O&M costs for 2021 ($1.0
million) are significantly greater than the $782,000 observed in 2020.
Please explain why the O&M costs for 2021 are greater than 2020 despite lower
revenues.
b) The unaccounted for gas (UFG) costs for 2021 were $266,000 as compared to
$114,000 in 2020. Please explain why UFG costs increased for 2021 considering
that revenues for 2021 were lower than 2020.
Response:
a) The O&M cost allocation is based on the amount of Excess Utility Storage Space
available for sale. Space available for sale in 2021 was 3.0PJ (Exhibit E, Tab 1,
Schedule 4) in comparison to 2.3PJ in 2020. Therefore, O&M costs in 2021 were
approximately $0.2 million more than 2020.
b) The UFG costs allocated to the Short-Term Storage deferral account is a function of
total UFG costs and is the main driver for the Year over Year change. The
“Unaccounted for Gas Volume Deferral Account” evidence for the Union Rate Zone
provides more detail regarding total UFG costs for the Union Rate Zone, as found in
Exhibit E, Tab 1, pages 31 to 37.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Ontario Energy Board Staff (STAFF)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Normalized Average Consumption Deferral Account – Union Gas
Exhibit E / Tab 1 / pp. 12-15
Question(s):
The Normalized Average Consumption (NAC) deferral account balance is calculated by
multiplying the variance between the weather normalized target NAC and the weather
normalized actual NAC by the 2013 OEB-approved number of customers and the 2021
OEB-approved delivery and storage rates for each general service rate class. For the
rate classes M1, M2, 01 and 10, two variances have been calculated for each rate class
to determine delivery and storage revenues: one is the variance between target and
actual NAC for base rates and the other similar variance for Y-factor rates. The
Variance (Target minus Actual NAC) differs under both calculations (Base Rates and Y
Factor Rates)
Please provide a detailed calculation that shows how the variance calculations (Target
minus Actual NAC) for base rates and Y-factor rates are used to determine the NAC
deferral account balance. Please identify the specific components to which the base
and Y-factor rates adjustments apply.
Response:
Please refer to Exhibit E, Tab 1, Schedule 6 which provides the detailed calculation that
shows how the variance calculations for base rates and Y-factor rates determine the
NAC deferral account balance. Schedule 6 also specifies which components the base
and Y-factor rate adjustments are applied to.
In summary, the specific components are as follows:
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Table 1
Base Rate & Y-Factor Rate Components
Base Rate
Components

Y-Factor Rate
Components

Target (forecasted) NAC

Target (forecasted) NAC

Actual NAC

Actual NAC

Total Delivery Base Rate
Total Storage Base Rate
2013 Board-approved number of
customers

Total Delivery Y-Factor Rate
Total Storage Y-Factor Rate
2013 Board-approved number of
customers
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Ontario Energy Board Staff (STAFF)
Interrogatory
Reference:
NAC Deferral Account – Union Gas
Exhibit E, Tab 1, pp. 13-15
Question(s):
For 2021, the balance in the NAC deferral account is a debit to ratepayers of $18.998
million plus interest. The 2019 actual NAC, weather normalized using the 2021 weather
normal was used to determine the 2021 target NAC for each rate class to calculate
base rates. The 2021 actual NAC for each rate class is weather normalized using the
2021 weather normal, which is produced using the OEB-approved weather
methodology. For 2021, the target NAC was greater than the actual NAC across all rate
classes (Rate 01, Rate 10, Rate M1, Rate M2).
Please provide a rate class graphical representation of normalized average use per
customer for the years 2019 to 2021(show forecast and actual).
Response:
The charts below provide a graphical representation of normalized average use per
customer and illustrates the actual NAC and target (forecasted) NAC for Rate 01,
Rate 10, Rate M1, and Rate M2 for 2019-2021. Note that the actual and target
(forecasted) NAC are weather normalized at each year’s respective OEB-approved
weather normal.
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Figure 1
Rate M1 Normalized Average Consumption: Actual vs Target (Forecast)

Figure 2
Rate M2 Normalized Average Consumption: Actual vs Target (Forecast)
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Figure 3
Rate 01 Normalized Average Consumption: Actual vs Target (Forecast)

Figure 4
Rate 10 Normalized Average Consumption: Actual vs Target (Forecast)
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Ontario Energy Board Staff (STAFF)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Unaccounted for Gas Volume Deferral Account – Union Gas
Exhibit E, Tab 1, pp. 31-37
Question(s):
Union Gas’s 2021 approved rates includes $10.1 in Unaccounted for Gas (UFG) costs.
Enbridge Gas’s actual UFG costs for 2021 were $35.9 million of which Enbridge Gas
recovered $10.4 million. After considering the symmetrical dead-band of $5.0 million,
the balance in the UFG Volume Deferral Account is $20.5 million plus interest. The
average UFG percentage has been 0.356% for the years 2013 through 2021. However,
the UFG percentage for 2021 was 0.672%. The UFG volume for 2020 was 74,120 103
m3 while for 2021, the UFG volume was 252,582 103 m3. The company has identified
that the true-up of estimated consumption based on the calendarization of UFG
volumes has contributed to volatility between 2020 and 2021. The true-up between the
December 2020 estimate and the actual billed volumes resulted in a decrease to the
delivery volumes recorded in January 2021. When billings related to December 2020
were completed over the following month, it was determined that there was an overestimate of gas deliveries for December 2020.
a) Please provide the average volume and UFG percentage for the years 2013 through
2020.
b) Please provide detailed calculations supporting the 2021 actual UFG costs similar to
that provided in response to Staff IRR# 20c in EB-2021-0149.
c) The evidence notes that the primary sources of UFG include physical losses (eg.
leaks, third-party damage and venting), metering variations, non-registering meters,
theft, line pack and billing/accounting adjustments. Please provide a breakdown (if
possible) for the UFG volumes in 2021. If UFG volumes for certain categories cannot
be determined, please classify them as “Other”.
d) Enbridge Gas has indicated that the true-up between December 2020 and January
2021 resulted in higher UFG volumes for 2021. Please provide the contribution of
this adjustment to the UFG volumes in 2021 and the costs. Please also confirm that
there was no double counting as a result of the true-up between the December 2020
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estimate and the actual billed volumes. In other words, please confirm that amounts
recorded in the UFG Volume Deferral Account were not recovered through billing
adjustments.
e) Please outline the measures that Enbridge Gas has implemented in order to reduce
UFG.
Response:
a) Please refer to Table 1 below. The average volume for the years 2013 through 2020
is 106,778 103m3. The average UFG percentage for the years 2013 through 2020 is
0.318%.
Table 1
Historical UFG Volumes & Percentage – Union Rate Zones
Calendar Year

UFG Volumes
(103m3)

UFG %

2013

113,997

0.320%

2014

97,109

0.318%

2015

54,408

0.174%

2016

131,588

0.427%

2017

108,901

0.342%

2018

136,447

0.379%

2019

137,652

0.376%

2020

74,120

0.208%

Average

106,778

0.318%
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b) Please refer to Table 2 below.
Table 2
Calculation of 2021 UFG Costs – Union Rate Zones
Line No.

2021 Actual

1

UFG %

2

Throughput (103m3)

3

UFG Volume (103m3)

252,582

4

Approved Reference Price (WACOG)

$160.39

5

2021 UFG Expense

6

Less:

7
8

0.672%

L/T Non-Utility Allocation
S/T Excess Utility Allocation

Net 2021 Utility UFG Expense

Notes
Line 2 / Line 3

37,612,361

$40,512,883

2021 weighted average cost
Line 3 * Line 4

$4,103,955
$538,821
$35,870,106

c) The primary sources of UFG noted in evidence were based on the 2019 Report on
UFG (“UFG Report”) filed in EB-2019-0194. Although the root causes of UFG are
generally known, it is difficult to quantify or estimate the individual factors due to their
nature. The breakdown of the contribution of individual sources provided in the UFG
Report leveraged internal reports and analysis completed at specific points in time
and this level of detail is not available on an ongoing basis. The specific sources that
have been quantified for UFG volumes in 2021 are relating to physical losses and
billing/accounting adjustments.
Enbridge Gas reports fugitive, vented and flared emissions annually to Environment
and Climate Change Canada and the Ontario Ministry of Environment, Conservation
and Parks. Figure 1 below provides data regarding lost gas from leaks and emission
in a format consistent with what was provided in the UFG Report.
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Figure 1
Lost Gas from Leaks and Emissions
35.00
30.00

106m3

25.00
20.00
15.00
10.00
5.00
-

Leaks and Fugitive Emissions
2015

2016

Blowdowns / Vented Emissions
2017

2018

2019

2020

Flaring
2021

Billing and accounting adjustments include true-ups related to estimates of gas
delivered but not yet billed, as described in evidence. This is estimated to be
46,000 103m3 in 2021 as described in d) below. Billing and accounting adjustments
also include prior period adjustments (PPA’s), as described in evidence. This is
estimated to be 78,000 103m3 in 2021.
The remaining balance of UFG volumes in 2021 are deemed to be classified as
“Other”.
d) UFG is broadly defined as the difference between gas receipts and gas deliveries.
Gas deliveries to customers are comprised of both billed and unbilled volumes.
Billed volumes are based on both estimated and actual meter reads. Unbilled
volumes are recorded at the end of each reporting period to quantify the amount of
gas delivered but not yet billed. This ensures that both billed and unbilled volumes
are incorporated into the formulaic determination of UFG.
In the subsequent reporting period(s), adjustments to customer accounts once an
actual read is received are processed. In addition, the estimate of gas delivered but
not yet billed is reversed and the actual billed volumes for the prior reporting period
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are recorded. These true-ups relating to both estimated reads as well as unbilled
estimates are incorporated into the formulaic determination of UFG.
The true-up noted in evidence between December 2020 and January 2021 is related
to the unbilled estimation for December 2020. December 2020 estimated volumes
were higher than the December 2020 actual billed volumes by approximately
46,000 103m3. The true up that occurred in January 2021 resulted in the 2021 UFG
volumes being higher by approximately 46,000 103m3 at a cost of approximately
$6.1 million.
Confirmed, there was no double counting of UFG volumes in the UFG Volume
Deferral account as a result of the true-up between the December 2020 estimated
volumes and the actual December 2020 billed volumes.
e) Enbridge Gas filed a Report on Unaccounted for Gas (UFG Report) prepared by
ScottMadden Management Consultants in 2019, which was considered as part of
the 2020 Rate Application Phase 2 1. In that proceeding, Enbridge Gas committed to
report upon its progress in implementing the recommendations set out in the UFG
Report in its 2022 rates filing. Enbridge Gas also committed in the same application
to assess its UFG forecasting methodology in the 2024 rebasing proceeding and to
include information about the implementation of the UFG Report recommendations
and other activities to address UFG, and the impacts of such activities.
A UFG Progress Report outlining progress in implementing the recommendations
from the 2019 UFG Report, including measures taken to reduce UFG, was prepared
in 2020. Some of the updates include the following:
1. Implementation of a harmonized leak operating standard
2. Development of a three-year program to eliminate backlog of leaks
identified prior to the roll out of the new standard
3. Leverage best practices in the area of controlled releases of gas during
maintenance and construction activities
4. Implementation of a more robust leak detection and report (LDAR)
program within Storage and Transmission operations
5. Implementation of a measurement and compliance program with respect
to compressor venting
6. Implementation of a program to replace continuous high bleed pneumatic
devices
7. Utilization of an incinerator during pipeline maintenance activities to
combust the gas entering the atmosphere rather than venting methane
8. Development of a Damage Reduction Strategy
9. Standardization of meter shop testing processes
1

EB-2019-0194
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10. Standardization of super compressibility factors
11. Alignment and standardization of best practices for the Gas Measurement
function and Gas Measurement Accounting System
12. Creation of a cross-functional measurement working group
13. Completion of the redesign of the Victoria Square Gate Station
14. Refinement of the tracking and recording of company use gas
The UFG progress report was filed as part of the 2022 Rates application 2, however
the OEB determined that issues relating to UFG were out of scope of that
proceeding. The UFG Progress report, prepared in 2022, as well as supplemental
updates, will be filed as part of the 2024 Rebasing application.

2

EB-2021-0148, Exhibit C, Tab, Schedule 1.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Ontario Energy Board Staff (STAFF)
Interrogatory
Reference:
IRP Operating Cost Deferral Account
Exhibit F, Tab 1, p.3
Question(s):
The 2021 Integrated Resource Planning (IRP) Operating Cost Deferral Account has a
debit balance of $0.058 million (including interest). Consistent with the allocation of the
TVDA balance, Enbridge Gas has proposed to split the debit balance of $0.058 million
between the EGD and Union rate zones in proportion to the actual rate base for each
rate zone.
a) Did Enbridge Gas consider other allocation methodologies to allocate the balance in
the IRP Operating Cost Deferral Account? If yes, please describe the alternate
allocation methodologies.
b) Please explain the rationale for allocating operating costs in proportion to rate base.
c) Has Enbridge Gas allocated operating costs in other deferral accounts to rate base?
If yes, please provide details.
Response:
a) Enbridge Gas reviewed the current approved deferral allocation methodologies used
by the EGD and Union rate zones when considering a common approach that could
be used to split the IRP Operating Cost Deferral Account balance between rate
zones and also to allocate the balance to rate classes. Rate base was the most
appropriate current approved deferral allocation methodology for which common
information was also available to split the balance between rate zones. Rate base
was approved to split and allocate the Tax Variance Deferral Account which is the
only other Enbridge Gas account that has been proposed for disposition since
amalgamation.
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b) Enbridge Gas considers rate base a reasonable allocation methodology for the IRP
Operating Cost Deferral Account given the main function of IRP is to assess
alternatives to future facility expansion/reinforcement projects to address system
needs. In the absence of IRP, investment in facility expansion/reinforcement projects
would be capitalized and form part of rate base.
c) The EGD rate zone has two deferral and variance accounts where rate base is used
to allocate operating related costs: the OEB Cost Assessment Variance Account and
the Transition Impact of Account Changes Deferral Accounts. Please see Exhibit F,
Tab 2, Schedule 3 for the classification and allocation of deferral and variance
account balances in the EGD rate zone. Please see Exhibit D, Tab 1, page. 1 and
page 13, for an overview of these deferral and variance accounts
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Ontario Energy Board Staff (STAFF)
Interrogatory
Reference:
2021 Performance Scorecard Results
Exhibit G / Tab 1 / pp. 1-2
Question(s):
The measure Time to Reschedule Missed Appointments (TRMA) tracks the percentage
of customers contacted to reschedule the work within two hours of the end of the
original appointment time. The annual standard for TRMA is 100% and Enbridge Gas
achieved 97.0% in 2019, 97.3% in 2020 and 97.0% in 2021. The company has
implemented several initiatives through 2019 and 2020 to improve performance and
meet the metric.
a) Please explain why measures implemented in 2019 and 2020 have failed to improve
the metric.
b) Has Enbridge Gas considered the option of contacting customers through text
messaging or other means to reschedule the work within two hours of the end of the
original appointment time.
Response:
a) Measures implemented in 2019 and 2020 have not improved the TRMA metric
performance as the TRMA performance standard of 100% does not allow for human
or technical error.
b) Enbridge Gas has considered contacting customers through text messaging or other
technological means, however, currently Enbridge Gas does not have technology in
place for automatic text messaging to reschedule missed appointments. There
would be a cost involved with implementing this technology and it would not
necessarily ensure a 100% result for this metric, as it does not account for technical
issues nor that all 3.8 million customers have provided mobile contact information.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Ontario Energy Board Staff (STAFF)
Interrogatory
Reference:
2021 Performance Scorecard Results
Exhibit G / Tab 1 / pp. 2-3
Question(s):
The measure Meter Reading Performance Metric (MRPM) represents the number of
meters with no read for four consecutive months or more divided by the total number of
active meters to be read. The target for the metric is 0.5% and Enbridge Gas achieved a
level of 0.7% in 2019, 4.4% in 2020 and 5.0% in 2021. Enbridge Gas has attributed the
reduction in performance to the COVID pandemic, extreme weather events and the
move to a new vendor.
a) What are the reasons for further deterioration in the 2021 metric as compared to
2019 and 2020?
b) One of the factors that Enbridge Gas attributes to missing the performance standard
is extreme weather events. In its evidence, Enbridge Gas noted that the 2021 winter
was warmer than normal. Considering that winter related events are a normal
occurrence in Ontario, why have extreme weather events impacted the performance
standard in 2020 and 2021?
Response:
a) MRPM is a cumulative metric whereby the total number of unread meters fluctuates
as some meters are read and come off the totals, other meters remain as unread
from the previous month, and new meters reach their four-month timeline and are
added to the current consecutive estimate results. This metric does not reset at the
beginning of each year, which means that even though a percentage of meters have
successfully been read, Enbridge Gas will continue to have meters that have
consecutive estimates at the start of the year. On January 1, 2021, 149,094 meters
had consecutive estimates. In 2021, weather events and increased illness/absence
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due to Covid and public health quarantine requirements resulted in continuing
challenges meeting the metric. The impact was more significant in Legacy Union
Gas regions due to extreme weather events listed in b) affecting the Northern and
Eastern regions.
With over 3.8M customers, if 19,000 meters have consecutive estimates on average
each month the metric is not achieved. If Enbridge Gas experiences a challenging
one or two months for meter reading during a year, the MRPM is very difficult to
achieve. For example, meter readers have three days to read their routes within the
billing cycle. When one reader becomes ill with Covid and needs to quarantine for
5 to 10 days, they will miss routes for 2 to 3 cycles (5,000-10,000 reads). In addition,
there was increased customer sensitivity to contact with meter readers, access
issues and staffing challenges experienced by the vendor.
b) As noted above in the response to a), the cumulative nature of MRPM combined
with other factors, including an increasing number of extreme weather events,
impacted MRPM performance in 2020 and 2021. Temperature is not the only factor
in extreme conditions that limits the ability to travel to properties and access meters
safely. Examples include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Heavy snowfall greater than 20 cm. occurred between January 6 and 14,
2020 throughout Ontario, particularly in Northern Ontario and the Greater
Toronto Area (GTA).
Between February 17 and February 20, 2020, over 50 cm. in Northern
Ontario.
Between February 15 and February 24, 2020, over 65 cm. in Eastern Ontario.
In April and May 2020, flooding in parts of Ontario including Kawartha Lakes,
Eastern and Northern Ontario due to melting snow combined with rain.
In the month of February 2021, the GTA had over 38 cm. of snowfall.
In April and May 2021, heavy flooding in North Bay and Kapuskasing area
washed out roads and readers could not get to meters; and
Between November 22 and December 21, 2021, Sudbury and Northern
Ontario received over 76 cm. of snow.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Ontario Energy Board Staff (STAFF)
Interrogatory
Reference:
2021 Performance Scorecard Results
Exhibit G / Tab 1 / p. 3
Question(s):
The Call Answering Service Level (CASL) measures the number of calls reaching the
general inquiry number answered within 30 seconds divided by the number of calls
received. The annual performance standard for CASL is 75% with a minimum monthly
standard of 40%. The 2021 result was 64.3% while the result for 2019 was 79.0% and
75.2% in 2020. In July 2021, Enbridge Gas harmonized the two legacy utilities’
Customer Information Systems (CIS), which involved moving 1.6 million customers and
their associated data from one CIS system to another. The changes post integration
resulted in higher call volumes. COVID also impacted the contact centres due to
increased illness and absence. In order to improve performance on the CASL metric,
Enbridge Gas implemented several initiatives including recruiting temporary employees
to assist with high call volumes.
a) Please provide the monthly CASL data for 2021.
b) Why did Enbridge Gas not anticipate higher call volumes from migrating a large
volume of customers to a different CIS?
c) Considering that both events were not unexpected (higher call volumes from moving
customers to a different CIS and the fact that COVID has increased absences
across all industries), why was Enbridge Gas not able to plan for these events and
recruit temporary employees at the same time as the migration was implemented?
d) The evidence notes that Enbridge Gas implemented several initiatives to improve
performance on the CASL metric. Please describe these initiatives.
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Response:
a) The number of calls received and answered within 30 seconds for 2021 is detailed in
the response at Exhibit I.LPMA.10.
b) Enbridge Gas did anticipate higher call volumes due to integration and hired
additional temporary employees, however, the size of the increase in call volumes,
the extended period there was an increase in call volumes and the complexity of the
calls with longer call time was not anticipated. Prior to integration Enbridge Gas
developed customer communications including bill inserts, web site information,
interactive voice response (IVR) messaging, and emails for MyAccount customers.
c) Enbridge Gas did plan for these events, however, the significance of the prolonged
impact of COVID-19 on illness/absence and the challenges experienced that
resulted in higher volumes because of system integration were larger than expected.
Recruitment and training of contact centre agents takes approximately three months
before an employee can answer move calls and an additional two weeks before an
employee can answer billing related inquiries. In addition, new agents have longer
call times. Enbridge Gas has continued to hire temporary agents to assist with the
increased work and to manage the ongoing COVID-19 impacts on illness/absence,
however, like other industries the current labour market hiring temporary employees
is challenging.
d) To improve performance on the CASL measure, Enbridge Gas has identified and
implemented several initiatives including:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Ongoing recruitment of temporary employees to assist with high call
volumes.
Workshops to drive optimization and identify opportunities for improved
performance.
Increased coaching of agents to decrease average call times.
A weekly review of customer survey feedback to identify opportunities to
improve customer experience.
Prioritization of billing exception work to improve resolution of customer
inquiries.
Continuous review of system enhancements to improve customer
experience in customer self-service channels such as MyAccount,
Chatbot, and IVR.

Filed: 2022-09-02
EB-2022-0110
Exhibit I.FRPO.1
Page 1 of 1

ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit B, Tab 1, Schedule 2, Page 1
Preamble:
Under footnote iv), the line item states: “Adjust EGD rate zone OBA costs to reflect
EB-2013-0099 approved unit costs agreed to be used for determining net revenue”
We would like to understand this adjustment.
Question(s):
Please provide a description of the adjustment
a) Please provide a breakdown of component costs and the resulting determination of
the $4.3M figure.
Response:
Consistent with utility adjustments made in prior years, the $4.3 million adjustment to
EGD rate zone Open Bill Access (OBA) net revenue reflects the difference between
actual direct OBA program costs and the approved program costs, determined in
accordance with terms included in approved OBA program settlement agreements. The
terms of these agreements are used to determine net OBA revenues and any resultant
impacts to be captured in the Open Bill Revenue Variance Account. The approved cost
components for OBA shared and standalone bills are Accenture Charges, Customer
Care, and other charges. Postage costs are also included for standalone bills.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit B, Tab 1, Schedule 4, Page 3
Preamble:
In the EGD Rate Zone Underground Storage Plant table, column 2 provides additions in
the total of $73.8M.
We would like to understand the nature of these additions and the allocation to utility
storage plant.
Question(s):
For each project over a million dollars that contribute to the additions, please provide:
a) A description of the project
b) A Board approval reference, if any
c) A specific description of the functionality created, improved or replaced as a
result of the capital invested
Response:
Corunna (SCOR) Meter Area Upgrade Phase 1 (IC 1811)
The meter area upgrade within the Corunna Compressor station is driven by process
safety and operational risk as a result of an outdated design for an area of the facility
that has experienced a significant change in function. As a result of the 2013 Inventory
Meter Upgrade project, which moved measurement from the Corunna Compression
Station closer to the storage pool, the Meter Area simply became flow paths connecting
Corunna Compressor Station to the associated pool pipelines. Limited cross flow
functionality is provided in the current meter area piping creating an inefficient
operational configuration to accommodate for the previous functionality. Scope of work
includes: Installation of Electrical Control building, replacement of meter run piping and
installation of new header cross-over and isolation valves for Ladysmith and Dow-Moore
pool lines and installation of west section of new NPS 30 A, B, C headers. Upon
completion of Phase 1 and 2, this eliminates the flow induced vibration risk associated
with existing cross flow header. The new design eliminates thermal expansion stresses
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in piping that are exceeding allowable range as per CSA Z662. A reduction of fittings
decreases the number of potential leak points. 2021 in-service capital was $21.3 million.
Wilkesport MOP Remediation (IC 101017)
The Wilkesport MOP Assessment, completed in 2019, identified that a number of
records were missing. To maintain the current established MOP and to address missing
records, the scope of this work includes field verifications, replacement of specific pipe
and fittings and pressure testing the TW10 lateral in-place. 2021 in-service capital was
$13 million.
NPS 16 LAD-WLK Interconnect MOP (IC 502483)
Remediate issues raised in the Ladysmith MOP Verification study. Scope of work to
replace NPS 16 insulator at the Ladysmith-Wilkesport Interconnect. 2021 in-service
capital was $3.3 million.
Wilkesport (LWLK) Well Debris Filter (IC 500484)
Replace previously removed underground in-line separator with above ground filter
separator system to achieve sufficient filtration and to capture well tailings to prevent
build-up in pipe fittings/valves and measurement equipment. During withdrawal, debris
from gas storage wells collect in the in-line separator and build up in the valve port,
preventing them from functioning as intended and restricting gas flow. The debris is
likely the tailings from the drilling of new wells. It travels with gas flow during withdrawal
into the storage pipeline system. Debris build-up, which has been observed at the
removed in-line separator at the Wilkesport metering station, has also been affecting the
valves at the meter station and rendering them non-functional. 2021 in-service capital
was $2.0 million.
NPS 16 Coveny Trans. Retrofit (IC 1908)
The Integrity Management Program is a mandated regulatory requirement which has
been designed to comply with all applicable codes and standards. It includes installation
costs for permanent in-line inspection (ILI) tool launcher and receiver facilities, retrofits
to existing lines to remove restrictive fittings or pipe configurations so they can be
inspected with ILI tools, and replacement of pipeline segments with integrity issues that
are identified through the inspections. As a result, the installation of permanent launcher
and receiver facilities prior to the next scheduled inspection in 2022 has been
completed. Installing permanent launcher and receiver facilities saves O&M spend
which would otherwise be required to install and remove temporary facilities each
inspection cycle. Permanent launcher/receiver facilities also provide a high degree of
flexibility with respect to the timing of inspections which leads to system optimization
and reduces disruption to normal pipeline operations. 2021 in-service capital was
$1.8 million.
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NPS 16 COV Gathering Retrofit (IC 1907)
The Integrity Management Program is a mandated regulatory requirement which has
been designed to comply with all applicable codes and standards. It includes installation
costs for permanent in-line inspection (ILI) tool launcher and receiver facilities, retrofits
to existing lines to remove restrictive fittings or pipe configurations so they can be
inspected with ILI tools, and replacement of pipeline segments with integrity issues that
are identified through the inspections. As a result, the installation of permanent launcher
and receiver facilities prior to the next scheduled inspection in 2022 has been
completed. Installing permanent launcher and receiver facilities saves O&M spend
which would otherwise be required to install and remove temporary facilities each
inspection cycle. Permanent launcher/receiver facilities also provide a high degree of
flexibility with respect to the timing of inspections which leads to system optimization
and reduces disruption to normal pipeline operations. 2021 in-service capital was
$1.8 million.
SCOR:60004 iBalance – Upgrade (IC3451)
The power cylinder balancing for eight of the compressors at the Corunna Compressor
Station is performed manually compared to the current industry best practice monitoring
technology (auto-balancing). These compressors are over 50 years old. Auto-balancing
systems provide improved reliability, reduced probability of crankshaft failure, more
precise control of NOx emissions and reduced operating costs (fuel and maintenance).
Without this change reliability and NOx emissions cannot improve further. Autobalancing has the potential to provide early detection, and prevention of detonation
events. 2021 in-service capital was $1.0 million.
PMKC:TKC67H New Hwell (IC 6363) - Horizontal Well – TCK 67H.
The horizontal gas storage well is needed to replace the deliverability lost in the
Kimball-Colinville Storage Pool due to the abandonment of three gas storage wells. One
well was abandoned in 2002 and two wells were abandoned in 2018. The drilling of well
TKC 67H is a ‘like for like’ replacement and will not result in an increase in storage
capacity or an increase in deliverability in the Kimball-Colinville Storage Pool. The
abandoned wells were part of the regulated storage operations. The new horizontal well
will form part of regulated storage operations. OEB Case Number: EB-2020-0105. 2021
in-service capital was $2.4 million.
SCOR:Methane
By January 1, 2020, packing must emit less than 0.023 m^3/min/packing while in
operation. Generally, it is expected that packing vent rate will be higher for integral
compressors, than for separable compressors. By January 1, 2023, methane vents excluding packing vents - must be controlled to be less than 15000 m^/year/facility.
Without an upgrade to the associated methane vents EGD will be out of compliance
with requirements of the Canadian Environmental Protection Act. 2021 in-service capital
was $1.5 million.
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SCOR:100MOD Hdr Valves-Replace (IC 12957)
Operations has identified compressor station yard isolation valves that do not provide
sufficient seal quality to provide isolation during normal maintenance activities or
emergency situations. Leaking valve seals are not necessarily valves that leak to
atmosphere or pose a loss of containment threat. The valves referenced in this
investment are those that allow gas to flow, when in the closed position. If valve
condition is not maintained at a reasonable level, the ability to isolate assets during an
emergency will be compromised. Valves in question are sometimes used to separate
piping with different MOPs. If these valves are allowed to leak, there is an increased
threat of over pressuring lower MOP pipe as gas bleeds through the valve from higher
MOP pipe. Project targets all Mode (MOD) valves associated with K704 & K707. There
are dozens of these valves in service. 2021 in-service capital was $1.4 million.
SCOR:100MOD Hdr Vlves-Repl (IC 12956)
Operations have identified compressor station yard isolation valves that do not provide
sufficient seal quality to provide isolation during normal maintenance activities or
emergency situations. Leaking valve seals are not necessarily valves that leak to
atmosphere or pose a loss of containment threat. The valves referenced in this
investment are those that allow gas to flow when in the closed position. If valve
condition is not maintained at a reasonable level, the ability to isolate assets during an
emergency will be compromised. Valves in question are sometimes used to separate
piping with different MOPs. If these valves are allowed to leak, there is an increased
threat of over pressuring lower MOP pipe as gas bleeds through the valve from higher
MOP pipe. This project targets a specified header to replace all associated MOD valves.
All MOD valves on the Dow Moore pool Header will be replaced. There are a total of
5 valves - all valves are PN150 pressure classification. It is assumed that valves sizes
match the size of the Dow Moore pool Header (NPS20). Valves include: 66104-MV-017;
66104-MV-010; 66104-MV-017; 66104-MV-010; 120-MV-030. 2021 in-service capital
was $1.5 million.
LCHT:Pipeline-ILI Retrofits (IC 16836)
The Integrity Management Program is a mandated regulatory requirement which has
been designed to comply with all applicable codes and standards. It includes installation
costs for permanent launcher and receiver facilities prior to the next scheduled
inspection. Installing permanent launcher and receiver facilities saves O&M spend
which would otherwise be required to install and remove temporary facilities each
inspection cycle. Permanent launcher/receiver facilities also provide a high degree of
flexibility with respect to the timing of inspections which leads to system optimization
and reduces disruption to normal pipeline operations. 2021 in-service capital was
$1.8 million.
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SCOR:60007-Fdn Blk-Replace (IC 3460)
Due to the age of the compressor infrastructure, operating hours and oil contamination,
engine block foundations are deteriorating. Industry benchmarks suggest that
reciprocating engine block foundations degrade in 25 years or less for engines that run
24/7. Excessive bearing deflections place cyclic stresses on the crankshaft of the unit
leading to increased frequency of bearing failure and increased potential for a
crankshaft fatigue failure. Unit reliability will diminish dramatically if repairs are not
performed. The worst case consequence is unit unavailability during a design day.
Compressor foundations have been considered in the Asset Health Review. Condition
assessment is largely visual. A telltale sign of poor foundation condition is the existence
of cracks on the surface of the foundation with oil seeping out of the crack. Cracks
typically extend to a depth that is consistent with the bottom of the anchor bolts. Without
remediation, failing foundations will allow unit settlement, creating a misalignment of
bearings. Frequency of bearing failures increases - reducing operation reliability.
Collateral damage to the crankshaft is also common. This project replaced the entire
foundation of the compressor. 2021 in-service capital was $2.5 million.
NPS 16 LAD-WLK Inter Rfit (IC 1910)
The Integrity Management Program is a mandated regulatory requirement which has
been designed to comply with all applicable codes and standards. It includes installation
costs for permanent launcher and receiver facilities prior to the next scheduled
inspection in 2022. Installing permanent launcher and receiver facilities saves O&M
spend which would otherwise be required to install and remove temporary facilities each
inspection cycle. Permanent launcher/receiver facilities also provide a high degree of
flexibility with respect to the timing of inspections which leads to system optimization
and reduces disruption to normal pipeline operations. 2021 in-service capital was
$1 million.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit B, Tab 1, Schedule 4, Page 4
Preamble:
In the Union Gas Rate Zone Underground Storage Plant table, column 2 provides
additions in the total of ($12.1M).
We would like to understand the nature of these changes and the allocation to utility
storage plant.
Question(s):
For each project over a million dollars in absolute value that contribute to the total for
additions, please provide:
a) A description of the project
b) A Board approval reference, if any
c) A specific description of the functionality created, improved or replaced as a
result of the capital invested
Response:
Payne Pool – New Well Lateral (IC 101688)
To install new NPS 10 60m lateral for new well. The Payne Pool New Well project is
intended to recover lost design day deliverability at the Payne pool. Design day
deliverability of the Payne pool had declined due to the abandonment of one
injection/withdrawal well and relining (with a smaller casing) of four injection/withdrawal
wells. OEB Case Number: EB-2020-0105. 2021 in-service capital was $1.1 million.
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STO Property - Turner Property Purchase (IC 735985)
Purchase of the property will increase compliance and reduce public safety risk, will
reduce the likelihood of later compliance issues and land use that will be incompatible
with existing facilities, and will provide for the potential expansion of facilities and
additional swing space when facilities require work to be completed. 2021 in-service
capital was $1.1 million.
STO Property - Sanderson Property Purchase (IC 735983)
Purchase of the property will increase compliance and reduce public safety risk, will
reduce the likelihood of later compliance issues and land use that will be incompatible
with existing facilities, and will provide for the potential expansion of facilities and
additional swing space when facilities require work to be completed. 2021 in-service
capital was $1.4 million.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit B, Tab 2, Schedule 3 and EB-2020-0149 Exhibit I.FRPO.13
Preamble:
We would like to understand the cost changes and source of inter-legacy company
transactions.
Question(s):
For line 21, please break-out the aggregate transactions between legacy EGD and UG
into the respective lines 9 to 19 similar to FRPO. 13 from last year providing the last 3
years including 2021.
a) Please provide a description of M16 service transactions between legacy companies
and drivers for differences over time.
b) Please provide a description of S&T Transport Carbon Facility Collection transaction
between legacy companies and drivers for differences over time.
Response:
Table below provides breakdown of transactions between legacy EGD (LEGD) and
legacy UG (LUG) for years 2019, 2020 and 2021. Please note that all charges below
are LEGD paying LUG.
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Table 1
Revenue from Regulated Transportation Services between legacy EGD and UG
Line
No.

Particulars ($000s)
Revenue from Regulated Transportation Services:

9.

M12 Transportation

10.

M12-X Transportation

11.

C1 Long Term Transportation

12.

Rate 332: Gas Transmission

13.

C1 Short Term Transportation

14.

Gross Exchange Revenue

15.

Rate 331: Gas Transmission

16.

M13 Local Production

17.

M16 Transportation

18.

S&T: Transportation Carbon Facility Collection

19.

Other S&T Revenue

20.

Less: Elimination of charges between EGD and Union rate zones

21.

Total Regulated Transportation Revenue Net of Deferral

2021

2020

2019

Actual

Actual

Actual

126,332

124,282

119,850

10,872

10,779

10,764

-

-

620

-

-

-

53

-

-

-

-

90

-

-

-

-

-

-

332

407

417

890

677

259

10

10

9

-

-

-

$138,489

$136,155

$132,009

a) The M16 transportation service is used to transport gas between LEGD storage
pools and the Dawn hub. Decrease in revenues in 2021 from 2020 is driven by lower
approved M16 demand rates and lower volumes.
b) The calculation of carbon facility charge is based on actual volumes multiplied by the
approved carbon facility rate. The higher revenue is driven by higher volumes.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit B, Tab 3, Schedule 1, Tables and Appendix
Preamble:
We would like to understand the changes in O&M as the relate to integration including
Corporate Shared Services and EGI’s request to eliminate Appendix A.
Question(s):
For line 13 of Table 1, please provide a description of the major components leading to
the 67% increase.
a) Please reconcile the gross and net numbers provided in Table 3 and those in
Appendix A.
b) Please specify why the continuation of the presentation in Appendix A does not
assist the Board in understanding these cost changes in greater detail?
Response:
Please see the updated submission filed on June 17, 2022 that provided a correction to
Exhibit B, Tab 3, Schedule 1 in Table 1 and Appendix A. In the updated exhibit,
Corporate Shared Services in Line 13 shows an increase of 16.1%. The major drivers of
that increase are explained at paragraph 8 on page 3 and Attachment 1 to the response
at Exhibit I.SEC.1.
a) Gross and Net Corporate Shared Services (CSS) amounts are shown in both
Table 3 and Appendix A. To derive or reconcile both amounts, CSS-related
Capitalization is required.
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The following table shows where Net CSS, Gross CSS, and capitalization of CSS
amounts for 2020 and 2021 are shown or can be derived across all tables in the
exhibit.
Table 1
Reference Table for CSS in B-3-1

Net CSS:

2020 Values

2021 Values

Line 13
Line 3
Line 13

Column 2
Column 2
Column 3

Column 3
Column 3
Column 7

Table 2
Table 3

Line 1
Line 2

Column 2
Column 2

Column 3
Column 3

Table 3
App A

Line 1
Line 13+ Line 17

Column 2
Column 3

Column 3
Column 7

Table 1
Table 3
App A

Capitalization of CSS:

Gross CSS:

b) The presentation of CSS Costs (Columns 3 and 7), DSM and Integration Costs
(Columns 4 and 8) in Appendix A have been replaced by separate lines
(Lines 13 to 15) within Table 1. The Company believes that Table 1 allows for CSS,
DSM and Integration costs to be identified more directly as they are no longer
embedded within the different expense categories. As well, CSS costs in Line 13
reflect the true costs allocated to Enbridge Gas for its share of central functions
costs.
CSS costs are allocated by functional area and not at the expense category level.
The expense category details in Appendix A Columns 3 and 7, Lines 1 through 12,
represent Enbridge Gas central functions expenses that were removed from
Enbridge Gas O&M to become part of the enterprise cost pool, pulled into the
Central Functions Cost Allocation Methodology (CFCAM) and ultimately allocated
through the CFCAM to EGI as CSS costs in Line 13. The most relevant and useful
analysis is presented for overall CSS cost levels and variances for Line 13 (CSS
costs). Please see Exhibit I.SEC.1, Attachment 1 for a cost breakdown and variance
analysis by Central Function.
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In addition, Enbridge Gas has made the following corrections in evidence so that the
characterization of Central Functions Cost Allocations and CSS are consistent with
the upcoming rebasing filing. See Attachment 1 for details of the changes below.
Change #1:
The CFCAM changed in 2021 so that costs are now allocated prior to capitalization
(gross). Before 2021, costs were pulled into the CFCAM net of capitalization. The
evidence has been updated using the gross model as it will apply to all results
leading up to the test year in the rebasing case. The increase to Compensation and
Benefits line (Line 1) is offset by the increase in Capitalization on Non-CSS
(Line 17), a negative value, resulting in no impact to total O&M or capitalization.
Change #2:
Subsequent to the initial filing and evidence update dated June 17th, 2022, Enbridge
Gas identified a further misclassification for amounts relating to the amortization of
pre-2017 pension costs for the Union rate zone. These amounts have been reevaluated and should not be included in CSS costs, but classified to compensation
and benefits applicable to the business unit.
This change reduces CSS costs (Line 13) and increases Compensation and
Benefits (Line 1). There is no impact to total O&M or capitalization.
The restated table has been updated in evidence.
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Table 1
UTILITY O&M
19-21 ACTUALS

Line No. Expense Categories
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18

Compensation and Benefits
Employee Related Services and Development
Materials and Supplies
Outside Services
Transportation Related Repairs and Maintenance
Vehicle Related Repairs and Maintenance
Rents and Leases
Telecommunications
Travel and Entertainment
Donations and Memberships
Admin Expenses
Allocations & Recoveries
Corporate Shared Services (CSS)
DSM
Integration-Related Costs
Miscellaneous Expense
Capitalization on Non-CSS
O&M Subtotal before Eliminations

19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Original

Revised

Original

Revised

Original

Revised

2019
Actual
($M)

2019R
Actual
($M)

2020
Actual
($M)

2020R
Actual
($M)

2021
Actual
($M)

2021R
Actual
($M)

$ Change

393.6
0.9
39.5
242.2
5.5
18.5
10.3
0.2
9.1
10.1
(1.8)
(30.3)
190.9
133.0
48.9
9.8
(143.3)
937.1

442.4
0.9
39.5
242.2
5.5
18.5
10.3
0.2
9.1
10.1
(1.8)
(30.3)
175.1
133.0
48.9
9.8
(176.2)
937.1

(48.7)

Donations
CDM Program
ABC T-service Program
Other Eliminations
Unregulated Adjustments
Total Unregulated/Non-Utility Eliminations

(3.0)
0.2
(0.3)
(0.1)
(19.5)
(22.6)

(3.0)
0.2
(0.3)
(0.1)
(19.5)
(22.6)

(0.6)
0.1
(0.2)
0.0
(16.6)
(17.3)

Total Net Utility O&M Expense

914.5

914.5

948.5

15.8

32.9
0.0

354.7
1.5
29.9
220.8
6.9
14.3
9.9
0.3
3.1
3.2
(1.6)
(17.8)
187.8
132.3
125.2
14.7
(119.5)
965.7

405.8
1.5
29.9
220.8
6.9
14.3
9.9
0.3
3.1
3.2
(1.6)
(17.8)
175.6
132.3
125.2
14.7
(158.4)
965.7
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
965.7

$ Change
(51.2)

12.3

38.9
0.0

369.8
1.5
32.5
232.1
5.7
19.8
11.1
0.2
3.7
11.3
(4.1)
(16.5)
218.1
132.1
49.8
9.8
(138.2)
938.7

404.3
1.5
32.5
232.1
5.7
19.8
11.1
0.2
3.7
11.3
(4.1)
(16.5)
218.1
132.1
49.8
9.8
(172.7)
938.7

(3.6)
0.0
(0.3)
(0.1)
(18.5)
(22.5)

(3.6)
0.0
(0.3)
(0.1)
(14.1)
(18.1)

916.2

920.6

$ Change
(34.5)

34.5
0.0

Original

Revised

2020-21
$ change

2020-21
$ change

Original

2020-21
% change

Revised

2020-21
% change

15.1
(0.0)
2.6
11.3
(1.2)
5.5
1.2
(0.1)
0.6
8.1
(2.5)

(1.5)
(0.0)
2.6
11.3
(1.2)
5.5
1.2
(0.1)
0.6
8.2
(2.5)

4.3%
-2.0%
8.6%
5.1%
-17.8%
38.1%
11.7%
-35.1%
20.1%
258.1%
162.1%

-0.4%
-2.0%
8.6%
5.1%
-17.8%
38.1%
11.7%
-35.1%
20.1%
258.1%
162.1%

1.3
30.3
(0.2)
(75.4)
(4.9)
(18.7)
(27.0)

1.3
42.6
(0.2)
(75.3)
(4.9)
(14.4)
(27.0)

-7.1%
16.1%
-0.1%
-60.2%
-33.4%
15.7%
-2.8%

-7.1%
24.3%
-0.1%
-60.2%
-33.4%
9.1%
-2.8%

(3.0)
(0.1)
(0.1)
(0.1)
(1.9)
(5.3)

465.1%
-100.0%
76.3%

(32.3)

-3.4%

11.6%
-23.8%

Filed: 2022-09-02
EB-2022-0110
Exhibit I.FRPO.5
Attachment 1
Page 2 of 3

Table 2

Total Overhead Capitalization Impact on O&M

Line No.

Categories

Original

Revised

Original

Revised

Original

Revised

Original

Revised

2019
Actual
($M)

2019R
Actual
($M)

2020
Actual
($M)

2020R
Actual
($M)

2021
Actual
($M)

2021R
Actual
($M)

2021-2020
Variance
($M)

2021-2020
Variance
($M)

$ Change

$ Change

$ Change

1

CSS-related Capitalization

(96.6)

(63.7)

32.9

(105.0)

(65.9)

(39.1)

(96.7)

(61.6)

(35.1)

2

Capitalization on Non-CSS

(143.3)

(176.2)

(32.9)

(119.5)

(158.4)

38.9

(138.2)

(172.7)

34.5

3

Total Overhead Capitalization

(239.9)

(239.9)

(224.5)

(224.3)

(0.2)

(234.9)

(234.3)

(0.6)

-

8.3

4.4

(18.7)

(14.4)

(10.4)

(10.0)
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Table 3
CF Cost Allocations and CSS

Categories

CF Cost Allocations
Less: Capitalization of CSS
Net CSS

Original

Revised

2019

2019R

287.5
(96.6)
190.9

238.7
(63.7)
175.1

$ Change

48.7
(32.9)
15.8

Original

Revised

2020

2020R

292.8
(105.0)
187.8

241.5
(65.9)
175.6

$ Change

51.4
(39.1)
12.3

Original

Revised

2021

2021R

314.8
(96.7)
218.1

279.7
(61.6)
218.1

$ Change

35.1
(35.1)
0.0

Original

Revised

2020-2021
Variance

2020-2021
Variance

22.0
8.3
30.3

38.2
4.4
42.6
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit B, Tab 3, Schedule 1, Tables and Appendix
Preamble:
We would like to understand the changes in O&M as the relate to integration including
Corporate Shared Services and EGI’s request to eliminate Appendix A.
Question(s):
For line 10, please provide a breakout of all organizational memberships and their
respective costs in 2019 through 2021.
a) Please provide the value to ratepayers associated with the memberships included
b) Please explain the fluctuations in those membership costs
Response:
Enbridge Gas is a member of a number of organizations representing various
stakeholders within the industry. Total membership costs amounted to $3.8 million in
2019, $2.8 million in 2020, and $2.6 million in 2021. A partial listing of membership
affiliations is provided below:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Canadian Gas Association
Ontario Energy Association
The Toronto Region Board of Trade
Ontario Chamber of Commerce
Energy Storage Canada
Hydrogen Council
Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters
Association of Energy Services
Ontario Sustainable Energy Association
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•
•
•
•
•
•

Ontario Waste Management
Association of Power Producers
Canadian Biogas Association
Utilization Technology Development
Consumers Council of Canada
Various Home Builders Associations

a) Participation in member-driven organizations allows Enbridge Gas to leverage
industry partners by pooling resources to efficiently act on behalf of the sector.
Representation at industry consultations, direct engagement with various levels of
government, development of industry data, and sharing of best practices from
across the industry are some examples of how leveraging membership adds value.
b) Membership costs have remained relatively flat in 2020 and 2021. The reduction in
membership costs from 2019 to 2020 was driven by productivity and integration
savings achieved by pooling services and membership fees.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit B, Tab 3, Schedule 2, Page 13
Preamble:
We would like to understand more about the respective compressor and the
Compressor and Transmission and Underground Storage projects, their function and
the allocation of costs between utility and non-utility.
Question(s):
For each of the projects listed, please provide a description of the project and an
itemized description of the function provided and the rationale for the allocation of costs.
Response:
A summary by project is listed below including the project description and function.
Costs are allocated to either regulated or unregulated operations in conjunction with
Enbridge Gas’s unregulated cost allocation methodology.
Corunna (SCOR) Meter Area Upgrade Phase 1 (IC 1811)
The meter area upgrade within the Corunna Compressor station is driven by process
safety and operational risk as a result of an outdated design for an area of the facility
that has experienced a significant change in function. As a result of the 2013 Inventory
Meter Upgrade project, which moved measurement from the Corunna Compression
Station closer to the storage pool, the Meter Area simply became flow paths connecting
Corunna Compressor Station to the associated pool pipelines. Limited cross flow
functionality is provided in the current meter area piping creating an inefficient
operational configuration to accommodate for the previous functionality. Scope of work
includes: Installation of Electrical Control building, replacement of meter run piping and
install new header cross-over and isolation valves for Ladysmith and Dow-Moore pool
lines and installation of west section of new NPS 30 A, B, C headers. Upon completion
of Phase 1 and 2, this eliminates the flow induced vibration risk associated with the
existing cross flow header. The new design eliminates thermal expansion stresses in
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piping that are exceeding allowable range as per CSA Z662. A reduction of fittings
decreases the number of potential leak points. 2021 capital expenditures were
$14 million and the project is 100% regulated.
Corunna (SCOR) Meter Area Upgrade Phase 2 (IC 500440)
The meter area upgrade within the Corunna Compressor station is driven by process
safety and operational risk as a result of an outdated design for an area of the facility
that has experienced a significant change in function. As a result of the 2013 Inventory
Meter Upgrade project, which moved measurement from the Corunna Compression
Station closer to the storage pool, the Meter Area simply became flow paths connecting
Corunna Compressor Station to the associated pool pipelines. Limited cross flow
functionality is provided in the current meter area piping creating an inefficient
operational configuration to accommodate for the previous functionality. Scope of work
includes: Replaced meter run piping and install new header cross-over and isolation
valves for the Wilkesport, South Kimball, Seckerton, Corunna and Mid Kimball pool
lines. Installed east section of new NPS 30 A, B, C headers and tie in east & west
header sections. 2021 capital expenditures were $2.2 million and the project is 100%
regulated.
SCOR: 100MODHdr Valves – Replace (IC 12957)
Operations has identified compressor station yard isolation valves that do not provide
sufficient seal quality to provide isolation during normal maintenance activities or
emergency situations. Leaking valve seals are not necessarily valves that leak to
atmosphere or pose a loss of containment threat. The valves referenced in this
investment are those that allow gas to flow, when in the closed position. If valve
condition is not maintained at a reasonable level, the ability to isolate assets during an
emergency will be compromised. Valves in question are sometimes used to separate
piping with different MOPs. If these valves are allowed to leak, there is an increased
threat of over pressuring lower MOP pipe as gas bleeds through the valve from higher
MOP pipe. Project targets all MOD valves associated with K704 & K707. There are
dozens of these valves in service. 2021 capital expenditures were $1.4M and the
project is 100% regulated.
SCOR: 60004 iBalance-Upgrade (IC 3451)
The power cylinder balancing for eight of the compressors at the Corunna Compressor
Station is performed manually compared to the current industry best practice monitoring
technology (auto-balancing). These compressors are over 50 years old. Auto-balancing
systems provide improved reliability, reduced probability of crankshaft failure, more
precise control of NOx emissions and reduced operating costs (fuel and maintenance).
Without this change reliability and NOx emissions cannot improve further. Autobalancing has the potential to provide early detection, and prevention of detonation
events. 2021 capital expenditures were $1.3 million and the project is 100% regulated.
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Wilkesport MOP Remediation (IC 101017)
The Wilkesport MOP Assessment, completed in 2019, identified that a number of
records were missing. In order to maintain the current established MOP and to address
missing records, the scope of this work includes field verifications, replacement of
specific pipe and fittings and to pressure test TW10 lateral in-place. 2021 capital
expenditures were $6.2 million and the project is 100% regulated.
NPS16 LAD-WLK Interconnect MOP (IC 502483)
Remediated issues raised in the Ladysmith MOP Verification study. Scope of work to
replace NPS 16 insulator at the Ladymisth-Wilkesport interconnect. 2021 capital
expenditures were $4.1 million and the project is 100% regulated.
LLAD: Strategic land purchases at two locations around the underground storage
facilities (IC 735640/734521)
(1) Williams Property
Acquired land in proximity to compressor stations providing additional setback and
buffer to ensure properties do not become noise sensitive and to reduce risk related to
public safety and encroachment. Property may also be purchased to support expansion
or provide ease of access.
(2) Joyce/Maitland Property
Provides additional setback and buffer from existing neighbours. Farmland will continue
to be rented out. Future development at Corunna is expected to take place to the east
of the station, thus providing additional buffer for those projects. 2021 capital
expenditures were $5 million and the project is 100% regulated.
Wilksport (LWLK) Well Debris Filter (IC 500484)
During withdrawal, debris from gas storage wells collect in the in-line separator and
build up in the valve port, preventing them from functioning as intended and restricting
gas flow. The debris is likely the tailings from the drilling of new wells and travels with
gas flow during withdrawal into the storage pipeline system. The debris build-up has
been affecting the valves at the metering station and making them non-functional. Buildup is also observed at the inline separator at the Wilkesport metering station, which is
now removed and needing a replacement. 2021 capital expenditures were $2.5 million
and the project is 100% regulated.
NPS 16 Coveny Trans. Retrofit (IC 1908)
The Integrity Management Program is a mandated regulatory requirement which has
been designed to comply with all applicable codes and standards. The project includes
installation costs for permanent in-line inspection (ILI) tool launcher and receiver
facilities, retrofits to existing lines to remove restrictive fittings or pipe configurations so
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they can be inspected with ILI tools, and replacement of pipeline segments with integrity
issues that are identified through the inspections. As a result, the installation of
permanent launcher and receiver facilities prior to the next scheduled inspection in 2022
has been completed. Installing permanent launcher and receiver facilities saves O&M
spend which would otherwise be required to install and remove temporary facilities each
inspection cycle. Permanent launcher/receiver facilities also provide a high degree of
flexibility with respect to the timing of inspections which leads to system optimization
and reduces disruption to normal pipeline operations. 2021 capital expenditures were
$2.3 million and the project is 100% regulated.
NPS 16 COV Gathering Retrofit (IC 1907)
The Integrity Management Program is a mandated regulatory requirement which has
been designed to comply with all applicable codes and standards. It includes installation
costs for permanent in-line inspection (ILI) tool launcher and receiver facilities, retrofits
to existing lines to remove restrictive fittings or pipe configurations so they can be
inspected with ILI tools, and replacement of pipeline segments with integrity issues that
are identified through the inspections. As a result, the installation of permanent launcher
and receiver facilities prior to the next scheduled inspection in 2022 has been
completed. Installing permanent launcher and receiver facilities saves O&M spend
which would otherwise be required to install and remove temporary facilities each
inspection cycle. Permanent launcher/receiver facilities also provide a high degree of
flexibility with respect to the timing of inspections which leads to system optimization
and reduces disruption to normal pipeline operations. 2021 capital expenditures were
$2.2 million and the project is 100% regulated.
Pipeline and Meter Station – Upgrade (IC 102893)
Increasing the Delta Pressure of reservoirs will result in a corresponding increase in the
pressure of the pipeline system delivering gas to the reservoir on injection. In most
cases, affected pipeline systems have traditionally operated below the qualified MOP of
the system. A formal pressure elevation of these piping systems is needed to ensure
safety operation during high end injection. Scope of work - installation of a flow control
valve at the meter station along with required air systems and insulation. This included
design, stakeholder consultations, retaining a construction contractor, prefabricating
piping, hydrotesting at shop, laying plates, isolating the system with a full station outage,
cut out of existing valves, installing supports as required, install new piping coating as
required, Non-destructive examination (NDE), energizing the system and remediating
the site. This project is part of the Storage Enhancement Delta Pressuring Phase 1 and
includes various locations. (OEB Case Number: EB-2020-0256) 2021 Capital
expenditures were $6.2 million and the project is 100% unregulated.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit D, Tab 1, Page 1
Question(s):
Please provide the EGI annual financial report for 2021.
Response:
Please see Attachment 1 to this response.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
(a subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2021
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MANAGEMENT'S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Financial Reporting
Management of Enbridge Gas Inc. (Enbridge Gas) is responsible for the accompanying consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (US GAAP) and necessarily
include amounts that reflect management's judgment and best estimates.
The Board of Directors is responsible for all aspects related to governance of Enbridge Gas. Enbridge
Gas does not have an Audit Committee, having received an exemption from such requirement.
Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. Enbridge Gas's internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures to
facilitate the preparation of relevant, reliable and timely information, to prepare consolidated financial
statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with US GAAP and to provide reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent auditors appointed by the shareholders of Enbridge Gas,
have conducted an audit of the consolidated financial statements of Enbridge Gas in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and have issued an unqualified audit report, which is
accompanying the consolidated financial statements.

/s/ Cynthia L. Hansen
Cynthia L. Hansen
President

/s/ Tanya M. Ferguson
Tanya M. Ferguson
Vice President, Finance

February 11, 2022

1
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Independent auditor’s report
To the Shareholders of Enbridge Gas Inc.

Our opinion
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Enbridge Gas Inc. (the Company) as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (US GAAP).
What we have audited
The Company’s consolidated financial statements comprise:
●

the consolidated statements of earnings for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020;

●

the consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020;

●

the consolidated statements of changes in equity for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020;

●

the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020;

●

the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2021 and 2020; and

●

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
Independence
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
PwC Tower, 18 York Street, Suite 2600, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5J 0B2
T: +1 416 863 1133, F: +1 416 365 8215
“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.
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Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the
consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with US GAAP, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
●

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

●

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

●

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

●

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to
cease to continue as a going concern.

●

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

●

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

/s/PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Ontario
February 11, 2022
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
Year ended December 31,

2021

2020

3,996
897
4,893

3,631
884
4,515

2,146
1,105
677
3,928
965
43
(394)
614
(63)
551

1,812
1,137
655
3,604
911
56
(412)
555
(58)
497

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Operating revenues
Gas commodity and distribution
Storage, transportation and other
Total operating revenues (Note 4)
Operating expenses
Gas commodity and distribution costs
Operating and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Other income
Interest expense, net (Note 10)
Earnings before income taxes
Income tax expense (Note 15)
Earnings
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended December 31,

2021

2020

551

497

21
12
22
55
606

(37)
15
(10)
(32)
465

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Earnings
Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax (Notes 12 and 13)
Change in unrealized gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges
Reclassification to earnings of loss on cash flow hedges
Actuarial gain/(loss) on other postretirement benefits (OPEB)
Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax
Comprehensive income
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended December 31,

2021

2020

3,517
975
(1,050)
3,442

3,517
800
(800)
3,517

7,253

7,253

(millions of Canadian dollars)
Common shares (Note 11)

Balance at beginning of year
Capital contribution
Return of capital
Balance at end of year
Additional paid-in capital
Balance at beginning and end of year
Deficit
Balance at beginning of year
Earnings
Common share dividends declared
Adoption of new accounting standard
Balance at end of year
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (Note 12)
Balance at beginning of year
Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax
Balance at end of year
Total equity
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(675)
551
(200)
—
(324)

(720)
497
(450)
(2)
(675)

(78)
55
(23)
10,348

(46)
(32)
(78)
10,017
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended December 31,

2021

2020

551

497

677
(15)
(24)
14
10
(473)
740

655
(25)
(31)
15
13
78
1,202

(1,308)
(72)
(1,380)

(1,109)
(76)
(1,185)

394
—
896
(375)
(200)
(1,050)
975
640
—
9
9

223
(650)
1,192
(400)
(450)
(800)
800
(85)
(68)
77
9

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Operating activities
Earnings
Adjustments to reconcile earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income tax recovery
Net defined pension and OPEB costs
Expected credit loss
Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (Note 17)
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities
Capital expenditures
Additions to intangible assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Net change in short-term borrowings
Repayment of loan from affiliate
Term note issuances, net of issue costs
Term note repayments
Common share dividends
Return of capital
Capital contribution received
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities
Net change in cash
Cash at beginning of year
Cash at end of year
Supplementary cash flow information
Cash paid/(received) for income taxes
Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized
Property, plant and equipment non-cash accruals
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(5)
374
75

66
385
20
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31,

2021

2020

9
1,228
156
897
2,290
16,662
177
2,677
4,784
26,590

9
1,161
92
659
1,921
15,866
174
2,492
4,784
25,237

1,515
1,458
113
126
3,212
9,352
2,012
1,666
16,242

1,121
1,295
134
376
2,926
8,606
2,166
1,522
15,220

3,442
7,253
(324)
(23)
10,348
26,590

3,517
7,253
(675)
(78)
10,017
25,237

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Assets
Current assets
Cash
Accounts receivable and other (Note 6)
Accounts receivable from affiliates
Gas inventory
Property, plant and equipment, net (Note 7)
Intangible assets, net (Note 8)
Deferred amounts and other assets
Goodwill
Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings (Note 10)
Accounts payable and other (Note 9)
Accounts payable to affiliates
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10)
Long-term debt (Note 10)
Other long-term liabilities
Deferred income taxes (Note 15)
Commitments and contingencies (Note 19)
Equity
Share capital (Note 11)
Common shares (522 million shares outstanding at December 31, 2021 and
2020)

Additional paid-in capital
Deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (Note 12)
Total liabilities and equity
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors:
/s/ Cynthia L. Hansen
Cynthia L. Hansen
Director

/s/ David G. Unruh
David G. Unruh
Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. BUSINESS OVERVIEW
The terms "we", "our", "us" and "Enbridge Gas" as used in these financial statements refer collectively to
Enbridge Gas Inc. and its subsidiaries unless the context suggests otherwise. Enbridge Gas is a whollyowned indirect subsidiary of Enbridge Inc. (Enbridge). Enbridge provides administrative and general
support services to us.
Enbridge Gas is a rate-regulated natural gas distribution, storage and transmission utility, serving
residential, commercial and industrial customers in Ontario.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (US GAAP). Amounts are stated in Canadian dollars unless
otherwise noted. We are permitted to use US GAAP as our primary basis of accounting for the purposes
of meeting our continuous disclosure obligations under an exemption granted by securities regulators in
Canada.
BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND USE OF ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses,
as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements.
Significant estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
include, but are not limited to: carrying values of regulatory assets and liabilities (Note 5); unbilled
revenues; estimates of revenue; expected credit losses; depreciation rates and carrying value of property,
plant and equipment (Note 7); amortization rates and carrying value of intangible assets (Note 8);
measurement of goodwill; fair value of asset retirement obligations (ARO); fair value of financial
instruments (Note 13); provisions for income taxes (Note 15); assumptions used to measure retirement
benefits and OPEB (Note 16); and commitments and contingencies (Note 19). Actual results could differ from
these estimates.
Certain comparative figures in our consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to
the current year's presentation.
REGULATION
Our utility operations within Ontario are regulated by the Ontario Energy Board (OEB). Regulatory bodies
exercise statutory authority over matters such as construction, rates and ratemaking and agreements with
customers. To recognize the economic effects of the actions of the regulator, the timing of recognition of
certain revenues and expenses in these operations may differ from that otherwise expected under US
GAAP for non-rate-regulated entities.
As a result of rate-regulated accounting, we have recognized a number of regulatory assets and liabilities.
Regulatory assets represent amounts that are expected to be recovered from customers in future periods
through rates. Regulatory liabilities represent amounts that are expected to be refunded to customers in
future periods through rates and amounts collected from customers in advance of costs being incurred.
Regulatory assets are assessed for impairment if we identify an event indicative of possible impairment.
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The recognition of regulatory assets and liabilities is based on the actions, or expected future actions, of
the regulator. The regulator’s future actions may differ from current expectations or future legislative
changes may impact the regulatory environment in which we operate. To the extent that the regulator’s
actions differ from our expectations, the timing and amount of recovery or settlement of regulatory
balances could differ significantly from those recorded. In the absence of rate regulation, we would
generally not recognize regulatory assets or liabilities and the earnings impact would be recorded in the
period the expenses are incurred or revenues are earned. We believe that the recovery of our regulatory
assets as at December 31, 2021 is probable over the periods described in Note 5 - Regulatory Matters.
With the approval of the regulator, certain operations capitalize a percentage of specified operating costs.
These operations are authorized to charge depreciation and earn a return on the net book value of such
capitalized costs in future years. In the absence of rate regulation, a portion of such operating costs would
be charged to earnings in the year incurred.
REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue from contracts with customers is generally recognized upon the fulfillment of the performance
obligations for the distribution, storage, transportation and sale of natural gas. For distribution and
transportation service arrangements, where the services are simultaneously received and consumed by
the customer, revenues are recorded based on regular meter readings and estimates of customer usage
from the last meter reading to the end of the reporting period. Estimates are based on historical
consumption patterns and heating degree days experienced. Heating degree days is a measure of
coldness that is indicative of volumetric requirements for natural gas utilized for heating purposes in our
distribution franchise areas. Revenues from storage services are recognized as the storage services are
provided.
A significant portion of our operations are subject to regulation and, accordingly, there are circumstances
where the revenues recognized do not match the amounts billed. Revenue under such circumstances is
recognized in a manner that is consistent with the underlying rate-setting mechanism as approved by the
regulator. This may give rise to regulatory deferral accounts pending disposition by decisions of the
regulator, which are accounted for under Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 980 Regulated
Operations.
PUSH-DOWN ACCOUNTING
Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. (EGD) elected to apply push-down accounting in respect of its original
acquisition by its ultimate parent, Enbridge, when it first adopted US GAAP. On the original acquisition,
the fair value adjustment was recorded by Enbridge rather than by EGD. Upon adopting push-down
accounting, the historical cost of EGD’s property, plant and equipment and related accounts were
adjusted by the remaining unamortized fair value adjustment.
We have applied push-down accounting with respect to the accounts of Union Gas Limited (Union Gas).
The carrying values of certain assets and liabilities of Union Gas transferred to EGD have been adjusted
to reflect Enbridge's historical cost as at February 27, 2017, the date upon which Enbridge acquired
common control of EGD and Union Gas.
DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING
Derivatives in Qualifying Hedging Relationships
We use derivative financial instruments to manage our exposure to changes in interest rates and foreign
exchange rates. Hedge accounting is optional and requires us to document the hedging relationship and
test the hedging item’s effectiveness in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the underlying
hedged item on an ongoing basis. We present the earnings effects of hedging items with the hedged
transaction. Derivatives in qualifying hedging relationships are categorized as cash flow hedges, fair value
hedges or net investment hedges. There were no outstanding derivative instruments relating to fair value
or net investment hedges as at December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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Cash Flow Hedges
We use cash flow hedges to manage our exposure to changes in interest rates and foreign exchange
rates related to our unregulated storage revenue. The change in the fair value of a cash flow hedging
instrument is recorded in Other comprehensive income/(loss) (OCI) and is reclassified to earnings when
the hedged item impacts earnings.
If a derivative instrument designated as a cash flow hedge ceases to be effective or is terminated, hedge
accounting is discontinued and the gain or loss at that date is deferred in OCI and recognized in earnings
concurrently with the related transaction. If an anticipated hedged transaction is no longer probable, the
gain or loss is recognized immediately in earnings. Subsequent gains and losses from derivative
instruments for which hedge accounting has been discontinued are recognized in earnings in the period in
which they occur.
Classification of Derivatives
We recognize the fair value of derivative instruments in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
as current and non-current assets or liabilities depending on the timing of settlements and the resulting
cash flows associated with the instruments. Fair value amounts related to cash flows occurring beyond
one year are classified as non-current.
Cash inflows and outflows related to derivative instruments are classified as Operating activities in the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
Balance Sheet Offset
Assets and liabilities arising from derivative instruments may be offset in the Consolidated Statements of
Financial Position when we have the legal right and intention to settle them on a net basis.
Transaction Costs
Transaction costs are incremental costs directly related to the acquisition of a financial asset or the
issuance of a financial liability. We incur transaction costs primarily from the issuance of debt and account
for these costs as a reduction to Long-term debt in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.
These costs are amortized using the effective interest rate method over the term of the related debt
instrument and are recorded in Interest expense.
INCOME TAXES
Income taxes are accounted for using the liability method. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
recorded based on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying values for accounting purposes. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using
the tax rate that is expected to apply when the temporary differences reverse. For our regulated
operations, a deferred income tax liability or asset is recognized with a corresponding regulatory asset or
liability, respectively, to the extent that taxes can be recovered through rates. Any interest and/or penalty
incurred related to tax is reflected in Income tax expense.
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS
Foreign currency transactions are those transactions whose terms are denominated in a currency other
than the currency of the primary economic environment in which Enbridge Gas or a reporting subsidiary
operates, referred to as the functional currency. Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are
translated to the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency
using the exchange rate in effect as at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses resulting from
the translation of monetary assets and liabilities are included in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings
in the period in which they arise.
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CASH
We combine cash and bank indebtedness where the corresponding bank accounts are subject to cash
pooling arrangements.
RECEIVABLES AND CURRENT EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES
Accounts receivable and other are measured at cost. For accounts receivable, a loss allowance matrix is
utilized to measure lifetime expected credit losses. The matrix contemplates historical credit losses by
age of receivables, adjusted for any forward-looking information and management expectations.
NATURAL GAS IMBALANCES
The Consolidated Statements of Financial Position include balances as a result of differences in gas
volumes received from, and delivered for, customers. As settlement of certain imbalances is in-kind,
changes in the balances do not have an effect on our Consolidated Statements of Earnings or
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. All natural gas volumes owed to or by us are valued at natural
gas market index prices as at the balance sheet dates.
GAS INVENTORY
Gas inventories primarily consist of natural gas held in storage and also include costs such as storage
injection and demand costs. Natural gas held in storage is recorded at the quarterly prices approved by
the OEB in the determination of distribution rates. The actual price of gas purchased may differ from the
OEB approved price. The difference between the approved price and the actual cost of gas purchased is
deferred as a liability for future refund, or as an asset for collection as approved by the OEB.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment is recorded at historical cost, including an allowance for interest incurred
during construction as authorized by the regulator. Expenditures for construction, expansion, major
renewals and betterments are capitalized. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred.
Expenditures for project development are capitalized if they are expected to have future benefit.
The pool method of accounting for property, plant and equipment is followed whereby similar assets with
comparable useful lives are grouped and depreciated as a pool, as approved by the regulator. When
group assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, gains and losses are generally not reflected in earnings
but are booked as an adjustment to accumulated depreciation until the last asset in the pool is disposed
of. Gains and losses on the disposal of assets not subject to the pool method of accounting, such as land,
are reflected in earnings. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is provided on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, as approved by the regulator, commencing when the
asset is placed in service. Depreciation expense includes a provision for future removal and site
restoration costs at rates approved by the regulator.
LEASES
We recognize an arrangement as a lease when a customer has the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from the use of an asset, as well as the right to direct the use of the asset. We
recognize right-of-use (ROU) assets and the related lease liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of
Financial Position for operating lease arrangements with a term of 12 months or longer. We do not
separate non-lease components of our lessee contracts and account for both components as a single
lease component. We combine lease and non-lease components within a contract for operating lessor
leases when certain conditions are met. ROU assets are assessed for impairment using the same
approach applied for other long-lived assets.
Lease liabilities and ROU assets require the use of judgment and estimates which are applied in
determining the term of a lease, appropriate discount rates, whether an arrangement contains a lease,
whether there are any indicators of impairment for ROU assets and whether any ROU assets should be
grouped with other long-lived assets for impairment testing.
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DEFERRED AMOUNTS AND OTHER ASSETS
Deferred amounts and other assets primarily consists of costs that regulatory authorities have permitted,
or are expected to permit, to be recovered through future rates, including: deferred income taxes; the fair
value adjustment to long-term debt; the difference between the actual cost and approved cost of natural
gas reflected in rates; and actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit pension plans.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets consist primarily of certain software costs. We capitalize costs incurred during the
application development stage of internal use software projects. Intangible assets are generally amortized
on a straight-line basis over their expected lives, commencing when the asset is available for use.
GOODWILL
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net identifiable assets upon
acquisition of a business. The carrying value of goodwill, which is not amortized, is assessed for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances arise that suggest the
carrying value of goodwill may be impaired. We perform our annual review of the goodwill balance on
April 1.
We have the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the
quantitative goodwill impairment test. When performing a qualitative assessment, we determine the
drivers of fair value and evaluate whether those drivers have been positively or negatively affected by
relevant events and circumstances since the last fair value assessment. Our evaluation includes, but is
not limited to, the assessment of macroeconomic trends, regulatory environments, capital accessibility,
operating income trends and industry conditions. Based on our assessment of qualitative factors, if we
determine it is more likely than not that the fair value is less than its carrying amount, a quantitative
goodwill impairment test is performed.
The quantitative goodwill impairment assessment involves determining the fair value of goodwill and
comparing that value to its carrying value. If the carrying value, including allocated goodwill, exceeds fair
value, goodwill impairment is measured at the amount by which the carrying value exceeds its fair value.
This amount should not exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. Fair value is estimated using a
discounted cash flow technique. The determination of fair value using the discounted cash flow technique
requires the use of estimates and assumptions related to discount rates, projected operating income,
terminal value growth rates, capital expenditures and working capital levels. Cash flow projections include
significant judgments and assumptions relating to revenue growth rates and expected future capital
expenditures.
IMPAIRMENT
We review the carrying values of our long-lived assets as events or changes in circumstances warrant. If
it is determined that the carrying value of an asset exceeds the undiscounted cash flows expected from
the asset, we calculate fair value based on the discounted cash flows and write the assets down to the
extent that the carrying value exceeds the fair value.
ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS
ARO associated with the retirement of long-lived assets are measured at fair value and recognized as
Other long-term liabilities in the period in which they can be reasonably determined. Fair value
approximates the cost a third party would charge to perform the tasks necessary to retire such assets and
is recognized at the present value of expected future cash flows. ARO are added to the carrying value of
the associated asset and depreciated over the asset’s useful life. The corresponding liability is accreted
over time through charges to earnings and is reduced by actual costs of decommissioning and
reclamation. Our estimates of retirement costs could change as a result of changes in cost estimates and
regulatory requirements. Currently, for the majority of our assets, it is not possible to make a reasonable
estimate of ARO due to the indeterminate timing and scope of the asset retirements.
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PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS
We provide pension benefits through defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans and OPEB,
including group health care and life insurance benefits through defined benefit OPEB plans.
Defined benefit pension obligation and net periodic benefit cost are estimated using the projected unit
credit method, which incorporates management’s best estimates of future salary levels, other cost
escalations, retirement ages of employees and other actuarial factors, including discount rates and
mortality. The OPEB benefit obligation and net periodic benefit cost are estimated using the projected unit
credit method, where benefits are attributed to years of service, taking into consideration projection of
benefit costs.
We use mortality tables issued by the Canadian Institute of Actuaries (revised in 2014) to measure the
benefit obligation of our pension plans.
We determine discount rates by reference to rates of high-quality long-term corporate bonds with
maturities that approximate the timing of future payments we anticipate making under each of the
respective plans.
Funded pension plan assets are measured at fair value. The expected return on funded pension plan
assets is determined using market-related values and assumptions on the invested asset mix consistent
with the investment policies relating to the plan assets. The market-related values reflect estimated return
on investments consistent with long-term historical averages for similar assets.
Actuarial gains and losses arise from the difference between the actual and expected rate of return on
plan assets for that period (for funded pension plans) or from changes in actuarial assumptions used to
determine the accrued benefit obligation, including discount rate, changes in headcount and salary
inflation experience.
The excess of the fair value of a plan’s assets over the fair value of a plan’s benefit obligation is
recognized as Deferred amounts and other assets in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.
The excess of the fair value of a plan’s benefit obligation over the fair value of a plan’s assets is
recognized as Accounts payable and other and Other long-term liabilities in our Consolidated Statements
of Financial Position.
Net periodic benefit cost is charged to earnings and includes:
•
•
•
•
•

cost of benefits provided in exchange for employee services rendered during the year (current
service cost);
interest cost of plan obligations;
expected return on plan assets (for funded pension plans);
amortization of prior service costs on a straight-line basis over the expected average remaining
service period of the active employee group covered by the plans; and
amortization of cumulative unrecognized net actuarial gains and losses in excess of 10% of the
greater of the accrued benefit obligation or the fair value of plan assets, over the expected average
remaining service life of the active employee group covered by the plans.

Cumulative unrecognized net actuarial gains and losses and prior service costs arising from defined
benefit OPEB plans are presented as a component of Accumulated other comprehensive loss (AOCI) in
our Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity. Any unrecognized OPEB-related actuarial gains and
losses and prior service costs and credits that arise during the period are recognized as a component of
OCI, net of tax. Cumulative unrecognized net actuarial gains and losses and prior service costs arising
from defined benefit pension plans, which have been permitted or are expected to be permitted by the
regulator, to be recovered through future rates, are presented as a component of Deferred amounts and
other assets in our Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.
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We also record regulatory adjustments to reflect the difference between certain net periodic benefit costs
for accounting purposes and net periodic benefit costs for ratemaking purposes. Offsetting regulatory
assets or liabilities are recorded to the extent net periodic benefit costs are expected to be collected from
or refunded to customers, respectively, in future rates. In the absence of rate regulation, regulatory assets
or liabilities would not be recorded and net periodic benefit costs would be charged to earnings and OCI
on an accrual basis.
For defined contribution plans, contributions made by us are expensed in the period in which the
contribution occurs.
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Liabilities for other commitments and contingencies are recognized when, after fully analyzing available
information, we determine it is either probable that an asset has been impaired, or that a liability has been
incurred, and the amount of impairment or loss can be reasonably estimated. When a range of probable
loss can be estimated, we recognize the most likely amount, or if no amount is more likely than another,
the minimum of the range of probable loss is accrued. We expense legal costs associated with loss
contingencies as such costs are incurred.

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
There were no changes in accounting policies during the year ended December 31, 2021.
ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
Accounting for Contract Assets and Liabilities from Contracts with Customers in a Business
Combination
Effective November 1, 2021, we adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2021-08 on a retrospective
basis beginning January 1, 2021. The new standard was issued in October 2021 to amend business
combination accounting specific to contract assets and contract liabilities resulting from contracts with
customers, requiring measurement in accordance with ASC 606 The ASU is also applicable to contract
assets and contract liabilities from other contracts to which ASC 606 applies, such as contract liabilities
from the sale of nonfinancial assets within the scope of ASC 610-20. The adoption of this ASU did not
have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
Accounting for Income Taxes
Effective January 1, 2021, we adopted ASU 2019-12 on a prospective basis. The new standard was
issued in December 2019 with the intent of simplifying the accounting for income taxes. The accounting
update removes certain exceptions to the general principles in ASC 740 Income Taxes as well as
provides simplification by clarifying and amending existing guidance. The adoption of this ASU did not
have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
FUTURE ACCOUNTING POLICY CHANGES
Disclosures About Government Assistance
ASU 2021-10 was issued in November 2021 to increase the transparency of government assistance to
business entities. The ASU adds new disclosure requirements for transactions with government that are
accounted for using a grant or contribution accounting model by analogy. The required disclosures include
information about the nature of transactions, accounting policy applied, impacted financial statement line
items and significant terms and conditions. ASU 2021-10 is effective January 1, 2022 and can be applied
either prospectively or retrospectively with early adoption permitted. The adoption of ASU 2021-10 is not
expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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4. REVENUES
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
Major Services
Year ended December 31,

2021

2020

2,778
1,208
156
686
71
4,899
(6)
4,893

2,560
1,077
144
681
62
4,524
(9)
4,515

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Gas commodity and distribution revenues - residential
Gas commodity and distribution revenues - commercial and industrial
Storage revenue
Transportation revenue
Other revenues
Total revenue from contracts with customers
Other1
Total revenues
1 Primarily relates to the effects of rate-regulated accounting.

We disaggregate revenues into categories which represent our principal performance obligations. These
revenue categories also represent the most significant revenue streams, and consequently are
considered to be the most relevant revenue information for management to consider in evaluating
performance.
Contract Balances
Receivables

Contract
Liabilities

824
738

17
—

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Balance as at December 31, 2021
Balance as at December 31, 2020

Receivables represent an unconditional right to consideration where only the passage of time is required
before payment of consideration is due, and consist of trade accounts receivable, unbilled revenue and
other accrued receivable balances. Receivables also consist of trade accounts receivable and unbilled
revenue balances for the collection of certain federal carbon levy unit rates, for which we act as an agent.
Contract liabilities represent payments received for performance obligations which have not been fulfilled
under our equal monthly payment plan. The increase in contract liabilities from cash received, net of
amounts recognized as revenues during the year ended December 31, 2021, was $17 million.
Performance Obligations
Revenue category
Gas commodity and distribution revenue
Storage and transportation revenue
Other revenue

Nature of Performance Obligation
• Supply and delivery of natural gas to customers
• Storage and transportation of natural gas on behalf
of customers
• Other billing and service fees

We recognized a reduction of revenue of $15 million during the year ended December 31, 2021 from
performance obligations satisfied in previous periods, primarily resulting from differences in actual and
estimated consumption. The associated reduction in gas commodity and distribution costs was also
recognized in the current year.
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Payment Terms
Payments from distribution customers are received on a continuous basis based on established billing
cycles. Our policy requires that customers settle their billings in accordance with the payment terms listed
on their bill, which is generally within 20 days. Payments from storage customers are received monthly
under long-term storage capacity contracts. Payments from transportation customers are received on a
continuous basis based on established billing cycles or monthly under long-term transportation capacity
contracts.
Revenue to be Recognized from Unfulfilled Performance Obligations
Total revenue from performance obligations expected to be fulfilled in future periods is $602 million, of
which $309 million is expected to be recognized during the year ending December 31, 2022.
The performance obligations above reflect revenues expected to be recognized in future periods from
unfulfilled performance obligations pursuant to contracts with customers for the purchase of natural gas
distribution, storage and transportation services. Certain revenues are excluded from the amounts above
under the following ASC 606 optional exemptions:
•
•

revenues, such as flow-through costs charged to customers, which are recognized at the amount
for which we have the right to invoice our customers; and
revenue from contracts with customers that have an original expected duration of one year or
less.

Variable consideration is also excluded from the amounts above due to the uncertainty of the associated
consideration, which is generally resolved when actual volumes and prices are determined. For example,
we consider interruptible transportation service revenues to be variable revenues since volumes cannot
be reasonably estimated.
A significant portion of our operations are subject to regulation. Accordingly, the amounts above, in
addition to revenues that are not regulated, only include revenue for which the underlying rate has been
approved by regulation, where applicable. The revenues excluded from the amounts above could
represent a significant portion of our overall revenues and revenue from contracts with customers.
SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS MADE IN RECOGNIZING REVENUE
Revenue Recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers is generally recognized upon the fulfillment of the performance
obligations as described above. Distribution and transportation service revenues are recorded on the
basis of regular meter readings and estimates of customer usage from the last meter reading to the end
of the reporting period. Estimates are based on historical consumption patterns and heating degree days
experienced. Heating degree days is a measure of coldness that is indicative of volumetric requirements
for natural gas utilized for heating purposes in our distribution franchise areas.
Due to regulatory mechanisms, there are circumstances where revenues recognized do not match the
amounts billed. Under such circumstances, revenue is recognized in a manner that is consistent with the
underlying rate setting mechanism as approved by the regulator. This may give rise to regulatory deferral
accounts pending disposition by decisions of the regulator.
Recognition and Measurement of Revenues
Year ended December 31,
(millions of Canadian dollars)

Revenue from products and services transferred over time1
Revenue from products transferred at a point in time2
Total revenue from contracts with customers
1 Revenue from distribution, storage and transportation services.
2 Primarily from Other revenues.
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Performance Obligations Satisfied Over Time
For arrangements involving the distribution and transportation of natural gas, where the services are
simultaneously received and consumed by the customer, we recognize revenue over time using an output
method based on volumes of commodities delivered. The measurement of the volumes delivered
corresponds directly to the benefits received by the customers during that period. Revenue from storage
services are recognized as the services are provided.
Determination of Transaction Prices
Prices for distribution and transportation services and regulated storage services are prescribed by
regulation. Fees for unregulated storage services are determined through negotiations with customers
and are based on market rates.
Prices for natural gas sold are driven by market prices and the Quarterly Rate Adjustment Mechanism
(QRAM) in place that allows for rates to reflect changes in natural gas prices, subject to regulatory
approval.

5. REGULATORY MATTERS
We record assets and liabilities that result from regulated ratemaking processes that would not be
recorded under US GAAP for non-regulated entities. See Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies for
further discussion.
We are regulated by the OEB pursuant to the provisions of the Ontario Energy Board Act, (1998), which is
part of a package of legislation known as the Energy Competition Act, (1998). This legislation provides for
different forms of regulation and competition in the energy (electricity and natural gas) industry in Ontario.
RATE APPROVALS
Our distribution rates, commencing in 2019, are set under a five-year Incentive Regulation (IR) framework
using a price cap mechanism. The price cap mechanism establishes new rates each year through an
annual base rate escalation at inflation less a 0.3% stretch factor, annual updates for certain costs to be
passed through to customers, and where applicable, the recovery of material discrete incremental capital
investments beyond those that can be funded through base rates. The IR framework includes the
continuation and establishment of certain deferral and variance accounts, as well as an earnings sharing
mechanism that requires us to share equally with customers any earnings in excess of 150 basis points
over the annual OEB approved return on equity.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT EFFECTS
Accounting for rate-regulated activities has resulted in the recognition of the following regulatory assets
and liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position:
December 31,

Recovery/Refund
Period Ends

2021

2020

15
67
82

—
117
117

2022
2022

1,532
307
215
157
49
26
91
2,377
2,459

1,393
334
—
169
53
342
34
2,325
2,442

Various
2023-2046
2023
Various
2032
Various
Various

—
61
61

153
73
226

2021
2022

1,543
17
94
1,654
1,715

1,455
43
45
1,543
1,769

Various
Various
Various

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Current regulatory assets
Purchase gas variance1
Other current regulatory assets
Total current regulatory assets2 (Note 6)
Long-term regulatory assets
Deferred income taxes3
Long-term debt4 (Note 10)
Purchase gas variance1
Accounting policy changes5
Transition impact of accounting changes6
Pension plan receivable7
Other long-term regulatory assets
Total long-term regulatory assets2
Total regulatory assets
Current regulatory liabilities
Purchase gas variance1
Other current regulatory liabilities
Total current regulatory liabilities8 (Note 9)
Long-term regulatory liabilities
Future removal and site restoration reserves9
Accelerated capital cost allowance
Other long-term regulatory liabilities
Total long-term regulatory liabilities8
Total regulatory liabilities

1 Represents the difference between the actual cost and the approved cost of natural gas reflected in rates. We have been granted
OEB approval to refund this balance to, or collect this balance from, customers on a rolling 12 month basis as part of the QRAM
process. As part of the January 1, 2022 QRAM application, the recovery of certain balances have been deferred into 2023.
2 Current regulatory assets are included in Accounts receivable and other, while long-term regulatory assets are included in
Deferred amounts and other assets.
3 Represents the regulatory offset to deferred income tax liabilities to the extent that it is expected to be included in future regulatorapproved rates and recovered from customers. The recovery period depends on the timing of the reversal of temporary
differences. In the absence of rate-regulated accounting, this regulatory balance and the related earnings impact would not be
recorded.
4 Represents our regulatory offset to the fair value adjustment to debt acquired in Enbridge's merger with Spectra Energy Corp.
(Spectra Energy) and pushed down to Enbridge Gas. The offset is viewed as a proxy for the regulatory asset that would be
recorded in the event such debt was extinguished at an amount higher than the carrying value.
5 This deferral reflects unamortized accumulated actuarial gains/losses and past service costs incurred by Union Gas, relating to
the period up to Enbridge's merger with Spectra Energy, which were previously recorded in AOCI. The amortization of this
balance is recognized as a component of accrual-based pension expenses, which are included in Other income and recovered in
rates, as previously approved by the OEB.
6 Represents our right to recover costs resulting from the adoption of the accrual basis of accounting for pension and OPEB costs
upon transition to US GAAP in 2012. Pursuant to the OEB rate order, the balance as at December 31, 2012 is to be collected in
rates over a 20 year period, commencing in 2013.
7 Represents the regulatory offset to our pension liability to the extent that it is expected to be included in regulator-approved future
rates and recovered from customers. The settlement period for this balance is not determinable. In the absence of rate-regulated
accounting, this regulatory balance and the related pension expense would be recorded in earnings and OCI.
8 Current regulatory liabilities are included in Accounts payable and other, while long-term regulatory liabilities are included in Other
long-term liabilities.
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9 Future removal and site restoration reserves consists of amounts collected from customers, with the approval of the OEB, to fund
future costs of removal and site restoration relating to property, plant and equipment. These costs are collected as part of the
depreciation expense charged on property, plant and equipment that is reflected in rates. The settlement of this balance will occur
over the long-term as costs are incurred. In the absence of rate-regulated accounting, depreciation rates would not include a
charge for removal and site restoration and costs would be charged to earnings as incurred with recognition of revenue for
amounts previously collected.

OTHER ITEMS AFFECTED BY RATE REGULATION
Gas Inventories
Natural gas held in storage is recorded in inventory at the reference prices approved by the OEB in the
determination of customers' system supply rates. Included in Gas inventory as at December 31, 2021 is
$61 million (2020 - $60 million) related to storage injection and demand costs. Consistent with the
regulatory recovery pattern, these costs are recorded in gas inventories during our off-peak months and
charged to gas costs during the peak winter months. In the absence of rate-regulated accounting, these
costs would be expensed as incurred, and inventory would be recorded at the lower of cost or market
value.

6. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER
December 31,
(millions of Canadian dollars)

Trade receivables and unbilled revenues, net1
Regulatory assets (Note 5)
Gas imbalances
Rebillables receivable
Other

2021

2020

953
82
101
45
47
1,228

855
117
54
76
59
1,161

1 Net of allowance for expected credit losses of $55 million as at December 31, 2021 (2020 - $45 million).
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
December 31,

Weighted Average
Depreciation Rate

2021

2020

2.5%
2.6%
4.1%
2.7%
0.9%

1,854
13,354
3,361
1,065
375

1,752
12,580
3,246
950
361

8.4%
—%

453
263
20,725
(4,464)
16,261

434
177
19,500
(4,036)
15,464

10.2%
1.3%
3.0%
1.5%
—%

13
42
374
38
37
504
(103)
401
16,662

13
41
365
37
30
486
(84)
402
15,866

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Regulated property, plant and equipment
Gas transmission
Gas mains, services and other
Compressors, meters and other operating equipment
Storage
Land and right-of-way1
Vehicles, office furniture, equipment and other buildings
and improvements
Under construction
Accumulated depreciation
Unregulated property, plant and equipment
Gas mains, services and other
Compressors, meters and other operating equipment
Storage
Land and right-of-way1
Under construction
Accumulated depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, net
1 The measurement of weighted average depreciation rate excludes non-depreciable assets.

Depreciation expense, including amounts collected for future removal and site restoration costs, was
$606 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 (2020 - $583 million).
Included within depreciation expense is $22 million in incremental depreciation resulting from push-down
accounting for the year ended December 31, 2021 (2020 - $22 million) (Note 2).

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
December 31,

2021

2020

515
(338)
177

654
(480)
174

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Software and Customer Information System1
Less: Accumulated amortization
Intangible assets, net

1 The weighted average amortization rate for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was 12.8% and 11.8%, respectively.

Intangible assets include $26 million of work-in-progress as at December 31, 2021 (2020 - $35 million).
Amortization expense for intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was
$71 million and $72 million, respectively. The following table presents our expected amortization expense
associated with existing intangible assets for the years indicated as follows:
(millions of Canadian dollars)

Forecast of amortization expense

2022

2023

2024

2025

2026

54

25

20

20

19
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9. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER
December 31,

2021

2020

638
242
124
99
88
87
61
119
1,458

491
194
54
47
73
81
226
129
1,295

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Trade payables and operating accrued liabilities
Federal carbon program liability
Gas imbalances
Taxes payable
Construction payables and contractor holdbacks
Interest payable
Regulatory liabilities (Note 5)
Other

10. DEBT
Weighted Average
Interest Rate3

December 31,

Maturity

2021

2020

3.8% 2022-2051
9.1% 2024-2025
0.5%
2023

9,010
210
1,515
(49)
307
10,993
(126)
(1,515)
9,352

8,485
210
1,121
(47)
334
10,103
(376)
(1,121)
8,606

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Medium-term notes
Debentures
Commercial paper and credit facility draws
Other1
Fair value adjustment from push down accounting (Note 2)
Total debt
Current maturities
Short-term borrowings2
Long-term debt

1 Primarily unamortized discounts, premiums and debt issuance costs.
2 Weighted average interest rate - 0.5% (2020 - 0.3%).
3 Calculated based on term notes, debentures, commercial paper and credit facility draws outstanding as at December 31, 2021.

As at December 31, 2021, all outstanding debt was unsecured.
CREDIT FACILITIES
We actively manage our bank funding sources to ensure adequate liquidity and to optimize pricing and
other terms. The following table provides details of our external credit facility at December 31, 2021:
Maturity

Total
Facility

Draws2

2,000

1,515

Available

(millions of Canadian dollars)

364 day extendible credit facility

20231

485

1 Maturity date is inclusive of the one-year term out provision.
2 Includes facility draws and commercial paper issuances, net of discount, that are back-stopped by the credit facility.

On July 23, 2021, we extended the term out date of our 364 day extendible credit facility to July 22, 2022,
with a maturity date of July 22, 2023.
The credit facility carries a standby fee of 0.1% on the unused portion and the draws bear interest at
market rates.
As at December 31, 2021, we have access to Enbridge's demand letter of credit facilities totaling $1.0
billion (2020 - $495 million). As at December 31, 2021, $15 million (2020 - $14 million) of letters of credit
were issued by us.
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LONG-TERM DEBT ISSUANCES
During the year ended December 31, 2021, we completed the following long-term debt issuances totaling
$900 million:
Principal
Amount

Issue Date
(millions of Canadian dollars)

September 2021 2.35% medium-term notes due September 2031
September 2021 3.20% medium-term notes due September 2051

$475
$425

LONG-TERM DEBT REPAYMENT
During the year ended December 31, 2021, we completed the following long-term debt repayment totaling
$375 million:
Principal
Repayment Date
Amount
(millions of Canadian dollars)

May 2021
December 2021

2.76% medium-term notes
4.77% medium-term notes

$200
$175

DEBT COVENANTS
Our credit facility agreement and term debt indentures include standard events of default and covenant
provisions whereby accelerated repayment and/or terminations of the agreements may result if we were
to default on payment or violate certain covenants. We were in compliance with all terms and conditions
of our committed credit facility agreement and our Trust Indenture as at December 31, 2021.
INTEREST EXPENSE
Year ended December 31,

2021

2020

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Debentures and term notes
Commercial paper and credit facility draws
Interest on loans from affiliate
Other interest and finance costs
Capitalized interest

378
5
—
18
(7)
394

380
17
6
14
(5)
412

11. SHARE CAPITAL
As at December 31, 2021, our authorized share capital consisted of an unlimited number of common
shares with no par value and an unlimited number of preference shares. Our Class A and Class B
common shares are held by Enbridge Energy Distribution Inc. and Great Lakes Basin Energy LP,
respectively. Both classes of common shares are identical in every respect, and dividends cannot be paid
to one class without paying dividends to the other. As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, no preference
shares were issued and outstanding.
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COMMON SHARES
2021
Number
of shares
Amount

December 31,

2020
Number
of shares
Amount

(millions of Canadian dollars; number of shares in millions)

Class A
Balance at beginning of year
Capital contribution
Return of capital
Class B
Balance at beginning of year
Capital contribution
Return of capital
Balance at end of year

282
—
—
282

2,636
527
(567)
2,596

282
—
—
282

2,636
432
(432)
2,636

240
—
—
240
522

881
448
(483)
846
3,442

240
—
—
240
522

881
368
(368)
881
3,517

The capital contribution and return of capital transactions to the stated capital of Class A and Class B
common shares had no impact on the total shares outstanding.

12. COMPONENTS OF AOCI
Changes in AOCI for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:
2021
Cash Flow
OPEB
Hedges Adjustment

Total

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Balance at January 1, 2021
Other comprehensive income retained in AOCI
Other comprehensive loss reclassified to earnings
Tax impact
Income tax on amounts retained in AOCI
Income tax on amounts reclassified to earnings
Balance at December 31, 2021

(64)
29
17
(18)

(14)
31
—
17

(78)
60
17
(1)

(8)
(5)
(13)
(31)

(9)
—
(9)
8

(17)
(5)
(22)
(23)

2020
Cash Flow
OPEB
Hedges Adjustment

Total

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Balance at January 1, 2020
Other comprehensive loss retained in AOCI
Other comprehensive loss reclassified to earnings
Tax impact
Income tax on amounts retained in AOCI
Income tax on amounts reclassified to earnings
Balance at December 31, 2020

25

(42)
(49)
17
(74)

(4)
(13)
—
(17)

(46)
(62)
17
(91)

12
(2)
10
(64)

3
—
3
(14)

15
(2)
13
(78)
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13. RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
MARKET RISK
Our earnings, cash flows and other OCI are subject to movements in natural gas prices, foreign exchange
rates and interest rates (collectively, market risk). Portions of these risks are borne by customers through
certain regulatory mechanisms. Formal risk management policies, processes and systems have been
designed to mitigate these risks.
The following summarizes the types of market risks to which we are exposed and the risk management
instruments used to mitigate them. We use a combination of qualifying and non-qualifying derivative
instruments to manage the risks noted below.
Natural Gas Price Risk
Natural gas price risk is the risk of gain or loss due to changes in the market price of natural gas. In
compliance with the directive of the OEB, fluctuations in natural gas prices are borne by our customers.
The difference between the actual cost of natural gas purchased and the price approved by the OEB is
deferred as a receivable from, or payable to, customers until it is approved for collection or refund. We
have a quarterly rate adjustment mechanism in place that allows for the quarterly adjustment of rates to
reflect changes in natural gas prices, and for the establishment of rate riders required to collect or refund
gas cost variances. Adjustments are subject to OEB approval.
Foreign Exchange Risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk of gain or loss due to the volatility of currency exchange rates. We
generate certain revenues, incur expenses and hold cash balances that are denominated in United States
dollars (USD). As a result, our earnings, cash flows and OCI are exposed to fluctuations resulting from
USD exchange rate variability.
We have implemented a policy to hedge a portion of our USD denominated unregulated storage revenue
exposures. Qualifying derivative instruments are used to hedge anticipated USD denominated revenues
and to manage variability in cash flows.
A portion of our natural gas purchases are denominated in USD and, as a result, there is exposure to
fluctuations in the exchange rate of the USD against the Canadian dollar. Realized foreign exchange
gains and losses relating to natural gas purchases are passed on to customers, therefore, we have no net
exposure to movements in the foreign exchange rate on natural gas purchases.
Interest Rate Risk
Our earnings and cash flows are exposed to short-term interest rate variability due to the regular repricing
of our variable rate debt, primarily commercial paper. Pay fixed-receive floating interest rate swaps are
used to hedge against the effect of future interest rate movements. Current floating-to-fixed interest rate
swaps with an average swap rate of 2.3% expire in January 2022.
Our earnings and cash flows are also exposed to variability in longer term interest rates ahead of
anticipated fixed rate debt issuances. Forward starting interest rate swaps are used to hedge against the
effect of future interest rate movements. We have implemented a program to mitigate our exposure to
long-term interest rate variability on select forecast term debt issuances via execution of floating-to-fixed
interest rate swaps with an average swap rate of 1.4%
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TOTAL DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
The following table summarizes the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position location and carrying
value of our derivative instruments.
We generally have a common practice of entering into individual International Swaps and Derivatives
Association, Inc. agreements, or other similar derivative agreements, with the majority of our derivative
counterparties. These agreements provide for the net settlement of derivative instruments outstanding
with specific counterparties in the event of bankruptcy or other significant credit event, and would reduce
our credit risk exposure on derivative asset positions outstanding with these counterparties in those
particular circumstances. The following table also summarizes the maximum potential settlement amount
in the event of those specific circumstances. All amounts are presented gross in the Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position.

December 31, 2021

Derivative
Total Gross
Instruments Non-Qualifying
Derivative
Used as Cash
Derivative Instruments as
Flow Hedges
Instruments
Presented

Amounts
Available for
Offset

Total Net
Derivative
Instruments

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Deferred amounts and other assets
Interest rate contracts
Accounts payable to affiliates
Interest rate contracts
Total net derivative asset
Interest rate contracts

December 31, 2020

14
14

—
—

14
14

—
—

14
14

12
12

—
—

12
12

—
—

12
12

26
26

—
—

26
26

—
—

26
26

Derivative
Total Gross
Instruments Non-Qualifying
Derivative
Used as Cash
Derivative Instruments as
Flow Hedges
Instruments
Presented

Amounts
Available for
Offset

Total Net
Derivative
Instruments

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Deferred amounts and other assets
Interest rate contracts
Accounts payable to affiliates
Interest rate contracts
Other long-term liabilities
Interest rate contracts
Total net derivative liability
Interest rate contracts

8
8

—
—

8
8

(1)
(1)

7
7

(43)
(43)

—
—

(43)
(43)

—
—

(43)
(43)

(1)
(1)

—
—

(1)
(1)

1
1

—
—

(36)
(36)

—
—

(36)
(36)

—
—

(36)
(36)
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The following table summarizes the maturity and notional principal or quantity outstanding related to our
derivative instruments.
December 31, 2021
Foreign exchange contracts - United
States dollar forwards - sell (millions of
USD)

Interest rate contracts - short-term
borrowings (millions of Canadian dollars)
Interest rate contracts - long-term debt
(millions of Canadian dollars)

2022

2023

2024

2025

2026

Thereafter

Total

1

—

—

—

—

—

1

18

—

—

—

—

—

18

200

200

—

—

—

—

400

The Effect of Derivative Instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and
Comprehensive Income
The following table presents the effect of cash flow hedges on our consolidated earnings and
comprehensive income, before the effect of income taxes.
Year ended December 31,

2021

2020

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Amount of unrealized gain/(loss) recognized in OCI
Interest rate contracts
Amount of loss reclassified from AOCI to earnings
Interest rate contracts1

29
29

(49)
(49)

17
17

17
17

1 Reported within Interest expense, net in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

We estimate that a gain of $1 million of AOCI related to unrealized cash flow hedges will be reclassified to
earnings in the next 12 months. Actual amounts reclassified to earnings depend on the interest and
foreign exchange rates in effect when derivative contracts, that are currently outstanding, mature. For all
forecasted transactions, the maximum term over which we are hedging exposures to the variability of
cash flows is 24 months as at December 31, 2021.
LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk that we will not be able to meet our financial obligations, including commitments,
as they become due. In order to manage this risk, we forecast cash requirements over a 12-month rolling
time period to determine whether sufficient funds will be available. Our primary sources of liquidity and
capital resources are funds generated from operations, the issuance of commercial paper, draws under
the committed credit facility and long-term debt, which includes debentures and medium-term notes and,
if necessary, additional liquidity is available through intercompany transactions with our ultimate parent,
Enbridge, and other related entities. These sources are expected to be sufficient to enable us to fund all
anticipated requirements. We maintain a current medium-term note shelf prospectus with securities
regulators, which enables ready access to the Canadian public capital markets, subject to market
conditions. We also maintain a committed credit facility with a diversified group of banks and institutions.
We were in compliance with all of the terms and conditions of our committed credit facility as at
December 31, 2021. As a result, the credit facility is available to us and the banks are obligated to fund us
under the terms of the facility.
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CREDIT RISK
Credit risk arises from the possibility that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations. We are
primarily exposed to credit risk from accounts receivable and derivative financial instruments. Exposure to
credit risk is mitigated by our large and diversified customer base and the ability to recover an estimate for
expected credit losses for utility operations through the rate-making process. We actively monitor the
financial strength of large industrial customers and, in select cases, have obtained additional security to
minimize the risk of default of receivables. Generally, we classify receivables older than 20 days as past
due. The maximum exposure to credit risk related to non-derivative financial assets is their carrying value.
Our policy requires that customers settle their billings in accordance with the payment terms listed on their
bill, which generally require payment in full within 20 days. A provision for credit and recovery risk
associated with accounts receivable has been made through the expected credit loss, which totaled $55
million as at December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020 - $45 million).
Our expected credit loss is determined based on historical credit losses by age of receivables, adjusted
for any forward-looking information and management expectations, using a loss allowance matrix. This
estimate is revised each reporting period to reflect current expectations. When we have determined that
collection efforts are unlikely to be successful, amounts charged to the expected credit loss account are
applied against the impaired accounts receivable.
Entering into derivative financial instruments may also result in exposure to credit risk. We enter into risk
management transactions primarily with institutions that possess investment grade credit ratings. Credit
risk relating to derivative counterparties is mitigated by credit exposure limits and contractual
requirements, frequent assessment of counterparty credit ratings and netting arrangements. As at
December 31, 2021, we have $26 million (December 31, 2020 - $8 million) in credit concentrations and
credit exposure with Enbridge and its affiliates.
Derivative assets are adjusted for non-performance risk of our counterparties using their credit default
swap spread rates and are reflected in the fair value. For derivative liabilities, our non-performance risk is
considered in the valuation.
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Our financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis include derivative
instruments. We also disclose the fair value of other financial instruments not measured at fair value. The
fair values of financial instruments reflect our best estimates of fair value based on generally accepted
valuation techniques or models and are supported by observable market prices and rates. When such
values are not available, we use discounted cash flow analysis from applicable yield curves based on
observable market inputs to estimate fair value.
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
We categorize our derivative instruments measured at fair value into one of three different levels
depending on the observability of the inputs employed in the measurement.
Level 1
Level 1 includes derivatives measured at fair value based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets
and liabilities in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date. An active market for a
derivative is considered to be a market where transactions occur with sufficient frequency and volume to
provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. We do not have any derivative instruments classified as
Level 1.
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Level 2
Level 2 includes derivative valuations determined using directly or indirectly observable inputs other than
quoted prices included within Level 1. Derivatives in this category are valued using models or other
industry standard valuation techniques derived from observable market data. Such valuation techniques
include inputs such as quoted forward prices, time value, volatility factors and broker quotes that can be
observed or corroborated in the market for the entire duration of the derivative. Derivatives valued using
Level 2 inputs include non-exchange traded derivatives such as over-the-counter interest rate swaps, for
which observable inputs can be obtained.
Level 3
Level 3 includes derivative valuations based on inputs which are less observable, unavailable, or where
the observable data does not support a significant portion of the derivative’s fair value. Generally, Level 3
derivatives are longer dated transactions, occur in less active markets, occur at locations where pricing
information is not available, or have no binding broker quote to support a Level 2 classification. We have
developed methodologies, benchmarked against industry standards, to determine fair value for these
derivatives based on extrapolation of observable future prices and rates. We do not have any derivative
instruments classified as Level 3.
We use the most observable inputs available to estimate the fair value of our derivatives. When possible,
we estimate the fair value of our derivatives based on quoted market prices. If quoted market prices are
not available, we use estimates from third party brokers. For non-exchange traded derivatives classified in
Levels 2 and 3, we use standard valuation techniques to calculate the estimated fair value, including
discounted cash flows for forwards and swaps. Depending on the type of derivative and the nature of the
underlying risk, we use observable market prices (interest, foreign exchange and natural gas) and
volatility as primary inputs to these valuation techniques. Finally, we consider our own credit default swap
spread, as well as the credit default swap spreads associated with our counterparties, in our estimation of
fair value.
As at December 31, 2021, we had Level 2 derivative assets with a fair value of $26 million (December 31,
2020 - $8 million) and Level 2 derivative liabilities with a fair value of nil (December 31, 2020 - $44
million).
FAIR VALUE OF OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The fair value of our long-term debt is based on quoted market prices for instruments of similar yield,
credit risk and tenor, and is classified as a Level 2 measurement. As at December 31, 2021, our long-term
debt, including the current portion, had a carrying value of $9.2 billion (December 31, 2020 - $8.7 billion)
before debt issuance costs and a fair value adjustment from push down accounting, and a fair value of
$10.4 billion (December 31, 2020 - $10.7 billion).
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities, other than derivative instruments and long-term debt,
approximate their carrying value due to the short period to maturity.

14. LEASES
LESSEE
We incur operating lease payments related to natural gas transportation, storage and real estate assets.
These lease agreements have remaining lease terms of five months to 16 years, some of which include
options to terminate at our discretion.
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, we incurred operating lease expenses of $8 million
and $9 million, respectively. Operating lease expenses are reported within Operating and administrative
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.
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For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, operating lease payments made to settle lease
liabilities were $9 million and $9 million, respectively. Operating lease payments are reported within
Operating activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
Supplemental Consolidated Statements of Financial Position Information
December 31,

2021

2020

Operating leases
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net1

49

53

Operating lease liabilities - current2
Operating lease liabilities - long-term3
Total operating lease liabilities

6
43
49

6
47
53

8 years

9 years

3.1%

3.1%

(millions of Canadian dollars, except lease term and discount rate)

Weighted average remaining lease term
Operating leases
Weighted average discount rate
Operating leases

1 Right-of-use assets are reported within Deferred amounts and other assets in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.
2 Current lease liabilities are reported within Accounts payable and other and Accounts payable to affiliates in the Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position.
3 Long-term lease liabilities are reported within Other long-term liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.

As at December 31, 2021, we have lease commitments as detailed below:
Operating leases
(millions of Canadian dollars)

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total undiscounted lease payments
Less imputed interest
Total operating lease liabilities

8
7
7
7
6
20
55
(6)
49

LESSOR
We receive revenues from operating and sales-type leases primarily related to natural gas equipment and
real estate assets. Our lease agreements have remaining lease terms of five years to 20 years as at
December 31, 2021.
As at December 31, 2021, the following table sets out future lease payments to be received under
operating lease and sales-type lease contracts where we are the lessor:
(millions of Canadian dollars)

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Future lease payments to be received

31

Operating leases

Sales-type leases

2
1
1
1
1
2
8

1
2
2
2
2
20
29
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15. INCOME TAXES
INCOME TAX RATE RECONCILIATION
Year ended December 31,

2021

2020

614
15%
92

555
15%
83

(1)
(54)
30
(4)
63
10.3%

(13)
(46)
41
(7)
58
10.5%

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Earnings before income taxes
Canadian federal statutory income tax rate
Expected federal taxes at statutory rate
Increase/(decrease) resulting from:
Provincial and state income taxes
Effects of rate-regulated accounting1
Part VI.1 tax, net of federal Part I deduction1
Other2
Income tax expense
Effective income tax rate

1 The provincial tax component of these items is included in Provincial and state income taxes above.
2 Includes miscellaneous permanent differences. These include the tax effect of items such as non-deductible meals and
entertainment and a change in prior year estimates arising from the filing of tax returns in respect of the prior year.

COMPONENTS OF PRETAX EARNINGS AND INCOME TAXES
Year ended December 31,

2021

2020

614
614

555
555

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Earnings before income taxes
Canada
Current income taxes
Canada
United States
Deferred income taxes
Canada
Income tax expense

32

78
—
78

84
(1)
83

(15)
(15)
63

(25)
(25)
58
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COMPONENTS OF DEFERRED INCOME TAXES
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of differences between
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Major components of deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
December 31,
2021
2020
(millions of Canadian dollars)

Deferred income tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
Regulatory assets
Deferrals
Pension and OPEB plans
Other
Total deferred income tax liabilities
Deferred income tax assets
Future removal and site restoration reserves
Minimum tax credits
Financial instruments
Other
Total deferred income tax assets
Net deferred income tax liabilities

(1,697)
(409)
(8)
(14)
(7)
(2,135)

(1,586)
(368)
(10)
(13)
(2)
(1,979)

413
44
12
—
469
(1,666)

391
40
24
2
457
(1,522)

Enbridge Gas is subject to taxation in Canada. The material jurisdiction in which we are subject to
potential examinations is Canada (Federal and Ontario). We are open to examination by Canadian tax
authorities for 2012 to 2021 tax years, and are currently under examination for income tax matters in
Canada for 2017 to 2018 tax years.
UNRECOGNIZED TAX BENEFITS
Year ended December 31,

2021

(millions of Canadian dollars)

34
(16)
(3)
15

Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of year
Gross decreases for tax positions of prior year
Lapses of statute of limitations
Unrecognized tax benefits at end of year

2020
39
(2)
(3)
34

The unrecognized tax benefits as at December 31, 2021, if recognized, would impact our effective income
tax rate. We do not anticipate further adjustments to the unrecognized tax benefits during the next 12
months that would have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
We recognize accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of
income taxes. Income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 included no amounts of
interest and penalties. As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, interest and penalties of nil and $1 million
have been accrued.

16. PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS
PENSION PLANS
We provide pension benefits, covering substantially all employees, through contributory and noncontributory registered defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans. We also provide nonregistered pension benefits for certain employees through supplemental non-contributory defined benefit
pension plans.
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Defined Benefit Pension Plan Benefits
Benefits payable from the defined benefit pension plans are based on each plan participant’s years of
service and final average remuneration. Some benefits are partially inflation-indexed after a plan
participant’s retirement. Our contributions are made in accordance with independent actuarial valuations.
Participant contributions to contributory defined benefit pension plans are based upon each plan
participant’s current eligible remuneration.
Defined Contribution Pension Plan Benefits
Our contributions are based on each plan participant’s current eligible remuneration. Our contributions for
some defined contribution pension plans are also based on age and years of service. Our defined
contribution pension benefit costs are equal to the amount of contributions required to be made by us.
OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
We provide non-contributory supplemental health, dental, life and health spending account benefit
coverage for certain qualifying retired employees, through unfunded defined benefit OPEB plans.
BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS, PLAN ASSETS AND FUNDED STATUS
The following table details the changes in the benefit obligation, the fair value of plan assets and the
recorded assets or liabilities for our defined benefit pension and OPEB plans:
Pension
2021
2020

December 31,

OPEB
2021

2020

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Participant contributions
Actuarial (gain)/loss1
Benefits paid
Benefit obligation at end of year2
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Employer contributions
Participant contributions
Benefits paid
Fair value of plan assets at end of year
Overfunded/(underfunded) status at end of year
Presented as follows:
Deferred amounts and other assets
Accounts payable and other
Other long-term liabilities

2,532
63
51
13
(161)
(112)
2,386

2,331
68
66
15
160
(108)
2,532

186
3
4
—
(31)
(5)
157

170
3
5
—
13
(5)
186

2,219
258
37
13
(112)
2,415
29

2,108
152
52
15
(108)
2,219
(313)

—
—
5
—
(5)
—
(157)

—
—
5
—
(5)
—
(186)

164
(3)
(132)
29

35
(3)
(345)
(313)

—
(7)
(150)
(157)

—
(7)
(179)
(186)

1 Primarily due to increase in the discount rate used to measure the benefit obligations (2020 - primarily due to decrease in the
discount rate used to measure the benefit obligations).
2 For pension plans, the benefit obligation is the projected benefit obligation. For OPEB plans, the benefit obligation is the
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation. The accumulated benefit obligation for our pension plans was $2.2 billion and
$2.4 billion as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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Certain of our pension plans have accumulated benefit obligations in excess of the fair value of plan
assets. For these plans, the accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets were as follows:
December 31,
(millions of Canadian dollars)

Accumulated benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets

2021

2020

253
181

1,963
1,767

Certain of our pension plans have projected benefit obligations in excess of the fair value of plan assets.
For these plans, the projected benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets were as follows:
December 31,
(millions of Canadian dollars)

Projected benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets

2021

2020

895
760

2,115
1,767

2021

2020

(13)
(13)

18
18

AMOUNT RECOGNIZED IN ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
The amount of pre-tax AOCI relating to our OPEB plans are as follows:
December 31,
(millions of Canadian dollars)

Net actuarial (gain)/loss
Total amount recognized in AOCI

NET PERIODIC BENEFIT COST AND OTHER AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED IN COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
The components of net periodic benefit cost and other amounts recognized in pre-tax Comprehensive
income related to our pension and OPEB plans are as follows:
Pension
OPEB
Year ended December 31,
2021
2020
2021
2020
(millions of Canadian dollars)

Service cost
Interest cost1
Expected return on plan assets1
Amortization of net actuarial loss1,2
Net periodic benefit cost
Defined contribution benefit cost
Net pension and OPEB cost recognized in Earnings
Amount recognized in OCI:
Net actuarial (gain)/loss arising during the year
Total amount recognized in OCI
Total amount recognized in Comprehensive income

63
51
(131)
28
11
2
13
—
—
13

68 1
66
(136)
20
18 —
2
20
—
—
20

3
4
—
—
7
—
7

3
5
—
—
8
—
8

(31)
(31)
(24)

13
13
21

1 Reported within Other income/(expense) in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.
2 Reflects amortization of net actuarial loss arising from pension plans that are recognized as long-term regulatory assets (Note 5).
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ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS
The weighted average assumptions made in the measurement of the benefit obligation and net periodic
benefit cost of our defined benefit pension and OPEB plans are as follows:

Benefit obligations
Discount rate
Rate of salary increase
Net benefit cost
Discount rate
Rate of return on plan assets
Rate of salary increase

Pension
2021
2020

OPEB
2021

2020

3.2%
2.9%

2.6%
2.3%

3.2%
3.0%

2.6%
2.4%

2.6%
6.0%
2.3%

3.1%
6.5%
3.2%

2.6%
N/A
2.4%

3.1%
N/A
3.3%

ASSUMED HEALTH CARE COST TREND RATES
The assumed rates for the next year used to measure the expected cost of benefits are as follows:
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year
Rate to which the cost trend is assumed to decline (ultimate trend rate)

2021
4.0%
4.0%

2020
4.0%
4.0%

PLAN ASSETS
We manage the investment risk of our pension funds by setting a long-term asset mix policy for each plan
after consideration of: (i) the nature of pension plan liabilities; (ii) the investment horizon of the plan;
(iii) the going concern and solvency funded status and cash flow requirements of the plan; (iv) our
operating environment and financial situation and our ability to withstand fluctuations in pension
contributions; and (v) the future economic and capital markets outlook with respect to investment returns,
volatility of returns and correlation between assets.
The overall expected rate of return on plan assets is based on the asset allocation targets with estimates
for returns based on long-term expectations.
The asset allocation targets and major categories of plan assets are as follows:
Target
Asset Category
Allocation
Equity securities
40.9%
Fixed income securities
34.8%
Alternatives1
24.3%

December 31,
2021
2020
44.9%
46.3%
32.2%
31.9%
22.9%
21.8%

1 Alternatives include investments in private debt, private equity, infrastructure and real estate funds. Fund values are based on the
net asset value of the funds that invest directly in the aforementioned underlying investments. The values of the investments have
been estimated using the capital accounts representing the plan's ownership interest in the funds.
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The following table summarizes the fair value of plan assets for our pension plans recorded at each fair
value hierarchy level:
December 31,

Level 11

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Cash and cash equivalents
Equity securities
Canada
Global
Fixed income securities
Government
Corporate
Alternatives4
Forward currency contracts
Total pension plan assets at fair value
1
2
3
4

2021
Level 22 Level 33

Total

Level 11

2020
Level 22 Level 33

Total

42

—

—

42

50

—

—

50

110
—

123
853

—
—

233
853

103
—

111
813

—
—

214
813

141
—
—
—
293

294
300
—
—
1,570

—
—
552
—
552

435
300
552
—
2,415

125
—
—
—
278

249
284
—
18
1,475

—
—
466
—
466

374
284
466
18
2,219

Level 1 assets include assets with quoted prices in active markets for identical assets.
Level 2 assets include assets with significant observable inputs.
Level 3 assets include assets with significant unobservable inputs.
Alternatives include investments in private debt, private equity, infrastructure and real estate funds.

Changes in the net fair value of plan assets classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy were as
follows:
2021
2020
December 31,
(millions of Canadian dollars)

466
49
37
552

Balance at beginning of year
Unrealized and realized gains/(losses)
Purchases and settlements, net
Balance at end of year

427
(3)
42
466

EXPECTED BENEFIT PAYMENTS
Year ending December 31,
(millions of Canadian dollars)

Pension
OPEB

2022

2023

2024

2025

2026

2027-2031

113
7

115
7

117
7

119
7

120
7

628
38

EXPECTED EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
In 2022, we expect to contribute approximately $41 million and $7 million to the pension plans and OPEB
plans, respectively.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, we incurred $74 million in severance costs related to Enbridge's
voluntary workforce reduction program. For the year ended December 31, 2021, there were no such costs
incurred. Severance costs are presented in Operating and administrative expense in the Consolidated
Statements of Earnings.
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17. CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Year ended December 31,

2021

2020

(14)
(27)
(222)
(242)
(2)
196
(4)
(140)
(18)
(473)

50
(46)
156
(39)
10
(55)
(40)
54
(12)
78

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Accounts receivable and other
Accounts receivable from affiliates
Regulatory assets
Gas inventory
Deferred amounts and other assets
Accounts payable and other
Accounts payable to affiliates
Regulatory liabilities
Other long-term liabilities

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
All related party transactions are provided in the normal course of business and, unless otherwise noted,
are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to
by the related parties. Affiliates refer to Enbridge and companies that are either directly or indirectly
owned by Enbridge.
Enbridge and its affiliates perform centralized corporate functions for us pursuant to applicable
agreements, including legal, accounting, compliance, treasury, employee benefits, information technology
and other areas, as well as certain engineering and other services. We reimburse Enbridge for the
expenses incurred to provide these services as well as for other expenses incurred on our behalf. In
addition, we perform services and incur expenses on behalf of our affiliates, which are subsequently
reimbursed. Our expenses and recoveries for these services are recorded in Operating and administrative
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings, and are based on the cost of actual services
provided or using various allocation methodologies.
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Our transactions with entities related through common or joint control and significantly influenced
investees are as follows:
Gas commodity Operating and
Operating and distribution administrative
Other
Interest
Year ended December 31, 2021
revenues
costs
expense
Income
income
(millions of Canadian dollars)

Enbridge Inc.
Tidal Energy Marketing Inc.
Tidal Energy Marketing (U.S.) LLC
Gazifère Inc.
Énergir, L.P.1
Vector Pipeline, L.P.
NEXUS Gas Transmission, LLC
Lakeside Performance Gas Services
Ltd.
Other affiliates, net

—
18
—
30
35
—
—

—
16
31
—
—
20
111

153
—
—
—
—
—
—

5
—
—
—
—
—
—

2
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
2

—
3

19
9

—
—

—
—

1 The minority interest in the parent of Energir L.P. held by a subsidiary of Enbridge was sold on December 30, 2021.

Year ended December 31, 2020

Gas commodity Operating and
Operating and distribution administrative
revenues
costs
expense

Interest
Other
income/
Income (expense)

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Enbridge Inc.
Westcoast Energy Inc.
Tidal Energy Marketing Inc.
Tidal Energy Marketing (U.S.) LLC
Gazifère Inc.
Énergir, L.P.
Vector Pipeline, L.P.
NEXUS Gas Transmission, LLC
Other affiliates, net

—
—
11
—
26
37
—
—
2

—
—
13
18
—
—
19
116
3

131
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
7

6
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

14
(6)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Amounts due from/(to) related parties are as follows:
December 31,

2021

2020

(61)
(9)
35
28
25
19
18
—
55

(38)
(10)
45
29
6
—
(68)
1
(35)

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Enbridge Employee Services Canada Inc.
NEXUS Gas Transmission, LLC
Enbridge Pipelines Inc.
Union Energy Solutions Limited Partnership
Gazifère Inc.
Tidal Energy Marketing Inc.3
Enbridge Inc.1
Other affiliates, net2,3

1 Includes net qualifying interest cash flow hedges receivable and net derivative receivable balances from affiliate.
2 Includes current portion of operating lease liabilities to affiliates.
3 Includes affiliate gas imbalance receivable. As at December 31, 2021 total affiliate gas imbalance receivable was $23 million
(2020 - nil).
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SHARE CAPITAL
During the year ended December 31, 2021, common share dividends declared on our Class A and Class
B common shares were $108 million (2020 - $243 million) and $92 million (2020 - $207 million),
respectively. During 2020, we also completed the return of capital transactions, and received capital
contributions, as described in Note 11 - Share Capital.
FINANCING TRANSACTION
On April 1, 2020, we repaid the outstanding $650 million subordinated promissory note, as well as the
related interest payable, due to Westcoast Energy Inc.
GAS METER SERVICES
We purchase gas meter services from Lakeside Performance Gas Services Ltd. (Lakeside), such as
ongoing meter exchanges and inspections for customers in our franchise area. As of December 1, 2020,
Lakeside became an affiliate. In 2021, we purchased gas meter services from Lakeside totaling $52
million, a portion of which was expensed to Operating and administrative expense and the remainder
capitalized in Property, plant and equipment. We will continue purchasing these services at prevailing
market prices under normal trade terms.
HYDRO EXCAVATION SERVICES
We purchase hydro excavation and specialty gas services from Ontario Excavac Inc. (OE). As of July 31,
2021, OE became an affiliate. We will continue purchasing these services at prevailing market prices
under normal trade terms.
WHOLESALE SERVICES
We provide gas procurement and transportation services to Gazifère Inc., an affiliate, pursuant to a
contract negotiated between us and approved by the OEB and Régie de l’énergie.
LEASES
We incur operating lease payments related to natural gas transportation and storage services from
various affiliates. Total affiliate right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as at December 31, 2021 were
$48 million (2020 - $51 million) and $48 million (2020 - $51 million), respectively. See Note 14 - Leases
for further discussion.
DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
As at December 31, 2021, we had a net receivable balance of $26 million (2020 - $36 million payable)
due from Enbridge in respect of derivative instruments that they have entered into on our behalf. See
Note 13 - Risk Management and Financial Instruments for further discussion.
OTHER
Our cash balances are subject to a concentration banking arrangement with Enbridge. Interest is received
or paid at market rates.
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19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
COMMITMENTS
As at December 31, 2021, we have commitments as detailed below:
Less
than
Total
1 year
2 years
3 years

4 years

5 years Thereafter

(millions of Canadian dollars)

Annual debt maturities1
Interest obligations2
Purchase of services, pipe
and other materials,
including transportation3,4
Right-of-way commitments5
Total

9,220
5,681

125
370

350
367

300
351

745
336

650
300

7,050
3,957

6,050
668
21,619

1,998
11
2,504

757
11
1,485

525
11
1,187

473
11
1,565

437
11
1,398

1,860
613
13,480

1 Includes debentures and term notes, and excludes short-term borrowings, debt discounts, debt issuance costs, finance lease
obligations and the fair value adjustment from push-down accounting. Changes to the planned funding requirements are
dependent on the terms of any debt refinancing agreements. Therefore, the actual timing of future cash repayments could be
materially different than presented above.
2 Includes debentures and term notes bearing interest at fixed rates.
3 Includes firm capacity payments that provide us with uninterrupted firm access to natural gas transportation and storage;
contractual obligations to purchase physical quantities of natural gas; and customer care services.
4 Includes capital and operating commitments.
5 Includes right-of-way payments related to cancellable gas storage payments that are reasonably likely to occur for the remaining
life of all storage reservoirs.

ENVIRONMENTAL
We are subject to various federal, provincial and local laws relating to the protection of the environment.
These laws and regulations can change from time to time, imposing new obligations on us.
Environmental risk is inherent to natural gas pipeline operations, and we are, at times, subject to
environmental remediation at various contaminated sites. We manage this environmental risk through
appropriate environmental policies and practices to minimize any impact our operations may have on the
environment. To the extent that we are unable to recover payment for environmental liabilities from
insurance or other potentially responsible parties, we will be responsible for payment of liabilities arising
from environmental incidents associated with our operating activities.
Former Manufactured Coal Gas Plant Sites
The remediation of discontinued manufactured gas plant (MGP) sites may result in future costs. We were
named as a defendant in ten lawsuits issued in 1991 and 1993 in the Ontario Court of Justice (General
Division), commenced by the Corporation of the City of Toronto (the City). Two additional actions were
commenced by the Toronto Board of Education (the School Board) in 1991. In these actions, the City and
the School Board claimed damages totaling approximately $79 million for alleged contamination of lands
acquired by the City for the purposes of its Ataratiri housing project. The City alleges that these lands are
contaminated by coal tar deposited on the properties during a time when all or a portion of such lands
were utilized by us for the operation of our MGP.
While these Statements of Claim were filed by the City and the School Board, they were never formally
served on us. It was and remains our understanding that these lawsuits were initiated, at least in part,
because of concerns that the passage of time might give rise to limitation period defences. Rather than
litigate, we entered into an agreement with the City (known as a Tolling Agreement) pursuant to which the
City and the School Board agreed to forbear from serving the Statements of Claim pending further
discussions with us. To our knowledge, neither the City nor the School Board has taken any steps to
advance the lawsuits.
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Given the novel nature of such environmental claims, the law as it relates to such claims is not settled.
Should remediation of former MGP sites be required, it may result in future costs, the quantum of which
cannot be determined at this time, as there are a number of potential alternative remediation, isolation
and containment approaches which could vary widely in cost.
Although there are no known regulatory precedents in Canada, there are precedents in the US for the
recovery in rates of costs relating to the remediation of former MGP sites. From 2006 to 2018, the OEB
approved the establishment of deferral accounts to record the costs of investigating, defending and
dealing with ongoing MGP-related claims. We expect that if it is found that we must contribute to any
remediation costs, either as a result of a lawsuit or government order, we may be generally allowed to
recover in rates those substantial costs not recovered through insurance or by other means. Accordingly,
we believe that the ultimate outcome of these matters will not have a significant impact on our financial
position.
Hamilton Contaminated Site
In April 2016, the Ontario Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks (MECP), formerly the
Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change, issued a Director’s Order (the Order) naming us, along
with other parties, as an impacted property owner in connection with a contaminated site adjacent to a
property of ours in Hamilton. In May 2016, we appealed the Order, and in June 2016, the Environmental
Review Tribunal (the Tribunal), on consent of the MECP’s Director, stayed the application of parts of the
Order. The Tribunal extended the stay of the Order several times, which allowed the owner of the
property, with the cooperation of the adjacent owners, to prepare a plan of action, including discussions
with the MECP and other neighbors. On February 4, 2021, the MECP determined that we and other
parties have complied with the Order and no further obligations are outstanding. Accordingly, we withdrew
our appeal, and the Tribunal has accepted the withdrawal and has closed its file.
OTHER LITIGATION
We are subject to various legal and regulatory actions and proceedings which arise in the normal course
of business, including interventions in regulatory proceedings and challenges to regulatory approvals and
permits. While the final outcome of such actions and proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty,
management believes that the resolution of such actions and proceedings will not have a material impact
on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.
TAX MATTERS
We maintain tax liabilities related to uncertain tax positions. While fully supportable in our view, these tax
positions, if challenged by tax authorities, may not be fully sustained on review.
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20. GUARANTEES
In the normal course of conducting business, we may enter into agreements which indemnify third parties
and affiliates. We may also be a party to agreements with subsidiaries, jointly owned entities,
unconsolidated entities such as equity method investees, or entities with other ownership arrangements
that require us to provide financial and performance guarantees. Financial guarantees include stand-by
letters of credit, debt guarantees, surety bonds and indemnifications. To varying degrees, these
guarantees involve elements of performance and credit risk, which are not included in our Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position. Performance guarantees require us to make payments to a third party if
the guaranteed entity does not perform on its contractual obligations, such as debt agreements, purchase
or sale agreements, and construction contracts and leases.
We typically enter into these arrangements to facilitate commercial transactions with third parties.
Examples include indemnifying counterparties pursuant to sale agreements for assets or businesses in
matters such as breaches of representations, warranties or covenants, loss or damages to property,
environmental liabilities and litigation and contingent liabilities. We may indemnify third parties for certain
liabilities relating to environmental matters arising from operations prior to the purchase or transfer of
certain assets and interests. Similarly, we may indemnify the purchaser of assets for certain tax liabilities
incurred while we owned the assets, a misrepresentation related to taxes that result in a loss to the
purchaser or other certain tax liabilities related to those assets.
The likelihood of having to perform under these guarantees and indemnifications is largely dependent
upon future operations of various subsidiaries, investees and other third parties, or the occurrence of
certain future events. We cannot reasonably estimate the total maximum potential amounts that could
become payable to third parties and affiliates under such agreements described above; however,
historically, we have not made any significant payments under guarantee or indemnification provisions.
While these agreements may specify a maximum potential exposure, or a specified duration to the
guarantee or indemnification obligation, there are circumstances where the amount and duration are
unlimited. As at December 31, 2021, guarantees and indemnifications have not had, and are not
reasonably likely to have, a material effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition,
earnings, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit E, Tab 1, Page 5, Table 3
Preamble:
We would like to understand better how the allocation of cost for UDC for Union South
was determined
Question(s):
Please provide tables of planned versus actual delivered gas by path for each month of
2021 for the Union Rate. Please ensure that the paths include Dawn discretionary
purchases for each month.
a) Path
b) Planned Quantity
c) Actual Quantity
Response:
As outlined in Exhibit E, Tab 1, pages 2 and 3, “The path released does not determine
where the UDC costs or associated revenue for the releases will be allocated……
Actual UDC costs are allocated to Union North West, Union North East and Union
South in proportion to the actual supply and demand variances which occurred in each
respective area.” Therefore, the information requested by FRPO will not enable the
understanding that is sought in the preamble. However, Enbridge Gas has provided
information below to be as responsive as possible.
Table 1 provides planned and actual supply volumes by purchase location for the Union
rate zone. Enbridge Gas records actual supply purchases by purchase location and rate
zone, and therefore is unable to provide the requested information by individual
transportation path.
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Table 1
Union Rate Zone Planned and Actual Supply Volumes by Purchase Location

Jan-21

Feb-21

Mar-21

Apr-21

May-21

Jun-21

Jul-21

Aug-21

Sep-21

Oct-21

Nov-21

Dec-21

Planned (TJ)
Appalachia (1)
Chicago (2)
Dawn (3)
Niagara Region (4)
U.S. Mid-Continent (5)
WCSB (6)

4,906
2,617
4,585
654
1,864
2,408

4,431
2,363
4,287
591
1,684
2,087

4,906
2,617
3,577
654
1,864
571

4,748
2,532
3,806
633
1,804
2,443

4,906
2,617
4,906
654
1,864
3,645

4,748
2,532
3,314
633
1,804
2,401

4,906
2,617
4,287
654
1,864
3,008

4,906
2,617
3,758
654
1,864
1,236

4,748
2,532
4,183
633
1,804
1,816

4,906
2,617
4,906
654
1,864
2,767

4,748
3,165
4,939
633
1,804
3,076

4,906
3,271
5,104
654
1,864
3,575

Actual (TJ)
Appalachia
Chicago
Dawn
Niagara Region
U.S. Mid-Continent
WCSB

4,906
2,617
4,717
654
1,864
3,015

4,431
2,363
4,264
591
1,671
2,729

4,904
2,617
2,289
654
1,864
2,859

4,719
1,899
2,653
633
1,804
2,716

4,729
1,962
3,309
654
1,864
2,307

4,715
1,899
3,468
633
1,804
1,890

4,847
1,962
3,915
653
1,864
1,716

4,906
2,617
2,231
654
1,864
1,751

4,748
1,899
3,393
633
1,804
1,942

2,110
1,960
2,522
274
1,864
2,708

4,510
3,162
4,234
316
1,804
2,965

4,876
3,271
3,873
654
1,864
3,068

Notes:
1- Appalachia includes gas purchased at Clarington and Kensington and flows on NEXUS pipeline to Dawn.
2- Chicago includes gas purchased at Chicago and flows on Vector pipeline to Dawn.
3- Dawn is gas purchased at Dawn for use in Union South and transported to Enbridge rate zone and Union North East using Enbridge Gas and
TCPL pipelines.
4- Niagara Region includes gas purchased at Niagara and Chippawa and flows on TCPL pipeline to Enbridge CDA and Dawn.
5- U.S. Mid-Continent includes gas purchased at Panhandle Field Zone and flows on Panhandle Eastern pipeline to Dawn.
6- WCSB includes gas purchased at AECO and Empress and flows on the TCPL Mainline to Union North delivery areas, Enbridge EDA, and
Enbridge CDA, and on both TCPL Mainline and Great Lakes pipeline to Dawn.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit E, Tab 1, page 9 and Schedule 2 and
EB-2020-0134 Exhibit I. FRPO.19, .20 &.21
EB-2021-0149 Exhibit I.FRPO.20 & .21 and Decision on Settlement Proposal,
Schedule 1, Settlement Proposal, page16
Preamble:
In the first reference, EGI evidence states: “The C1 Short-Term Firm Peak Storage
revenues of $1.536 million were $6.347million lower than the 2013 Board-approved
forecast of $7.883 million. Actual Union rate zone utility storage requirements for 2021
were 8.3 PJ higher than the 2013 OEB-approved forecast, resulting in a decrease in the
C1 Short-Term Firm Peak Storage available for sale (from 11.3 PJ in 2013 OEBapproved to 3.0 PJ in 2021). Union rate zone customers received the value of storage
directly through the use of the storage space, rather than through the sale of short-term
storage.
The second references were interrogatories posed by FRPO in last year’s deferral
proceeding which yielded the values of storage space and deliverability but not the
process of determination including the data requested.
In the third reference, the Board-approved settlement agreement stated: In connection
with the settlement of this issue, Enbridge Gas agrees that in future deferral and
variance account clearance applications during the deferred rebasing term it will include
evidence about the determination of storage space and deliverability by rate class.
We would like to understand better the determination of storage needs to in-franchise
customers in the Union Gas rate zones and the ST Storage Deferral Account. We have
been pursuing the company’s approach to determination of the storage space and
deliverability required including the data used. However, we have not received more
than “Board-approved methodologies”. We are asking again for a description of the
determination and the data used for that determination. To be clear, stating that the
numbers are for the Winter of 2021/22 or the 2021 Gas Supply plan is not helpful.
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Question(s):
For the winters used to determine the needs used in this application, please provide a
description of the process, the figures used and derivation of the amount of the following
in tabular form with accompanying Excel spreadsheets for:
a) the determination of the storage space for each general service rate class
b) the determination of the amount of deliverability required by each general service
rate class
Response:
a) The storage space forecast is based on the needs for sales service and bundled
customers calculated using the aggregate excess methodology at a rate zone level.
Storage space needs for semi-unbundled and Union North T-Service customers is
forecast based on the contracted or reserved storage space needs by customer.
Aggregate excess is calculated as the total winter demand (the 151 days of winter
from November 1 to March 31) less the total average demands multiplied by 151.
Table 1 provides the derivation of total 2021 storage space.
Table 1
2021 Storage Space

Line
No.

Particulars (PJ)

EGD

Rate Zone
Union
North

Union
South

Total

1
2
3

Aggregate Excess
Winter Demand
Annual Demand
Aggregate Excess (1)

319.2
467.1
125.8

40.8
58.7
16.5

151.0
229.7
56.0

511.0
755.5
198.4

4
5

Customer Contracted/
Reserved Storage Space
Total by Rate Zone

125.8

1.0
17.5

14.0
70.0

15.0
213.3

6
7

Excess Utility Storage Space
System Integrity Storage Space

8

Total Storage Space

Notes:
(1) Aggregate excess calculated as Line 1 - (Line 2 x 151/365).

3.0
9.5
225.8
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The allocation of storage space to rate classes, including general service rate
classes, is not prepared on an annual basis. For purposes of providing the rate class
level detail at Exhibit E, Tab 1, Schedule 2, Appendix A, Enbridge Gas used the
most recently available rate class allocation of storage space from the 2018 cost
allocation study for the EGD rate zone and from the 2019 cost allocation study filed
by Union in its 2020 Rates 1 application for the Union rate zones. The storage space
allocation within each cost allocation study used the aggregate excess methodology
as described above but at the individual rate class level.
b) For the EGD rate zone, the storage deliverability forecast is based on the cost-based
storage deliverability of Tecumseh and Crowland storage plus the storage
deliverability provided through market-based storage contracts.
For the Union rate zones, the storage deliverability forecast is calculated as the
excess of sales service, bundled and semi-unbundled customer design day demand
over design day deliveries.
Table 2 provides the derivation of total 2021 storage deliverability.
Table 2
2021 Storage Deliverability

Line
No.

Particulars (GJ/d)

EGD (1)

Rate Zone
Union
North

Union
South

2,198,296

467,280
(157,876)
309,405

3,288,587
(1,351,971)
1,873,036

1
2
3

Design Day Demands
Design Day Deliveries
Total

4

Excess Utility Storage Space Deliverability (2)

5

Total Deliverability (3)

Total

4,380,737
35,816
4,416,553

Notes:
(1) EGD total storage deliverability calculated as 1,920,948 GJ/d of cost-based storage
deliverability plus 277,348 GJ/d of market-based storage deliverability.
(2) Calculated as 1.2% of excess utility storage space.
(3) The in-franchise storage deliverability in Table 2 reflects the utilization by Regulated
customers but does not reflect allocated costs affirmed in EB-2011-0038.

1
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The allocation of deliverability to rate classes, including general service rate classes,
is not prepared on an annual basis. For purposes of providing the rate class level
detail at Exhibit E, Tab 1, Schedule 2, Appendix A, Enbridge Gas used the most
recently available rate class allocation of storage deliverability from the 2018 cost
allocation study for the EGD rate zone and from the 2019 cost allocation study filed
by Union in its 2020 Rates2 application for the Union rate zones. The storage
deliverability allocation to EGD rate classes was based on the rate class contribution
of the excess of peak day requirements over average winter demand and the
allocation to Union rate classes was based on the excess of design day demand
over design day deliveries at the individual rate class level.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit E, Tab 1, page 9 and Schedule 2 and
EB-2020-0134 Exhibit I. FRPO.19, .20 &.21
EB-2021-0149 Exhibit I.FRPO.20 & .21 and Decision on Settlement Proposal,
Schedule 1, Settlement Proposal, page16
Preamble:
In the first reference, EGI evidence states: “The C1 Short-Term Firm Peak
Storage revenues of $1.536 million were $6.347million lower than the 2013 Boardapproved forecast of $7.883 million. Actual Union rate zone utility storage
requirements for 2021 were 8.3 PJ higher than the 2013 OEB-approved forecast,
resulting in a decrease in the C1 Short-Term Firm Peak Storage available for sale
(from 11.3 PJ in 2013 OEB-approved to 3.0 PJ in 2021). Union rate zone
customers received the value of storage directly through the use of the storage
space, rather than through the sale of short-term storage.
The second references were interrogatories posed by FRPO in last year’s deferral
proceeding which yielded the values of storage space and deliverability but not the
process of determination including the data requested.
In the third reference, the Board-approved settlement agreement stated: In
connection with the settlement of this issue, Enbridge Gas agrees that in future
deferral and variance account clearance applications during the deferred rebasing
term it will include evidence about the determination of storage space and
deliverability by rate class.
We would like to understand better the determination of storage needs to infranchise customers in the Union Gas rate zones and the ST Storage Deferral
Account. We have been pursuing the company’s approach to determination of the
storage space and deliverability required including the data used. However, we
have not received more than “Board-approved methodologies”. We are asking
again for a description of the determination and the data used for that
determination. To be clear, stating that the numbers are for the Winter of 2021/22
or the 2021 Gas Supply plan is not helpful.
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Question(s):
a) Please provide EGI policy and practice regarding the determination of
allocations of space and deliverability for general service in-franchise
customers. To be more specific, we are asking for references to the policies
and practices, approved by the Board for both Legacy Union Gas and Legacy
Enbridge Gas.
Response:
For the EGD rate zone, a description of the OEB-approved methodology used to
allocate space and deliverability costs is described in support of the Company’s
2018 cost allocation study at EB-2017-0086, Exhibit G2, Tab 1, Schedule 1,
page 27 an excerpt of which is reproduced below. The OEB approved EGD’s
application on December 7, 2017.

For the Union rate zones, a description of the OEB-approved methodology used to
allocate space and deliverability costs is described in support of the Company’s
2013 cost allocation study at EB-2011-0210, Exhibit G3, Tab 1, Schedule 1, pages
11 to 13 an excerpt of which is reproduced below. The OEB approved Union’s
application on October 24, 2012.
Demand from storage on design day is the excess of customers’ design day demand
over design day deliveries to Union’s system. Design day deliveries are estimated for
each firm sales and bundled-T rate class based upon the ratio of the average day for
the class divided by the total average day of firm classes.
Storage space costs are attributable to the storage capacity required for the
movement of the deficiency of customers’ summer use from average over to the
winter season. For Union South, the excess of the winter period use (January-March
and November-December) compared to the average annual use for the same 151day period is calculated for each in-franchise sales and bundled-T rate class. This is
referred to as the “Aggregate Excess”. Costs are allocated to customers in Union
North using excess peak over annual average demand (i.e., the difference between
what a rate class takes on an average day and what it requires on its peak day).
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit E, Tab 1, Schedule 3, Page 1 and
EB-2021-0149 Exhibit I.FRPO.24
Preamble:
The first reference provides a table entitled SUMMARY OF NON-UTILITY STORAGE
BALANCES - UNION RATE ZONES that depicts an entitlement of 127.6PJ with daily
balances.
The second reference response included: As posted on the Enbridge Gas website
under operational information/storage reporting, the working capacity of Legacy Union
Gas is 183.7 PJ of which 100 PJ is utility (as per NGEIR). The working capacity of
Legacy Enbridge Gas is 122.9 PJ of which 99.4 PJ is utility (as per NGEIR).
We would like to understand the evidence provided and the actual balances in relation
to the encroachment directives of the Board.
Question(s):
Please confirm or correct the title of the slide that specifies “Union Rate Zones”.
a) For the 127.6 PJ, please provide the sources of non-utility space between:
i) Legacy Union Gas
ii) Legacy Enbridge Gas
iii) Other sources
Response:
The title of the slide should be “Summary of Non-Utility Storage Balances”.
a) As posted on the Enbridge Gas website 1 under operational information/storage
reporting, the working capacity of Legacy Union Gas is 184.5 PJ of which 100 PJ is
utility (as per NGEIR). The working capacity of Legacy Enbridge Gas is 126.8 PJ of
which 99.4 PJ is utility (as per NGEIR). The remaining space is from other sources.
Enbridge Gas Inc. Operational Information-Storage Reporting. https://www.enbridgegas.com/storagetransportation/operational-information/storage-reporting.
1
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit E, Tab 1, Schedule 3, Page 1 and
EB-2021-0149 Exhibit I.FRPO.24
Preamble:
The first reference provides a table entitled SUMMARY OF NON-UTILITY STORAGE
BALANCES - UNION RATE ZONES that depicts an entitlement of 127.6PJ with daily
balances.
The second reference response included: As posted on the Enbridge Gas website
under operational information/storage reporting, the working capacity of Legacy Union
Gas is 183.7 PJ of which 100 PJ is utility (as per NGEIR). The working capacity of
Legacy Enbridge Gas is 122.9 PJ of which 99.4 PJ is utility (as per NGEIR).
We would like to understand the evidence provided and the actual balances in relation
to the encroachment directives of the Board.
Question(s):
If the 127.6 PJ of space does not include space from Legacy Enbridge Gas, please
provide a table for the last three years for EGD’s non-utility storage space and daily
values of actual balances for October and November.
Response:
The 127.6 PJ of space includes space from Legacy Enbridge Gas.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit E, Tab 1, Pages 1-5 and
EB-2022-0072 GSP UPDATE, Appendix C and Transcript Day 2 GSP Stakeholder
Conference, page 68, lines 1-21
Preamble:
We would like to understand more about UDC and how EGI manages its transportation
contracts through assignment to third parties and the allocation of costs to rate zones.
In the second reference, we were trying to understand the management of gas supply
as it pertained to assignments. In the Stakeholder Conference, we previewed the type
of information we were looking for and received assurances from EGI witnesses that the
information could be provided and from EGI counsel that EGI would “provide this type of
information in its pre-filed evidence”. However, the prefiled evidence did not provide
this data. This requested information allows the Board to understand EGI’s approach to
UDC, assignment and the allocation of costs and benefits.
Question(s):
For each month and for each transportation path and contract on the path that was
assigned during 2021, please provide a table that provides the daily amount contracted,
the daily amount of the contract assigned for each month of 2021, the total amount that
was actually received at the delivery point in that month & the total transport cost, the
additional revenue that was generated from the assignment, the account that received
the revenue and the net impact on gas supply and transportation costs (using the table
as provided in Attachment 1: DATA FOR TRANSPORT ASSIGNMENTS).
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ATTACHMENT 1: DATA FOR TRANSPORT ASSIGNMENTS
PATH: _______________________________________________
CONTRACT: _________________________________________

Utilization

Amount
Contracted

Amount
Assigned

Month

(GJ/day)

(GJ/day)

Delivery/

Transaction/
Contracting
Agreement
Date

Term of
Contract
(Dates)

Total
Amount
Delivered
To EGI

Total
Transport
Delivered
Cost1

(GJ)

($)

Incremental
Revenue
($)

Account
(UFG/Optimization/
Other (Specify)

Gas Cost
Impact

Transport
Cost Impact

($/GJ)

($)

Total for
Month

1 Delivered

Cost is zero if Assigned as a 100% Capacity Release for Load Balancing Management. Otherwise, what was paid in addition to the
commodity cost at source to receive commodity at contract delivery point.

a) Please provide resulting in an appropriately formatted multi-sheet Excel workbook.
Response:
As outlined in Exhibit E, Tab 1, page 1 “the Union North and Union South transportation
portfolios are managed on an integrated basis and the pipeline to leave unutilized, if
necessary, is determined based on the least cost option.” Further, on page 4, Enbridge
Gas explained that “Unutilized upstream transportation capacity is released and sold on
the secondary market to minimize UDC. The value generated from the transportation
releases is credited to the UDC Variance Account mitigating the overall UDC impact.”
As committed in the EB-2021-0149 Settlement Proposal, Table 1 on page 2 of prefiled
evidence provides the total unutilized capacity, UDC costs incurred, and the released
value of capacity contracted by rate zone.
Attachment 1 provides further details on the capacity released (assigned) to third parties
for the purposes of mitigating the overall UDC impact. Certain details provided in the
attachment meet the categories of information to be treated as confidential in
accordance with the OEB’s revised Practice Direction on Confidential Filings effective
December 17, 2021. As a result, Enbridge Gas has requested confidential treatment of
the attachment and has filed a redacted version on the public record.
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Capacity Released to Third Party for UDC Mitigation

Month
Mar 21
Apr 21
Apr 21
Apr 21
May 21
May 21
May 21
May 21
May 21
May 21
May 21
Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21
Jun 21 (1)
Jul 21
Jul 21
Jul 21
Jul 21
Jul 21
Jul 21 (1)
Aug-21
Aug-21
Aug-21
Aug 21 (1)
Sep 21
Sep 21
Sep 21
Sep 21
Sep 21
Sep 21
Sep 21 (1)
Oct 21

Path
Empress to CentratMDA
Chicago to Dawn
Empress to CentratMDA
Empress to UnionWDA
Empress to CentratMDA
Empress to CentratMDA
Empress to UnionWDA
Empress to UnionWDA
Empress to UnionWDA
Empress to UnionSSMDA
Chicago to Dawn
Empress to CentratMDA
Empress to UnionWDA
Empress to UnionSSMDA
Chicago to Dawn
Empress to Dawn (Great Lakes)
Empress to CentratMDA
Empress to UnionWDA
Empress to UnionWDA
Empress to UnionSSMDA
Chicago to Dawn
Empress to Dawn (Great Lakes)
Empress to CentratMDA
Empress to UnionWDA
Empress to UnionSSMDA
Empress to Dawn (Great Lakes)
Empress to CentratMDA
Empress to UnionWDA
Empress to UnionWDA
Empress to UnionWDA
Empress to UnionSSMDA
Chicago to Dawn
Empress to Dawn (Great Lakes)
Niagara to Kirkwall

Volume Assigned Transaction
Term of
(GJ)
Date
Assignment
172,515
02/24/21 Mar 1 - 31
633,034
03/26/21 Apr 1 - 30
166,950
03/26/21 Apr 1 - 30
60,000
03/26/21 Apr 1 - 30
62,000
03/26/21 May 1 - 31
110,515
03/26/21 May 1 - 31
155,000
03/26/21 May 1 - 31
155,000
03/26/21 May 1 - 31
155,000
03/26/21 May 1 - 31
93,000
03/26/21 May 1 - 31
654,135
04/27/21 May 1 - 31
166,950
05/26/21 Jun 1 - 30
855,000
05/26/21 Jun 1 - 30
30,000
05/26/21 Jun 1 - 30
633,034
05/27/21 Jun 1 - 30
1,756
n/a
n/a
172,515
06/24/21 Jul 1 - 31
68,200
06/24/21 Jul 1 - 31
1,047,800
06/24/21 Jul 1 - 31
31,000
06/24/21 Jul 1 - 31
654,135
06/25/21 Jul 1 - 31
628
n/a
n/a
172,515
07/28/21 Aug 1 - 31
1,085,000
07/28/21 Aug 1 - 31
31,000
07/28/21 Aug 1 - 31
539
n/a
n/a
166,950
08/26/21 Sep 1 - 30
240,000
08/26/21 Sep 1 - 30
150,000
08/26/21 Sep 1 - 30
300,000
08/26/21 Sep 1 - 30
120,000
08/26/21 Sep 1 - 30
633,034
08/26/21 Sep 1 - 30
15,071
n/a
n/a
379,818
09/28/21 Oct 1 - 31

Total Demand Release Value
($000s)
($000s)
81.8
134.9
81.8
41.5
29.4
52.4
103.7
103.7
103.7
86.6
132.8
81.8
590.9
28.9
133.8
1.6
81.8
45.6
700.8
28.9
137.3
0.6
81.8
725.7
28.9
0.5
81.8
165.9
103.7
207.4
115.5
138.8
13.7
82.3
4,530.0
1,360.8

Net Amount to UDC
($000s)

Account
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost
179-198 Unabsorbed Demand Cost

3,169.2

Notes:

(1) Not reflective of released capacities. UDC was taken as a result of an upstream pipeline outage. Pipelines which provided toll relief related to the upstream outage have been included in the
listing as the toll relief amounts were included in the "released value" calculation in Table 1 of Exhibit E, Tab 1, page 2.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit E, Tab 1, Page 35-39 including Table 1
Preamble:
EGI evidence states:
A similar decrease and offsetting increase in UFG volumes has been observed
between the 2020 and 2021 calendar years. The average UFG % for 2020 and 2021
is 0.440%, which is approximately 163.5 103m3/year average for the two years. The
Company has identified that the true-up of estimated consumption based on the
calendarization of UFG volumes has contributed to volatility between 2020 and
2021, but has not resulted in a material increase to the historical average of UFG
over the course of two years. Typical estimation true-ups are outlined below.
At the end of each reporting period, Enbridge Gas records an estimate of gas delivered
but not yet billed. The true-up between the December 2020 estimate and
the actual billed volumes resulted in a decrease to the delivery volumes recorded in
January 2021. This true-up reflects that, when billings related to December 2020
were completed over the following month, it was determined there was an overestimate
of gas deliveries for December 2020.
We would like to understand better the impact of the year-end true-up as it pertains to
the period of calendar 2021.
Question(s):
Please provide the before and after true-up volumes for December 2020 and January
2021.
a) Please provide the determination of the before and after UFG volumes for 2020 and
any impacts on 2021.
Response:
Please see response to Exhibit I.STAFF.11 d).
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit E, Tab 1, Page 35-39 including Table 1
Preamble:
EGI evidence states:
A similar decrease and offsetting increase in UFG volumes has been observed
between the 2020 and 2021 calendar years. The average UFG % for 2020 and 2021
is 0.440%, which is approximately 163.5 103m3/year average for the two years. The
Company has identified that the true-up of estimated consumption based on the
calendarization of UFG volumes has contributed to volatility between 2020 and
2021, but has not resulted in a material increase to the historical average of UFG
over the course of two years. Typical estimation true-ups are outlined below.
At the end of each reporting period, Enbridge Gas records an estimate of gas delivered
but not yet billed. The true-up between the December 2020 estimate and
the actual billed volumes resulted in a decrease to the delivery volumes recorded in
January 2021. This true-up reflects that, when billings related to December 2020
were completed over the following month, it was determined there was an overestimate
of gas deliveries for December 2020.
We would like to understand better the impact of the year-end true-up as it pertains to
the period of calendar 2021.
Question(s):
Did EGI perform a similar true-up for December 2021 using actuals for January 2022.
a) If not, why not?
b) If so, please provide the before and after volumes for December 2021 and the
resulting UFG.
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Response:
a) Yes, a similar true-up for December 2021 was performed.
b) December 2021 estimated volumes were approximately (4,000) 103m3 lower than
December 2021 actual billed volumes, which resulted in a true-up in January 2022
for that amount. The true-up resulted in an increase to the delivery volumes
recorded in January 2022. The impact to UFG was an increase in UFG in 2021 and
a decrease in UFG in 2022.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit E, Tab 1, Page 35-39 including Table 1
Preamble:
EGI evidence states:
A similar decrease and offsetting increase in UFG volumes has been observed
between the 2020 and 2021 calendar years. The average UFG % for 2020 and 2021
is 0.440%, which is approximately 163.5 103m3/year average for the two years. The
Company has identified that the true-up of estimated consumption based on the
calendarization of UFG volumes has contributed to volatility between 2020 and
2021, but has not resulted in a material increase to the historical average of UFG
over the course of two years. Typical estimation true-ups are outlined below.
At the end of each reporting period, Enbridge Gas records an estimate of gas delivered
but not yet billed. The true-up between the December 2020 estimate and
the actual billed volumes resulted in a decrease to the delivery volumes recorded in
January 2021. This true-up reflects that, when billings related to December 2020
were completed over the following month, it was determined there was an overestimate
of gas deliveries for December 2020.
We would like to understand better the impact of the year-end true-up as it pertains to
the period of calendar 2021.
Question(s):
As noted later in the performance metrics, EGI has had a very high level of meters that
go without actual reads over several months. We would like to understand the potential
for this to be a contributing factor.
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If a customer goes without a bill for a number of months due to incorrect account
numbers resulting in a billing gap that the company does not collect:
a) Does the company write-off the gas cost to bad debt?
b) Given that there is no collection of funds, does the quantity of commodity still find
its way to billed consumption or would it contribute to UFG?
Response:
a) No, if a customer goes without a bill for a number of months, the gas cost is not
written off to bad debt, given that the customer has not been billed.
b) UFG is broadly defined as the difference between gas receipts and gas deliveries.
Gas deliveries to customers are comprised of both billed and unbilled volumes.
Billed volumes are based on both estimated and actual meter reads. Unbilled
volumes are recorded at the end of each reporting period to quantify the amount of
gas delivered but not yet billed. This ensures that both billed and unbilled volumes
are incorporated into the formulaic determination of UFG.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit E, Tab 1, Page 35-39 including Table 1
Preamble:
EGI evidence states:
A similar decrease and offsetting increase in UFG volumes has been observed
between the 2020 and 2021 calendar years. The average UFG % for 2020 and 2021
is 0.440%, which is approximately 163.5 103m3/year average for the two years. The
Company has identified that the true-up of estimated consumption based on the
calendarization of UFG volumes has contributed to volatility between 2020 and
2021, but has not resulted in a material increase to the historical average of UFG
over the course of two years. Typical estimation true-ups are outlined below.
At the end of each reporting period, Enbridge Gas records an estimate of gas delivered
but not yet billed. The true-up between the December 2020 estimate and
the actual billed volumes resulted in a decrease to the delivery volumes recorded in
January 2021. This true-up reflects that, when billings related to December 2020
were completed over the following month, it was determined there was an overestimate
of gas deliveries for December 2020.
We would like to understand better the impact of the year-end true-up as it pertains to
the period of calendar 2021.
Question(s):
As noted later in the performance metrics, EGI has had a very high level of meters that
go without actual reads over several months. We would like to understand the potential
for this to be a contributing factor.
As of December 31, 2021, for each Legacy utility, what percentage of customer had not
had an actual meter read generated bill in at least two months.
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a) Please provide EGI’s views on the potential for this lack of actual data on
consumption at year-end can contribute to UFG.
Response:
As of December 31, 2021, 11% of LEGD and 24% of LUG customers had not had an
actual meter read generated bill in at least two months.
In a given reporting period, it is normal billing practice that a portion of all customer
accounts are billed based on estimated reads. These billed volumes based on
estimated reads are included into the formulaic determination of UFG. When an actual
read is received, the customer account is adjusted accordingly, and the adjustment is
subsequently also included in the formulaic determination of UFG. Therefore, Enbridge
Gas does not believe that estimated reads contribute to higher levels of UFG when
considered over time, though estimated reads may contribute to variations in UFG
levels in the short-term.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit E, Tab 1, Page 35-39 including Table 1
Preamble:
EGI evidence states:
A similar decrease and offsetting increase in UFG volumes has been observed
between the 2020 and 2021 calendar years. The average UFG % for 2020 and 2021
is 0.440%, which is approximately 163.5 103m3/year average for the two years. The
Company has identified that the true-up of estimated consumption based on the
calendarization of UFG volumes has contributed to volatility between 2020 and
2021, but has not resulted in a material increase to the historical average of UFG
over the course of two years. Typical estimation true-ups are outlined below.
At the end of each reporting period, Enbridge Gas records an estimate of gas delivered
but not yet billed. The true-up between the December 2020 estimate and
the actual billed volumes resulted in a decrease to the delivery volumes recorded in
January 2021. This true-up reflects that, when billings related to December 2020
were completed over the following month, it was determined there was an overestimate
of gas deliveries for December 2020.
We would like to understand better the impact of the year-end true-up as it pertains to
the period of calendar 2021.
Question(s):
Footnote 2 of Table 1 states: UFG Volumes represent gas supply related to actual UFG
volumes on behalf of ratepayers who do not provide UFG in kind as part of CSF
Please provide EGI’s reconciliation of CSF (customer supplied fuel) by showing the
activity based UFG for those customers and the amount provided by those customers
for 2021
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Response:
Exhibit E, Tab 1 pages 38 and 39 have been updated as a result of an error in the
calculation of the UFG Price Variance account.
The response below is based on the updated evidence.
Table 1 provides a reconciliation of the UFG Price Deferral Account balance broken
down by Utility Supplied Fuel vs Customer Supplied Fuel.

Table 1
Allocation 2021 UFG Price Deferral Account Balance
Utility Supplied
Fuel

Line
No. Particulars
1

Experienced Utility UFG (103m3) (2)
3

3

2

Collected UFG in Kind (10 m )

3

Total (103m3)

4

2021 UFG Price Deferral Account Balance
($ Millions)

Customer Supplied
Fuel

Total (1)

63,372

160,265

223,637

-

68,416

68,416

63,372

91,849

155,221

3.33

4.82

8.15

Note:
(1)

EB-2022-0110, Exhibit E, Schedule 1, Tab 9, Table 1

(2)

Portion of actual UFG volumes related to utility and customer supplied fuel based on total throughput volumes.

(3)

Line 3 applied to the UFG price variance of $52.52 that is listed in EB-2022-0110, Exhibit E, Schedule 1, Tab 9, Table 1
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit G, Tab 1, Page 2
Preamble:
EGI evidence states:
The MRPM represents the number of meters with no read for four consecutive months
or more divided by the total number of active meters to be read. The target for the
metric is 0.5% and Enbridge Gas achieved a level of 5.0% in 2021. The result for 2019
was 0.7% and 4.4% in 2020. Enbridge Gas has faced challenges meeting the target
since 2019 for several reasons, including the decision of a key meter reading vendor to
no longer provide meter reading service resulting in the need to onboard a new vendor.
Question(s):
For each of Legacy UG and EGD in 2021, please provide the percentage of meters with
no read for:
a)
b)
c)
d)

4 months
6 months
9 months
12 months

Response:
Meter Reading Performance Measurement (MRPM) is a cumulative metric whereby the
total number of unread meters fluctuates as some meters are read and are removed
from the totals, while other meters remain as unread from the previous month, and new
meters reach their four-month timeline and are added to the current consecutive
estimate results. This means that even though a percentage of meters have
successfully been read, Enbridge Gas will continue to have meters that have
consecutive estimates. The following results are as of December 31st.
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Table 1
% of meters with consecutive estimates
% of meters with
consecutive estimates

UG Rate Zone 2021

EGD Rate Zone 2021

a)
b)
c)
d)

3.02%
3.96%
2.77%
0.69%

0.66%
0.83%
0.57%
1.29%

4 months
6 months
9 months
12 months
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit G, Tab 1, Page 2
Preamble:
EGI evidence states:
The MRPM represents the number of meters with no read for four consecutive months
or more divided by the total number of active meters to be read. The target for the
metric is 0.5% and Enbridge Gas achieved a level of 5.0% in 2021. The result for 2019
was 0.7% and 4.4% in 2020. Enbridge Gas has faced challenges meeting the target
since 2019 for several reasons, including the decision of a key meter reading vendor to
no longer provide meter reading service resulting in the need to onboard a new vendor.
Question(s):
For each of Legacy UG and EGD in 2021, what percent of accounts received a zero
consumption bill:
a) From January to June
b) From July to November
Response:
a - b)
Zero consumption on a gas bill would be based on a customer’s consumption
behaviour, such as seasonal gas use, or in the case where the meter is temporarily
locked. Enbridge Gas’ billing practice whenever gas consumption is expected and an
actual read is not present, is to use an estimated reading for billing.
Due to system integration in the Legacy UG rate zones, this level of information is not
available prior to July 2021.
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Table 1
% of accounts that received a zero consumption bill
% of accounts that
received a zero
consumption bill

Legacy UG rate zones

Legacy EGD rate zone

From January to June

N/A

1.20%

From July to November

3.90%

4.60%
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit G, Tab 1, Page 2
Preamble:
EGI evidence states:
The MRPM represents the number of meters with no read for four consecutive months
or more divided by the total number of active meters to be read. The target for the
metric is 0.5% and Enbridge Gas achieved a level of 5.0% in 2021. The result for 2019
was 0.7% and 4.4% in 2020. Enbridge Gas has faced challenges meeting the target
since 2019 for several reasons, including the decision of a key meter reading vendor to
no longer provide meter reading service resulting in the need to onboard a new vendor.
Question(s):
For each of Legacy UG and EGD in 2021, what percent of accounts received an
estimated consumption bill:
a) From January to June
b) From July to November
Response:
a - b)
In each billing month, it is normal billing practice that 50% of all customer accounts are
billed based on estimated reads. Also, whenever an actual read is not present, an
estimated reading will be used for billing purposes.
Due to system integration in the Legacy UG rate zones, this level of information is not
available prior to July 2021.
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Table 1
Average # of Monthly Accounts with an Estimated Consumption Bill
Average # of monthly
Legacy UG rate zones
accounts with an estimated
consumption bill
From January to June
N/A

Legacy EGD rate zones

From July to November

54.9%

67.4%

55.3%

Filed: 2022-09-02
EB-2022-0110
Exhibit I.FRPO.23
Page 1 of 2

ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit G, Tab 1, Page 2
Preamble:
EGI evidence states:
The MRPM represents the number of meters with no read for four consecutive months
or more divided by the total number of active meters to be read. The target for the
metric is 0.5% and Enbridge Gas achieved a level of 5.0% in 2021. The result for 2019
was 0.7% and 4.4% in 2020. Enbridge Gas has faced challenges meeting the target
since 2019 for several reasons, including the decision of a key meter reading vendor to
no longer provide meter reading service resulting in the need to onboard a new vendor.
Question(s):
What criteria is used to determine if a customer is billed an estimate or billed for zero
consumption for a month for which the meter is not read.
a) If the bill is estimated, does classification (actual vs. estimate) appear in the
consumption data (e.g., the Invoice Rate Ready data) for direct purchase pools.
b) If not, what would be the cost to add this field to the data provided?
Response:
Enbridge Gas reads customer meters every other month. On months when the meter is
not scheduled to be read or when a meter read was not attained, an estimated reading
is used. Zero consumption on a gas bill would be based on a customer’s consumption
behaviour, such as seasonal gas use, or in the case where the meter is temporarily
locked.
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a) Current defined fields (Est. vs. Actual) are not included in the direct purchase
consumption data as this is not defined in the Electronic Business Transactions
(EBT) Standards Document of the Gas Distribution Access Rule (GDAR) that all gas
distributors are required to follow.
b) The estimate for Enbridge Gas to add a field to the two current business systems
supporting Enbridge and Union rate zone direct purchase general service markets is
estimated at $120,000. This estimate does not include large volume contract market.
It should be noted to make these changes to the EBT standards would require the
OEB to assemble the GDAR working group to discuss and agree to add the field
(Est. vs. Actual) to the schema for all participants and the needed timeline on
implementing the changes.
All market participants would be required to be committed to updating their own
systems to accommodate the new field or fields to use the new schema at the same
time. Implementation timelines would need to be coordinated with all market
participants. The ability to adapt to the technical change will likely vary greatly based
the vendor’s own resources and level of controls.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit G, Tab 1, Page 2
Preamble:
EGI evidence states:
The MRPM represents the number of meters with no read for four consecutive months
or more divided by the total number of active meters to be read. The target for the
metric is 0.5% and Enbridge Gas achieved a level of 5.0% in 2021. The result for 2019
was 0.7% and 4.4% in 2020. Enbridge Gas has faced challenges meeting the target
since 2019 for several reasons, including the decision of a key meter reading vendor to
no longer provide meter reading service resulting in the need to onboard a new vendor.
Question(s):
If a direct purchase customer whose year-end contract balance or two-point balancing
limits were impacted by estimated or zero consumption readings, did EGI reverse any
charges to the customer caused by the estimated or zero consumption billings.
a) Please provide examples of communications that were sent to the affected
customers.
b) If a direct purchase customer was affected by 3 or more zero or estimated reads,
please describe how EGI approached any costs associated with balancing (i.e.,
annual renewal, two-point balancing, etc.).
Response:
a - b)
Enbridge Gas has, and continues to, accommodate request to mitigate billing impacts to
customers by providing balancing flexibility when operationally available and by waiving
fees for surplus gas stored or for short gas loaned.
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Below is an example of the communications sent out to affected customers.
Communication to Direct Purchase Market in the Union Gas Rate Zones:
We are reaching out to provide an update on billing issues you may have experienced since Enbridge Gas Inc.’s
(EGI) integration of our customer account system for general service customers in July 2021. This may have impacted
the direct purchase accounts you have or manage.
The following issues have been experienced for some customers which may have impacted the Banked Gas Account:
•
•

Estimated meter reads spanning several months that may be higher than usual.
End use accounts may not be receiving regular monthly bills resulting in unreported consumption for the same
period

EGI’s billing operations team have identified the root causes of the issue and have been working to address impacted
accounts. The issue was due to data migration between the customer account systems resulting in delays in billing to
a subset of customers. Each impacted account requires a detailed manual review to analyse and resolve, resulting in
significant time required to address all impacted bills. Over the last several months, EGI has treated this issue with
high priority and has dedicated additional resources to address it. It is our current expectation that the resolution of all
known impacted accounts will be completed by the end of Q1, 2022.
We appreciate your patience as we complete this detailed review and recognize it has taken longer than we initially
expected. As a result, Enbridge will take this issue into consideration when evaluating requests for South and North
balancing requirements directly impacted by this issue. Please let your Direct Purchase Customer Service
Representative know if you are experiencing any issues and provide a list of your impacted accounts/contracts. The
CSRs will assess each request to determine where additional flexibility can be accommodated.
If you have any questions about this communication, please contact authorizations@enbridge.com
Thank you.
Direct Purchase Contracting and Compliance
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit G, Tab 1, Page 2
Preamble:
EGI evidence states:
The MRPM represents the number of meters with no read for four consecutive months
or more divided by the total number of active meters to be read. The target for the
metric is 0.5% and Enbridge Gas achieved a level of 5.0% in 2021. The result for 2019
was 0.7% and 4.4% in 2020. Enbridge Gas has faced challenges meeting the target
since 2019 for several reasons, including the decision of a key meter reading vendor to
no longer provide meter reading service resulting in the need to onboard a new vendor.
Question(s):
What was EGI’s approach to handling direct purchase customers whose accounts were
closed in error with respect to returning that customer to their Direct Purchase Account?
Response:
End use customer accounts identified as having been finalized in error and dropped
from a Direct Purchase gas pool are returned to the pool with a new billing account
number. Pools are then updated with the associated consumption volumes, price points
and remittances through back-dating adjustment where applicable.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit G, Tab 1, Page 2
Preamble:
EGI evidence states:
The MRPM represents the number of meters with no read for four consecutive months
or more divided by the total number of active meters to be read. The target for the
metric is 0.5% and Enbridge Gas achieved a level of 5.0% in 2021. The result for 2019
was 0.7% and 4.4% in 2020. Enbridge Gas has faced challenges meeting the target
since 2019 for several reasons, including the decision of a key meter reading vendor to
no longer provide meter reading service resulting in the need to onboard a new vendor.
Question(s):
If a group of general service rate customers are aggregated into a direct purchase
group, what avenues do these customers have to seek adjustments to their accounts?
a) Is there an Account Executive or similar type role?
Response:
Individual customers that are part of an aggregated direct purchase gas pool can call
the Call Centre to inquire about their own end use account. Typically, general service
customers that are part of a direct purchase gas pool are represented by their Energy
Marketer.
Energy Marketers can contact Enbridge Gas’s dedicated direct purchase support team
with specific direct purchase inquiries across all Enbridge and Union rate zones.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit G, Tab 1, Page 2
Preamble:
EGI evidence states:
The MRPM represents the number of meters with no read for four consecutive months
or more divided by the total number of active meters to be read. The target for the
metric is 0.5% and Enbridge Gas achieved a level of 5.0% in 2021. The result for 2019
was 0.7% and 4.4% in 2020. Enbridge Gas has faced challenges meeting the target
since 2019 for several reasons, including the decision of a key meter reading vendor to
no longer provide meter reading service resulting in the need to onboard a new vendor.
Question(s):
What was the average wait time to get to a live account representative using the
customer billing enquiry number 1-877-362-7434 and what is the abandonment rate:
a) From January to June of 2021?
b) From July to November of 2021?
Response:
a) For the period January to June of 2021, the average wait time to get a live account
representative was 164 seconds (2 minutes 44 seconds); the abandonment rate was
8.6%.
b) For the period July to November 2021, the average wait time to get a live account
representative was 629 seconds (10 minutes 29 seconds); the abandonment rate
was 22.7%.
Please see Exhibit G, Tab 1, pages 3 to 4, paragraphs 6 to 7 for information pertaining
to the increase in abandonment rates in 2021.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit G, Tab 1, Page 2
Preamble:
EGI evidence states:
The MRPM represents the number of meters with no read for four consecutive months
or more divided by the total number of active meters to be read. The target for the
metric is 0.5% and Enbridge Gas achieved a level of 5.0% in 2021. The result for 2019
was 0.7% and 4.4% in 2020. Enbridge Gas has faced challenges meeting the target
since 2019 for several reasons, including the decision of a key meter reading vendor to
no longer provide meter reading service resulting in the need to onboard a new vendor.
Question(s):
Please provide the respective amounts invested in the meter read, billing and customer
accounting for EGI:
a) Using 2020 actual costs
b) Using 2021 actual costs
Response:
a) The O&M costs in 2020 to support meter reads, billing and customer accounting was
$47.6 million.
b) The O&M costs in 2021 to support meter reads, billing and customer accounting was
$51.8 million.

Filed: 2022-09-02
EB-2022-0110
Exhibit I.LPMA.1
Plus Attachment
Page 1 of 1
ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
London Property Management Association (LPMA)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit A, Tab 3, Appendix A
Question:
a) Please indicate the prescribed interest rate(s) used for each quarter of 2022 in
calculating the interest costs shown in the table.
b) If required, please update the table to reflect the use of the most current OEB
approved prescribed interest rates for each quarter, assuming that the prescribed
rate for the fourth quarter of 2022 is equal to that of the third quarter of 2022.
Response
a) The prescribed interest rates used in calculating the interest costs in Exhibit A, Tab 3,
Appendix A were 0.57% in Q1 and 1.02% in Q2. Enbridge Gas used the OEB
prescribed Q2 2022 interest rate of 1.02% as a forecast when calculating the interest
costs shown in Exhibit A, Tab 3, Appendix A as that was the rate that was available
at the time of filing.
b) Please see Attachment 1 updated with forecast interest costs calculated at the OEB
prescribed Q3 2022 interest rate of 2.20% for the remainder of the year.
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ENBRIDGE GAS
DEFERRAL & VARIANCE ACCOUNT
ACTUAL & FORECAST BALANCES
Col. 1

Col. 2

Col. 3

Col.4

Forecast for clearance at
January 1, 2023
Line
No. Account Description

Account
Acronym

Principal
($000's)

Interest
($000's)

Total
($000's)

Reference to
Evidence

EGD Rate Zone Commodity Related Accounts
1.
2.
3.
4.

Storage and Transportation D/A
Transactional Services D/A
Unaccounted for Gas V/A
Total commodity related accounts

2021 S&TDA
2021 TSDA
2021 UAFVA

7,942.5
(3,904.1)
753.9
4,792.2

145.5
(58.5)
9.0
96.0

8,088.0 D-1, Page 2
(3,962.6) D-1, Page 4
762.9 D-1, Page 6
4,888.2

EGD Rate Zone Non Commodity Related Accounts
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.

Average Use True-Up V/A
2021 AUTUVA
Gas Distribution Access Rule Impact D/A
2021 GDARIDA
Deferred Rebate Account
2021 DRA
Transition Impact of Accounting Changes D/A
2021 TIACDA
Electric Program Earnings Sharing D/A
2021 EPESDA
Open Bill Revenue V/A
2021 OBRVA
Ex-Franchise Third Party Billing Services V/A
2021 EXFTPBSVA
RNG Injection Service V/A
2021 RNGISVA
OEB Cost Assessment V/A
2021 OEBCAVA
Dawn Access Costs D/A
2021 DACDA
2021 P&OPEBFAVACPDVA
Pension and OPEB Forecast Accrual vs. Actual Cash Payment Differential
V/A

14,934.3
4,359.4
4,435.8
2,550.3
1,968.0
-

223.6
79.2
46.6
29.5
-

15,157.9
4,438.6
4,435.8
2,596.9
1,997.5
-

16.

Total EGD Rate Zone (for clearance)

33,040.0

474.8

33,514.9

Union Rate Zones Gas Supply Accounts

OEB Account Number

17.
18.
19.
20.
21.

Upstream Transportation Optimization
Spot Gas Variance Account
Unabsorbed Demand Costs Variance Account
Base Service North T-Service TransCanada Capacity
Total Gas Supply Accounts

179-131
179-107
179-108
179-153

2021
2021
2021
2021

8,616.3
(1,665.6)
83.5
7,034.2

129.0
(38.1)
1.5
92.4

8,745.3
(1,703.7)
85.0
7,126.6

22.

Short-Term Storage and Other Balancing Services

179-70

2021

3,576.9

53.6

2021
2021
2021
2021
2021
2021
2021
2021
2021
2021
2021
2021
2021
2021
2021
2021
2021
2021

18,997.4
(3,120.4)
907.1
(603.3)
(45.0)
24.0
(112.1)
(51.0)
(3,162.0)
20,501.3
8,151.4
41,487.4

D-1, Page 10
D-1, Page 23
D-1, Page 12
D-1, Page 1
D-1, Page 23
D-1, Page 23
D-1, Page 23
D-1, Page 23
D-1, Page 13
D-1, Page 16
D-1, Page 23

E-1, Page 6
E-1, Page 58
E-1, Page 1
E-1, Page 52

Union Rate Zones Storage Accounts
3,630.5 E-1, Page 8

Union Rate Zones Other Accounts
351.4
(63.7)
16.8
(10.0)
(0.7)
0.6
(4.2)
(0.8)
(54.6)
(1,345.6)
287.0
123.3
(700.4)

19,348.8
(3,184.1)
923.9
(613.3)
(45.7)
24.6
(116.3)
(51.8)
(3,216.6)
(1,345.6)
20,788.3
8,274.8
40,787.1

52,098.5

(554.4)

51,544.1

(19,162.6)
57.7
-

(339.1)
0.9
-

(19,501.7)
58.6
-

Total EGI Accounts (for clearance)

(19,104.9)

(338.2)

(19,443.1)

49.

Total Deferral and Variance Accounts (for clearance)

66,033.7

(417.8)

65,615.8

50.
51.
52.
53.
54.
55.
56.
57.
58.
59.
60.
61.
62.

Not Being Requested for Clearance
Accounting Policy Changes D/A - Pension - EGI
Accounting Policy Changes D/A - Other - EGI
Accounting Policy Changes D/A - Other - EGI
Accounting Policy Changes D/A - Other - EGI
Tax Variance - Integration Capital Additions - EGI
Tax Variance - Integration Capital Additions - EGI
Incremental Capital Module Deferral Account - EGD
Incremental Capital Module Deferral Account - EGD
Incremental Capital Module Deferral Account - UGL
Incremental Capital Module Deferral Account - UGL
Incremental Capital Module Deferral Account - UGL
Impacts Arising from the COVID-19 Emergency D/A - EGI
Impacts Arising from the COVID-19 Emergency D/A - EGI

169,431.8
(1,749.5)
(14,789.5)
(13,864.6)
(3,736.3)
(10,462.6)
(254.0)
175.5
(6,869.6)
(5,615.4)
(14,353.4)
1,377.5
34.3

(63.1)
(336.7)
(250.5)
(41.1)
(115.1)
(4.7)
3.1
(236.6)
(125.0)
(231.9)
28.5
0.5

169,431.8
(1,812.6)
(15,126.2)
(14,115.1)
(3,777.4)
(10,577.7)
(258.7)
178.6
(7,106.2)
(5,740.4)
(14,585.3)
1,406.0
34.8

63.

Total of Accounts not being requested for clearance

(1,372.7)

97,951.5

23.
24.
25.
26.
27.
28.
29.
30.
31.
32.
33.
34.
35.
36.
37.
38.
39.
40.
41.

Normalized Average Consumption
179-133
Deferral Clearing Variance Account
179-132
OEB Cost Assessment Variance Account
179-151
Unbundled Services Unauthorized Storage Overrun
179-103
Gas Distribution Access Rule Costs
179-112
Conservation Demand Management
179-123
Parkway West Project Costs
179-136
Brantford-Kirkwall/Parkway D Project Costs
179-137
Lobo C Compressor/Hamilton-Milton Pipeline Project Costs
179-142
Lobo D/Bright C/Dawn H Compressor Project Costs
179-144
Burlington-Oakville Project Costs
179-149
Panhandle Reinforcement Project Costs
179-156
Sudbury Replacement Project
179-162
Parkway Obligation Rate Variance
179-138
Unauthorized Overrun Non-Compliance Account
179-143
179-157V/A
Pension and OPEB Forecast Accrual vs. Actual Cash Payment Differential
Unaccounted for Gas Volume Variance Account
179-135
Unaccounted for Gas Price Variance Account
179-141
Total Other Accounts

42.

Total Union Rate Zones (for clearance)

43.
44.
45.
46.
47.

EGI Accounts
Earnings Sharing D/A
Tax Variance - Accelerated CCA - EGI
IRP Operating Costs Deferral Account
IRP Capital Costs Deferral Account
Expansion of Natural Gas Distribution Systems V/A

48.

179-382
179-383
179-385
179-386
179-380

179-120
179-120
179-120
179-120
179-383
179-383
2020 ICMDA
2021 ICMDA
179-159
179-159
179-159
2020 IACEDA
2021 IACEDA

2021
2021
2021
2021
2021

2021
2019
2020
2021
2020
2021
2020
2021
2019
2020
2021
2020
2021

99,324.2

E-1, Page 13
E-1, Page 21
E-1, Page 49
E-1, Page 58
E-1, Page 58
E-1, Page 58
E-1, Page 25
E-1, Page 29
E-1, Page 41
E-1, Page 44
E-1, Page 47
E-1, Page 53
E-1, Page 58
E-1, Page 58
E-1, Page 58
E-1, Page 56
E-1, Page 31
E-1, Page 38

C-1, Page 1
C-1, Page 12
C-1, Page 15
C-1, Page 1
C-1, Page 1

C-1, Page 2
C-1, Page 2
C-1, Page 2
C-1, Page 2
C-1, Page 12
C-1, Page 12
C-1, Page 1
C-1, Page 1
C-1, Page 1
C-1, Page 1
C-1, Page 1
C-1, Page 1
C-1, Page 1
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
London Property Management Association (LPMA)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit B, Tab 1, Page 3
Question:
a) What is the gross revenue sufficiency for 2021 based on the OEB approved formula
return on equity of 8.34%?
b) What is the magnitude of the net and gross revenue deficiency of a 100-basis point
difference in the return on equity for 2021?
Response
The responses below are provided in reference to Exhibit B, Tab 1 Updated
September 2, 2022:
a) Removing the OEB-approved deadband of 150 basis points above the Board
formula return on equity (ROE) for 2021, the gross earnings sufficiency would be
$57.7 million as compared to the Board formula ROE of 8.34%. This is reflective of a
$104.5 million change as compared to the $46.8 million deficiency inclusive of the
150 basis point deadband.
b) A 100 basis point increase (or decrease) in ROE would result in a gross
sufficiency/deficiency change of $69.7 million or a net change of $51.2 million for
2021.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
London Property Management Association (LPMA)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit B, Tab 1, Pages 4 & 5
Question:
Has EGI made and changes to the process related to the calculation of the return on
equity from that used for 2020 and 2019? If there are any changes, please explain fully
the change and the reason for the change.
Response
No, Enbridge Gas has not made any process changes related to the calculation of the
return on equity from that used in 2020 and 2019, and as described in Exhibit B, Tab 1,
pages 4 and 5.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
London Property Management Association (LPMA)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit B, Tab 1, Schedule 4
Question:
a) Please explain the meaning of a negative number under additions to gross plant.
For example, line 53 on page 4 shows (23.6) for additions to measuring and
regulating equipment for Union rate zones underground storage plant.
b) Please explain why the average of monthly averages shown on line 102, sub-total
Union rate zones general plant of $437.6 is higher than both the opening balance of
$418.6 and the closing balance of $419.5. Is this related to the timing of the
retirements compared to the timing of the additions?
c) Please explain the timing associated with the retirement of an asset such as
computers shown on line 95 of $69.1 relative to the additions shown of $53.0.
d) Please explain how adjustments to accumulated depreciation are impacted for each
of (a), (b) and (c) above.
Response
Responses below are provided in relation to Exhibit B, Tab 1, Schedule 4 updated
September 2, 2022:
a) The resulting negative $23.6 million in Line 53 additions primarily pertains to a
reclassification in 2021 of assets from asset class 457 - Underground Storage to
asset class 467 - Transmission Plant. The negative amount in line 53 is offset in Line
62 additions. This reclassification also included an associated reclassification of
accumulated depreciation included on page 5, in Line 48, and offset in Line 55.
There was no impact to rate base as a result of the reclassification.
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Other negative additions presented in 2021 gross plant would have also resulted
from similar reclassifications between asset classes with associated reclassifications
of accumulated depreciation, resulting in no overall rate base impact.
b) Yes, the average of monthly averages balance of $437.5 million is impacted by the
timing of the associated additions and retirements of assets during the year. In
particular, the balances for Union Rate Zones - General Plant were impacted by
asset class 483 – Office Equipment additions which primarily went into service
between June and September, and retirements which occurred primarily in
September and December.
c) The additions in Union Rate Zones - General Plant for asset class 483 – Office
Equipment shown on Line 95 primarily went into service between June and
September whereas retirements occurred primarily in September and December.
The asset additions and retirements are independent of each other.
d) As noted above in response a), the reclassifications of gross plant between asset
classes that occurred were offset by associated reclassifications of accumulated
depreciation, resulting in no impact to rate base in 2021.
As for the impacts to accumulated depreciation of the timing of additions and
retirements noted above in responses b) and c), depreciation begins the month after
assets go into service and ceases the month following retirement.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
London Property Management Association (LPMA)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit B, Tab 2 Schedule 2, page 2 & Exhibit B, Tab 1, Schedules 1 & 2
Question:
Please provide versions of Schedules 1 & 2 in Exhibit B, Tab 1 that reflect the
normalized total utility revenue of $4,640.1 shown on page 2 of Exhibit B, Tab 2,
Schedule 2 and show the resulting normalized actual return on equity for 2021.
Response
Please refer to Attachment 1 of this response, which addresses the request above in
relation to Exhibit B, Tab 1, Schedules 1 & 2 updated September 2, 2022.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
RETURN ON RATE BASE & EQUITY & EARNINGS SHARING DETERMINATION
WEATHER NORMALIZED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021

Line
No.
1.

Col. 1

Col. 2

Col. 3

Description

Reference

Actual

Part A) Return on Rate Base & Revenue (Deficiency) / Sufficiency
($Millions) & (%'s)

2.
3.
4.

Utility Income before Income Tax
Less: Income Taxes
Utility Income

(Ex. B, Tab 1, Sch. 2)
(Ex. B, Tab 1, Sch. 3)

938.9
56.2
882.6

5.

Utility Rate Base

(Ex. B, Tab 1, Sch. 4)

14,221.6

6.
7.
8.

Indicated Return on Rate Base %
Less: Required Rate of Return %
(Deficiency) / Sufficiency %

(line 4 / line 5)
(Ex. B, Tab 1, Sch. 5)

9.
10.
11.

Net Earnings (Deficiency) / Sufficiency
Provision for Income Taxes
Gross Earnings (Deficiency) / Sufficiency

12.

50% Earnings sharing to ratepayers

13.

Part B) Return on Equity & Revenue (Deficiency) / Sufficiency

14.
15.
16.
17.
18.

Utility Income before Income Tax
Less: Long Term Debt Costs
Less: Short Term Debt Costs
Less: Cost of Preferred Capital
Net Income before Income Taxes

(Ex. B, Tab 1, Sch. 2)
(Ex. B, Tab 1, Sch. 5)
(Ex. B, Tab 1, Sch. 5)
(Ex. B, Tab 1, Sch. 5)

938.9
371.3
1.9
0.0
565.7

19.

Less: Income Taxes

(Ex. B, Tab 1, Sch. 3)

56.2

20.

Net Income Applicable to Common Equity

(line 18 - line 19)

509.5

21.

Common Equity

22.
23.
24.

Approved ROE (including deadband before earning sharing) %
Achieved Rate of Return on Equity %
Resulting (Deficiency) / Sufficiency in Return on Equity %

25.
26.
27.

Net Earnings (Deficiency) / Sufficiency
Provision for Income Taxes
Gross Earnings (Deficiency) / Sufficiency

28.

50% Earnings sharing to ratepayers

(line 5 x line 8)

6.206%
6.166%
0.040%

(line 9 / 73.5%)

5.7
2.1
7.7

(if line 11 > 1, line 11 x 50%)

3.9

(Ex. B, Tab 1, Sch. 5)
(Board-approved + 150bp)
(line 20 / line 21)
(line 21 x line 24)

5,119.8
9.840%
9.951%
0.111%

(line 25 / 73.5%)

5.7
2.1
7.7

(if line 27 > 1, line 27 x 50%)

3.9
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EGI UTILITY INCOME - WEATHER NORMALIZED
2021 ACTUAL

Line
No.

Reference

Col. 1

Col. 2

Col. 3

Col. 4

Corporate

Unregulated
Storage

Adjustments

Utility
Income

(a)

(b)

(c)

1. Gas sales and distribution

(Ex. B, Tab 2, Sch. 2)

4,513.2

2. Transportation

(Ex. B, Tab 2, Sch. 3)

143.1

3. Storage

(Ex. B, Tab 2, Sch. 3)

159.7

4. Other operating revenue

(Ex. B, Tab 2, Sch. 4)

64.3

1.8

5. Other income

(Ex. B, Tab 2, Sch. 4)

6. Total operating revenue
7. Gas costs
8. Operation and maintenance

(Ex. B, Tab 3, Sch. 1)

9. Depreciation and amortization expense
10. Fixed financing costs
11. Municipal and other taxes
12. Cost of service

-

(d) = (a)-(b)+(c)
($Millions)
126.9 (i)

4,640.1

0.4

(0.8) (ii)

141.9

153.6

(0.1) (iii)

6.0

(13.4) (iv)

49.1

7.2

-

(6.3) (viii)
106.3

155.8

2,146.2

20.2

89.5 (i)

2,215.4

938.7

14.1

(4.0) (v)

920.6

676.8

14.1

(22.6) (vi)

640.1

0.5 (vii)

6.3

0.0

117.9

1.7

-

3,885.9

50.2

63.4

13. Utility income before income taxes
14. Income tax expense

0.9

4,887.5

4,838.0

6.8
116.2
3,899.1
938.9

(Ex. B, Tab 1, Sch. 3)

15. Utility income

56.2
882.6

Notes on Adjustments:
(i)

Weather normalization (remove revenue impact warmer than normal weather)
Reclassification of Union rate zone optimization revenue as a cost of gas reduction
Elimination of the UGL rate zone unregulated storage cost from EGD rate zone revenues

(i.1) Weather normalization (remove gas cost impact warmer than normal weather)
Reclassification of Union rate zone optimization revenue as a cost of gas reduction
(ii)

Elimination of the Union rate zone shareholder portion of net optimization activity (before tax)

(iii) Elimination of the Union rate zone shareholder portion of net short-term storage revenue (before tax)
(iv) Adjust EGD rate zone OBA costs to reflect EB-2013-0099 approved unit costs agreed to be used for determining net revenue
Elimination of EGD rate zone Open Bill shareholder incentive
Elimination of EGD rate zone shareholder portion of transactional service revenues
Elimination of demand-side management incentive
Elimination of EGD rate zone net revenue from ABC T-service, considered to be non-utility
(v) Elimination of donations
Elimination of OEB Penalty assessed in EB-2021-0204 (Assurance of Voluntary Compliance and Administrative Penalty)
Elimination of non-utility costs and expenses relating to support of the EGD rate zone ABC T-service program
(vi) Eliminate amortization of PPD (purchase price discrepancy)
Eliminate depreciation on disallowed Mississauga Southern Link amounts (EBRO 473 & 479)

(vii) Interest on security deposits held during the year and included in elimination of corporate interest exp. Expense incurred to
reduce bad debt. The average amount of the security deposit held during the year is applied as a reduction to the
allowance for working capital in rate base
(viii) Elimination of interest income from investments not included in utility rate base
Eiliminate loss on sale of SLG assets
Elimination of interest income from affiliates
Elimination of Part VI.1 tax

159.5
(15.4)
(17.2)
126.9
104.9
(15.4)
89.5
(0.8)
(0.1)
(4.3)
0.3
(1.8)
(6.9)
(0.8)
(13.4)
(3.6)
(0.1)
(0.3)
(4.0)
(22.5)
(0.1)
(22.6)

0.5
(0.1)
(1.6)
(4.6)
(6.3)
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
London Property Management Association (LPMA)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit B, Tab 3, Schedule 1
Question:
Paragraph 10 notes that one of the drivers of the increase in outside services in 2021 is
related to increases in regulatory consulting costs related to rebasing preparations.
Please quantify these costs and confirm that these costs will not be recoverable in the
upcoming rebasing application.
Response
Regulatory consulting costs were $1.3 million higher in 2021 compared to 2020.
Rebasing consulting activities accounted for $0.9 million and higher OEB and intervenor
costs amounted to $0.4 million.
These costs were included in 2021 utility earnings and as a result will not form part of
the rebasing application.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
London Property Management Association (LPMA)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit F, Tab 1
Question:
Paragraph 8 states that consistent with the TVDA, EGI has split the debit balance of
$0.058 million in the 2021 IRP Operating Cost Deferral Account balance between the
EGD and Union rate zones in proportion to the 2018 actual rate base for each rate
zone. Footnote 3 then references page 16 of the EB-2020-0134 Decision and Order
dated May 6, 2021.
a) Please indicate the specific reference in the EB-2020-014 Decision and Order that
deals with the allocation of the IRP Operating Cost Deferral Account.
b) Is this the first year that the balance in the account is being allocated and disposed
of?
c) Did EGI consider any method of allocating these operating costs other than based
on historical rate base? If not, why not?
Response
a) Clearance of the IRP Operating Cost Deferral Account is being requested for the first
time with the current application. The footnote reference to the EB-2020-0134
Decision and Order was included in the evidence as a reference to the OEB’s
approval of the methodology for the Tax Variance Deferral Account (TVDA).
b) Please see part a).
c) Please see the response at Exhibit I.STAFF.12.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
London Property Management Association (LPMA)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit F, Tab 3, Schedule 1 & 5
Question:
a) Please explain the difference in the M1 unit rate of 0.7547 for sales/system gas and
0.4169 for bundled t-service shown in line 11 of Exhibit F, Tab 3, Schedule 1 and the
figures shown on lines 1 through 3 (0.0870 delivery, 0.3378 commodity, 0.4248
sales service impact) on page 1 of Exhibit F, Tab 3, Schedule 5.
b) Please explain the difference in the M2 unit rate of 1.5045 for sales/system gas and
1.1667 for bundled t-service shown in line 12 of Exhibit F, Tab 3, Schedule 1 and the
figures shown on lines 15 through 17 (0.5105 delivery, 0.3378 commodity, 0.8483
sales service impact) on page 1 of Exhibit F, Tab 3, Schedule 5.
Response
a) Exhibit F, Tab 3, Schedule 1 has been corrected in evidence.
b) Please see the response to part a).
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
London Property Management Association (LPMA)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit F, Tab 1 & Exhibit F, Tab 3, Schedule 3 & Exhibit E, Tab 1
Preamble:
Paragraph 14 in Exhibit F, Tab 1 states that the allocation of account balances to
customer classes use the same methodologies approved by the OEB in previous years
with the exception of the Deferral Clearing Variances Account (179-132) (“DCVA”) in the
Union rate zone.
Paragraph 15 in Exhibit F, Tab 1 states that EGI proposes to split the DCVA balance
between general service and contract customers and that the allocation of general
service and contract customer balances to rate classes is based on respective volumes.
The evidence then refers to Exhibit F, Tab 3, Schedule 3 for the proposed allocation.
Line 8 of Exhibit F, Tab 3, Schedule 3 shows credits for general service classes for the
DCVA and debits for the contract rate classes, but does not explain how this is
arrived at.
Question:
a) Please provide a table that shows the calculations and allocation factors used to
arrive at the allocation of the DCVA balance to the rate classes.
b) Please explain fully, how the composition of the DCVA balance discussed in
Exhibit E, Tab 1, page 21, impacts the allocation of the amounts to the various rate
classes, if at all
Response
a) Please see Attachment 1 for the allocation of the DCVA by account disposition
balance. The DCVA account balance for each disposition is split between general
service and in-franchise contract customers based on information provided by
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Enbridge Gas’s billing systems. The general service and in-franchise contract
account balances are allocated to the respective rate classes in proportion to 2021
actual volumes.
The credit balances accruing to general service rate classes are a result of the
prospective disposition methodology that was used by Union for disposition of
balances from the 2017/18 DSM Deferrals Disposition, 2019 Earnings Sharing and
Deferrals Disposition, and 2020 FCPP proceedings.
b) The proposed allocation approach for the 2021 DCVA balance by splitting it into
general service and in-franchise contract and allocating each to the respective rate
classes is in response to the change in disposition methodology from prospective
disposition to a one-time adjustment disposition for general service rate classes.
Enbridge Gas’s customer information system (CIS) is no longer able to identify the
balance at a rate class level that was possible when the prospective disposition
methodology was used. As a result, a harmonized allocation approach was
proposed for all DCVA account disposition balances in 2021. That is, the Union rate
zones’ DCVA allocation approach to use actual volumes is consistent with the EGD
rate zone’s Deferral Rebate Account allocation which uses actual volumes.
The composition of the DCVA balances discussed at Exhibit E, Tab 1, page 21 was
used to identify general service and contract split but was not used in the allocation
to rate classes because the rate class level of detail was not available for all account
disposition balances.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Allocation of Deferral Clearing Variance Account (DCVA) Balance by Account Disposition

Line
No.

Particulars ($000's)

General
Service
Total
(a)
5,252,686

In-Franchise
Contract
Account
Total
Total
(b)
(c) = (a)+(b)
8,585,841

13,838,527

General Service Allocation (1)
Rate 01
(d)
929,941

Rate 10
(e)
311,794

In-Franchise Contract Allocation (2)

M1
(f)

M2
(g)

Total
(h)=sum(d:g)

2,897,087

1,113,864

5,252,686

Rate 20
(h)

Rate 100
(i)

Rate 25
(j)

M4
(k)

M5A
(l)

637,600

958,587

143,898

610,808

M7
(m)

T3
(r)

Total
(s)=sum(h:r)

453,007

4,700,474

241,187

2
3
4
5

(1,990)
(2,071)
(291)
1,154

89
(33)

(1,990)
(1,982)
(291)
1,122

(352)
(367)
(52)
204

(118)
(123)
(17)
69

(1,097)
(1,142)
(160)
637

(422)
(439)
(62)
245

(1,990)
(2,071)
(291)
1,154

(2)

10
(4)

(1)

(2)

(0)

(3)

(0)

(0)

(2)

49
(18)

(1)

89
(33)

6

Subtotal

(3,197)

57

(3,140)

(566)

(190)

(1,763)

(678)

(3,197)

4

6

1

4

0

5

1

0

3

31

2

57

7

Interest

(26)

0

(25)

(5)

(2)

(14)

(5)

(26)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

8

Total

(3,223)

57

(3,166)

(571)

(191)

(1,777)

(683)

(3,223)

4

6

1

4

0

5

1

0

3

31

2

57

Notes:
(1)
The allocation of DCVA general service account balances (column (a)) to rate classes is in proportion 2021 actual general service volumes (line 1).
(2)
The allocation of DCVA in-franchise contract account balances (column (b)) to rate classes is in proportion 2021 actual in-franchise contract volumes (line 1).

-

1

-

6

-

1

-

7

-

320

T2
(q)

Account Disposition
2017/18 DSM Deferrals
2019 Earning Sharing and Deferrals
2019 FCPP
2019 DSM Deferrals

7

90,096

T1
(p)

2021 Actual Volumes

-

686,353

M10
(o)

1

-

63,511

M9
(n)

1

-

0

-

5
-

3
-

8,585,841
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
London Property Management Association (LPMA)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit G, Tab 1
Question:
a) Please provide the number of customers for each of 2019, 2020 and 2021 that were
contacted to reschedule work used in the calculation of the TRMA as noted in
paragraph 4.
b) Please provide the number of meters for each of 2019, 2020 and 2021 with no reads
for four consecutive months used in the calculation of the MRPM as noted in
paragraph 5. Please also provide the number of active meters to be read for the
same years.
c) Please provide the number of calls received for each of 2019, 2020 and 2021, along
with a monthly breakdown of the number of calls received for each year used in the
calculation of the CASL as noted in paragraph 6.
d) Please provide the number of callers that hung up while waiting for a live operation
in each of 2019, 2020 and 2019 used in the calculation of the abandon rate as noted
in paragraph 7.
Response
a) The number of appointments where reschedules were required and met, plus the
total number of reschedules required are listed below. In addition, the reschedules
not met as a percentage of total appointments is included.
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Table 1
Number of Appointments Rescheduled Within Two Hours
Reschedules Met
2,624
2,554
1,729

2019
2020
2021

Total Reschedules
2,706
2,626
1,783

Percentage Met
97.0%
97.3%
97.0%

b) The number of meters with no reads for four consecutive months and the number of
active meters for 2019, 2020, and 2021 are listed below.
Table 2
Number of Meters With No Read for Four Consecutive Months or More

2019
2020
2021

Meters with No Read
for Four Consecutive
Months or More
306,722
1,969,224
2,290,800

Total Number of Active
Meters to be Read
44,719,845
45,208,820
45,822,429

Percentage of Meters with
No Read for Four
Consecutive Months or More
0.69%
4.36%
5.00%

c) The number of calls received and answered within 30 seconds for 2019, 2020, and
2021 and the monthly breakdown are listed below.
Table 3
2019 - Number of Calls Received and Answered Within 30 Seconds

January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December

Calls Answered
Within 30 Seconds
232,403
196,653
231,276
227,720
247,727
249,341
253,764
256,891
234,440
251,562
259,192
192,226
2,833,195

2019

Total Calls

Percentage Met

283,997
245,257
298,723
286,859
321,043
309,449
330,705
332,505
297,662
320,873
317,003
244,247
3,588,323

81.83%
80.18%
77.42%
79.38%
77.16%
80.58%
76.73%
77.26%
78.76%
78.40%
81.76%
78.70%
78.96%
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Table 4
2020 - Number of Calls Received and Answered Within 30 Seconds

January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December

Calls Answered
Within 30 seconds
221,754
213,378
195,392
157,373
179,823
177,965
171,791
169,393
190,803
202,124
200,041
176,598
2,256,435

2020

Total Calls

Percentage Met

281,267
270,585
241,523
192,346
213,299
213,213
243,629
275,884
268,775
289,408
282,688
228,804
3,001,421

78.84%
78.86%
80.90%
81.82%
84.31%
83.47%
70.51%
61.40%
70.99%
69.84%
70.76%
77.18%
75.18%

Table 5
2021 - Number of Calls Received and Answered Within 30 Seconds

January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December

Calls Answered within
30 seconds
198,563
192,847
227,309
178,109
169,450
180,983
242,498
252,044
194,825
175,423
168,935
138,050
2,319,036

2021

Total Calls

Percentage Met

275,958
250,236
281,746
256,173
254,034
289,307
379,354
351,924
337,022
330,994
333,919
268,664
3,609,331

71.95%
77.07%
80.68%
69.53%
66.70%
62.56%
63.92%
71.62%
57.81%
53.00%
50.59%
51.38%
64.25%
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d) The number of callers that hung up while waiting for a live operator compared with
the number of calls requesting a live agent are listed below.
Table 6
Number of Calls Abandoned While Waiting for a Live Agent

2019
2020
2021

Calls Abandoned While
Waiting for a Live Agent
58,423
97,556
309,476

Total Calls Requesting
a Live Agent
2,326,628
1,810,867
1,928,841

Abandon Rate (%)
2.51%
5.39%
16.04%
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers (OGVG)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit C / Tab 1 / pp. 4, 8, 9, 10, 11
EB-2021-0149 Exhibit C Tab 1 Page 4
EB-2020-0134 Exhibit C Tab 1 Page 5
Preamble:
Pension Expense – Unamortized Actuarial Gains/Losses and Prior Service Cost
Prior to December 31, 2018, Union recorded actuarial gains/losses and past service
costs (Actuarial Losses) in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (AOCI) and
amortized the balance over the expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of
employees in accordance with ASC 715-30-35-24. This amortization expense was part
of pension cost that was recognized annually and included in the forecast that
underpinned rates. (emphasis added)
Approximately $39 million of Actuarial Losses were amortized between February 27,
2017 and December 31, 2018, resulting in a balance of $211 million remaining in
Union’s AOCI at amalgamation (the Amalgamation) (January 1, 2019).
As noted in the EB-2020-0134 Interrogatory Response to LPMA, the amortization of
actuarial gains/losses and past service costs is a component of accrual-based pension
expense. Base rates for both the EGD and Union rate zones include a provision for
accrual-based pension expenses as part of O&M. (emphasis added)
The Pension Expense drawdown against the APCDA for 2021 has been calculated by
EGI to be $12,033,400.
The Pension Expense drawdown for 2019 and 2020 were calculated by EGI to be
$17,509,000 and $12,288,000 respectively
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Question(s):
a) Please explain how EGI calculates the amount to be drawn down against the
APCDA as annual pension related amortization expense included in rates.
b) Please explain why the amount drawn down against the APCDA as annual pension
related amortization expense included in rates appears to be declining (i.e. from
$17.509M in 2019 to $12.033M in 2021).
Response:
a- b)
In determining the amount to be drawn down against the APCDA balance representing
pre-2017 unamortized actuarial losses, Enbridge Gas relies on information provided by
its external pension expert, Mercer. Mercer provides details on annual pension accrual
costs prepared in accordance with the United States Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (US GAAP) (ASC 715 – Compensation – Retirement Benefits).
Under US GAAP, a corridor approach to the recognition of actuarial gains and losses,
such that only actuarial gains and losses exceeding 10% of the greater of plan assets or
obligations is recognized in the income statement and spread over the maximum period
of the employees' remaining service period. The corridor amount is recalculated
annually by Mercer on behalf of Enbridge Gas, as well as the resulting accrual-based
amortization of those gains and losses. Therefore, the amortization of losses is not on a
straight-line basis and will vary annually.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers (OGVG)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit E / Tab 1 / p. 58
Preamble:
Accounts with A Zero Balance-Union Rate Zones
Unauthorized Overrun Non-Compliance Account
Question(s):
a) Is there no balance in the Unauthorized Overrun Non-Compliance Account for 2021
because there were no interruptions in 2021, or because there were no unauthorized
overruns during interruptions in 2021? If the latter, please provide a summary of the
interruptions (location and duration) experienced by EGI in the Union Rate Zone in
2021.
Response:
There is no balance in the Unauthorized Overrun Non-Compliance Account for 2021
because all customers complied with the distribution interruptions in that year. Table 1
provides a summary of the distribution interruptions in the Union rates zones for 2021.

Filed: 2022-09-02
EB-2022-0110
Exhibit I.OGVG.2
Page 2 of 2

Table 1
2021 Distribution Interruption Summary
Line No.

Rate Zone

Start Date/Time

Location
Kirkland Lake

Calendar Days

1

Union North

August 9, 2021

50

2

Union North

October 23, 2021

Napanee

3

Union South

January 19, 2021

Cambridge

4

Union South

January 28, 2021

Dunnville

3

5

Union South

February 4, 2021

Cambridge

2

6

Union South

February 4, 2021

Dunnville

1

7

Union South

February 7, 2021

Dunnville

11

8

Union South

February 16, 2021

Cambridge

1

9

Union South

February 20, 2021

Dunnville

2

10

Union South

August 9, 2021

Sarnia

2

2
13
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
School Energy Coalition (SEC)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Exhibit B, Tab 3, Schedule 1, p. 2, 3
Question(s):
Corporate Shared Services have increased by 16.1% from 2020 to 2021. With respect
to CSS, please provide:
a) A complete breakdown of CSS charges, by category, for each of 2019 through 2021,
with explanations of all variances in excess of 5% from year to year.
b) The most recent breakdown of all CSS charges in the Enbridge Inc. group of
companies, with explanations of how those charges have been allocated between
affiliates (e.g. based on FTEs, rate base, etc.).
c) A full list of all OM&A and capital costs in 2021 in categories other than CSS that
have been reduced due to increases in CSS charges, with a comparison of the
reduction and the related CSS increase and an explanation of any anomalies (such
as changes in service levels).
d) The current agreement between Enbridge Inc. (or any other affiliate providing CSS)
and the Applicant with respect to CSS charges.
e) The full calculation of all stock-based compensation charges allocated to the
Applicant for each of 2019, 2020, and 2021.
Response:
a) Please see the restatement of CSS as explained in FRPO #5. While it does not
change total O&M for 2020 and 2021, it lowers the allocation of benefits costs for
CSS in 2020 and results in a 24% increase in CSS costs between 2020 and 2021.
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CSS charges are allocated by the functional service provided, not by expense
categories. As a result, variance analyses on CSS are carried out at the functional
service level and supports the restatement of CSS costs.
And with the restatement noted please refer to Attachment 1 for the breakdown of
CSS charges with variance explanations as requested from year to year.
b) Costs are assigned and allocated to Enbridge business segments using the Central
Functions Cost Allocation Methodology (CFCAM) which groups costs into (1)
Directly Attributable Costs, (2) Indirect Costs, and (3) Direct Charges. Only the first
two are allocated; the third is a direct cost to the segment. Directly Attributable Costs
are allocated based on specific drivers that reflect causality and materiality. Indirect
Costs apply to the whole enterprise and are allocated based on a three-factor
formula (3FF) comprised of payroll for permanent and contract employees, gross
book value for PP&E, and revenue. The costs received for each Central Function
listed in part a) of this response can be a combination of directly attributed and
indirect costs and direct charges. Examples of cost drivers used to allocate costs
include direct attribution, time estimates and headcount.
c) CFCAM has been in place since 2018 although refinements have been made in
2019 and 2020 that shifted costs from business segments to reflect greater
centralization. There are no material reductions in O&M and capital costs in 2021
associated with the increase in CSS costs which is predominantly due to external
cost pressures as originally described in Exhibit B, Tab 3, Schedule 1, page 3.
d) The Intercorporate Services Agreement between Enbridge Inc. and Enbridge Gas
effective January 1, 2019 is included at Attachment 2.
e) The calculation of all stock-based compensation (SBC) charges is performed in
accordance with USGAAP and policies and assumptions as described in Enbridge
Inc.’s audited financial statements for 2021 (pages 22, 54-56) 1.
SBC was allocated to EGI using a combination of direct attribution and indirect
allocation of the general cost pool. SBC amounts for central function employees are
inherent within CSS (Line 13).
$ Millions
SBC

2019
23.8

2020
23.1

2021
28.8

Enbridge Inc. Quarterly and Annual Reports. https://www.enbridge.com/investment-center/reports-and-secfilings/investor-documents-and-filings, 2021 Q4 MDA and Financials
1
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Central Functions (CSS) O&M

Line No

Particulars ($ millions)

2019

2020

2021

2019-2020

2020-2021

2019-2020

2020-2021

Utility

Actual

Actual

Actual

Variance

Variance

Variance (%)

Variance (%)

1

Finance & Insurance

EGI

35.7

36.6

43.8

0.9

7.1

2%

20%

2

Real Estate, HR & Workplace Services

EGI

76.2

81.6

105.8

5.4

24.1

7%

30%

3

Legal

EGI

13.8

11.0

11.0

(2.7)

(0.0)

-20%

0%

4

Technology & Information Systems (TIS)

EGI

70.2

66.1

75.0

(4.2)

9.0

-6%

14%

5

Depreciation

EGI

20.9

21.2

22.0

0.3

0.8

2%

4%

6

Other

EGI

21.9

24.9

22.2

3.0

(2.7)

14%

-11%

7

CF Cost Allocations (Gross)

EGI

238.7

241.5

279.7

2.7

38.2

1%

16%

8

Capitalization

(63.7)

(65.9)

(61.6)

(2.2)

4.3

3%

-7%

9

CSS (Net)

175.1

175.6

218.1

0.5

42.6

0%

24%

2019 - 2020 Variance

See the response provided in EB-2021-0149, Exhibit 1.EP.1.
Reduction in 2020 reflects the benefits achieved from implementing
enterprise contracting.
Primarily due to the transition to an outsourced contractor services
model which matches resourcing based on the Company’s
technological needs at a given point in time.
Various drivers less than 5% individually.

2020 - 2021 Variance

See the response provided in EB-2022-0110 Exhibit B,
Tab 3, Schedule 1, Page 3, paragraph 8.
See the response provided in EB-2022-0110, Exhibit B,
Tab 3, Schedule 1, Page 3, paragraph 8.

see the response provided in EB-2022-0110 Exhibit B,
Tab 3, Schedule 1, Page 3, paragraph 8.

Various drivers less than 5% individually.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
School Energy Coalition (SEC)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Ex. B/3/2, p. 13, 14
Question(s):
Please provide the internal capital plan on which the capital spending in 2021 was
based, including all narrative materials and explanations, and all presentations to
executive management or the board of directors dealing with the increases in capital
spending from 2020 to 2021.
Response:
The 2021 Budget (capital plan) is underpinned by the Asset Management Plan as filed
in EB-2020-0181, Schedule C, Tab 2, Exhibit 1. The 2021 Budget was presented to the
Asset Management Steering Committee on June 8th, 2020. The presentation materials
supporting the 2021 Budget were filed in EB-2020-0182, Exhibit 1.SEC.1, Attachment 1.
To assist in understanding the increase in capital spending, a summary of variances
between the 2020 Budget and 2021 Budget as presented in the AMP by rate zone and
Asset Class is presented below:
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Table 1
EGD Rate Zone – 2020 vs 2021 Budget Comparison in $millions
Asset Class

2020
Budget
34.3

2021
Budget
55.3

7.8

12.5

4.7

15.1

28.2

13.1

23.1

59.6

36.5

133.1
8.6
14.0
24.6

160.1
10.9
15.4
42.1

27.0
2.3
1.4
17.5

Distribution Pipe

80.3

202.0

121.7

Compression
Stations

11.8

46.1

34.3

Overheads

133.8

-

(133.8)

Total

486.5

632.2

145.7

Utilization
Transmission Pipe
and Underground
Storage
Technology
Information
Services
Real Estate &
Workplace
Services
Growth
Fleet & Equipment
EA Fixed OH
Distribution
Stations

Variance
21.0

Comments
- Increase in meter purchases $11M
- Overheads $10M
- Increase in Integrity $3M
- Overheads $2M
- Reprioritization of spend including Meter
Reading Handheld Replacements $2M and
other $6M
- Overheads $5M
- Increase due to Station B new building and
Ottawa facility consolidation $26M
- Overheads $11M
- primarily due to overheads $27M
- primarily due to overheads $2M
- no significant variance
- Increase in station rebuilds $4M and gate &
feeder $6M
- Overheads $8M
- Increase in main replacements including St.
Laurent $11M and Cherry to Bathurst $64M,
increased in service relays $6M and other
$4.2M
- Overheads $36.5M
- Increase due to Meter Area Upgrade
project $19M and Replacements $7M
- Overheads $8M
- Overheads allocated to asset classes
starting in 2021
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Table 2
UG Rate Zone – 2020 vs 2021 Budget Comparison in $millions
Asset Class

2020
Budget
48.2

2021
Budget
55.2

8.6

53.1

44.5

Technology
Information
Services

31.0

11.3

(19.7)

Real Estate &
Workplace
Services

11.7

44.9

33.2

0.3
127.9

0.3
116.9

(11.0)

8.9
2.4
26.6

11.7
2.8
52.3

2.3
0.4
25.7

199.6

280.4

80.8

5.3

9.3

4.0

74.0

-

(74.0)

544.5

638.2

93.7

Utilization
Transmission Pipe
and Underground
Storage

LNG
Growth

Fleet & Equipment
EA Fixed OH
Distribution
Stations
Distribution Pipe

Compression
Stations
Overheads
Total

Variance
7.0

Comments
- decrease in meter purchases $3M
- Overheads $10M
- Increase due to Sarnia Industrial
Reinforcement $23M and Class Locations
$11M
- Overheads $10M
- Reduction in spend of $18M due to removal
of integration projects included in the 2020
AMP including CARE Application
Replacement and CARS Application
Replacement
- Overheads $2M
- Increase due to London new building $10M,
Keil Dr renovations $8M and other facility
renovations $7M
- Overheads $8M
- no significant variance
- Lower reinforcements due to completion of
Owen Sound ($54M) offset by higher
Customer Connections $16M and other
reinforcements $6M
- Overheads $21M
- primarily due to overheads $2M
- no significant variance
- Increase in station rebuilds $7M and gate &
feeder $7M and other $2M
- Overheads $10M
- Increase in main replacements including
London Lines Replacement $95M offset by
reduced spend on Windsor Line ($70M) and
other $5M
- Overheads $51M
- Increase in Improvements $1M and
Land/Structures $1M
- Overheads $2M
- Overheads allocated to asset classes
starting in 2021
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
School Energy Coalition (SEC)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Ex. C/1, p. 4
Question(s):
In July 2021 a class action lawsuit #CV-21-00658687-00CP was filed in the Ontario
Superior Court of Justice seeking a range of relief over a period of more than 30 years
for under-calculations of pensions. With respect to this issue, please:
a) Confirm that no amounts have been included in any deferral or variance accounts
related to this lawsuit.
b) Provide the amount that is included in the OM&A calculation for 2021 relating to this
lawsuit.
c) Provide the Applicant’s most recent estimate of the amount potentially at risk if the
lawsuit is successful, and confirm that the Applicant expects to include any eventual
cost associated with this lawsuit in rates in the future.
d) Confirm that the practices alleged in the lawsuit to be wrongful (failure to include
maternity and parental leave periods in credited service for pension calculation
purposes) have, to the extent that they were in fact in place prior to amalgamation,
continued since the amalgamation or, if not confirmed, describe what changes have
been made to those practices since amalgamation. This question does not seek an
admission of fact or interpretation, but only information on whether what was
happening before amalgamation continued after amalgamation.
e) Confirm that the practices alleged in the lawsuit to be wrongful were the same
practices that were in place at Union Gas for the period 1990 to 2018 or, if not
confirmed, describe how those practices were different at Union Gas. Again, not
admission is requested, only a comparison of practices between the two utilities.
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f) If similar practices were in place at Union Gas, provide the Applicant’s most recent
estimate of the amount potentially at risk if a similar lawsuit against Union Gas were
to be successful, and confirm that the Applicant expects to include any eventual cost
associated with any such lawsuit in rates in the future
Response:
a) Confirmed.
b) Other than for external legal costs, there is no amount included in the 2021 OM&A
calculation for this lawsuit.
c) The amount of any potential loss is not determinable at this stage of the litigation.
d) The alleged practices are under investigation and are the subject of ongoing
discussions with the plaintiffs.
e) The practices at Union Gas for the period 1990 to 2018 are not named and therefore
are not relevant to the lawsuit.
f) See response to e).
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
School Energy Coalition (SEC)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Ex. E/1, p. 15
Question(s):
Please provide any internal reports, analyses, memoranda, or other documents
disaggregating the changes in normalized average consumption in Rates 01 and/or M1
between residential and non-residential customers.
Response:
The Company does not have any internal reports, analyses, memoranda, or other
documents that deal with disaggregating the changes in normalized average
consumption between residential and non-residential similar to what was provided in
Table 2 of Exhibit E, Tab 1, page 15.
Tables below provide the actual NAC for Rate 01 residential and non-residential
customers and for Rate M1 residential and non-residential, for the period of 2019-2021
and shows the year over year change in normalized average consumption. The figures
below are weather normalized at each year’s respective OEB-approved weather
normal.
Rate 01:
Relative to 2020, the 2021 normalized average consumption shows a decrease of
approximately 3.8% across the residential and non-residential sectors as well as the
overall Rate 01 class. In the prior year, relative to 2019, the non-residential sector
incurred a decline in normalized average consumption whereas the residential sector
remained relatively flat.
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Table1:
Rate 01 Normalized Average Consumption Residential & Non-residential

Year

2019
2020
2021

Rate 01
Residential
Actual
Year over
NAC
Year Change
3
(m )
(%)

Rate 01
Non-Residential
Actual
Year over
NAC
Year Change
3
(m )
(%)

Actual
NAC
3
(m )

Year over
Year Change
(%)

2,322
2,332
2,244

9,174
9,059
8,715

2,880
2,875
2,766

-0.2%
-3.80%

0.4%
-3.76%

-1.3%
-3.80%

Rate 01

Rate M1:
In relation to 2020, the normalized average consumption of 2021 shows a decrease of
2.85% for the rate class, mainly concentrated in the non-residential market with a
decrease of 5.80% while the residential segment registered a reduction of 1 .8%. In the
previous year, in relation to 2019, the average consumption of the rate class decreased
by 1.24%, this time again the non-residential sector was the main contributor in the
reduction of the consumption of the rate class with a decrease of 2.24 % while the
residential segment experienced a decrease of 0.79%.
Table 2:
Rate M1 Normalized Average Consumption Residential & Non-residential

Year

Rate M1
Residential
Actual
Year over
NAC
Year Change
3

(m )
2019
2020
2021

2,284
2,266
2,225

(%)

-0.79%
-1.80%

Rate M1
Non-Residential
Actual
Year over
NAC
Year Change
3
(m )

8,985
8,783
8,274

(%)

-2.24%
-5.80%

Rate M1
Actual
NAC

Year over
Year Change

(m3)

(%)

2,780
2,746
2,668

-1.24%
-2.85%
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
School Energy Coalition (SEC)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Ex. E/1, p. 24
Question(s):
Please provide more detail on the “billing systems’ inability to locate all intended
customers” and describe how that problem results in the ratepayers being responsible
for the shortfall in collection.
Response:
As was described at Exhibit I.STAFF.12 in the 2020 Earnings Sharing and Deferrals
Disposition proceeding 1, the “billing systems’ inability to locate all intended customers”
means that at the time the deferral clearance was billed to customers, some customers,
because of moves and other account changes were no longer active. As a result of this
“inability to locate the intended customers”, the deferral clearance unit rates, which were
derived utilizing historical customers and volumes, were not able to be assessed
against all the historical customers and or volumes. Therefore, the full deferral balance
was not able to be billed, and the differences reside in the Deferred Rebates Account
and the Deferral Clearing Variance Account (clearing accounts) which are requested for
disposition at the following earnings sharing and deferrals disposition proceeding.
The recovery of residual amounts from ratepayers is in accordance with the OEB
approved purpose of the clearing accounts, which is to record any amounts payable to,
or receivable from, customers of the Company resulting from clearing deferral and
variance accounts authorized by the OEB which remain outstanding due to the
Company’s inability to locate such customers and due to variances between actual and
forecast volumes under prospective recovery. The Company also notes that residual
balances are treated consistently, regardless of whether they are amounts to be
recovered from or payable to ratepayers.

1

EB-2021-0149.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
School Energy Coalition (SEC)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Ex. E/1, p. 31
Question(s):
Please provide a detailed explanation of the steps taken by the Applicant to identify the
specific causes of the large, $35.9 million UFG charges. Please provide any internal
reports, analyses, memoranda, or other documents dealing with those steps, and/or
reporting on the results.
Response:
A UFG Dashboard is used to communicate results to management relating to UFG
volumes and costs. A copy of the 2021 UFG Dashboard is included as Attachment 1 1.
In Q3 of 2021, the data captured in the UFG Dashboard indicated that it was likely that
UFG volumes and costs would exceed 2013 OEB approved amounts as well as
exceeding the $5 million dead-band in the UFG Volume Deferral account.
In Q4 of 2021 through Q1 2022, work was undertaken to validate the inputs and the
calculations utilized in the formulaic determination of UFG volumes. The work to
validate the appropriateness and completeness of the inputs and calculations used in
the formulaic determination of UFG included the following:
1) Calculation of true-up relating to the monthly accounting estimates for gas
delivered but not yet billed
2) Analysis of prior period adjustments
3) Assessment of impacts relating to the transition of customers within the Union
Rate Zones to the SAP CIS Customer Billing System in July 2021.
4) Validation of the appropriateness and completeness of line-pack volumes
recorded
5) Review of meter reads between custody and check meters to identify
inconsistencies
The UFG Dashboard includes the terms “Board Approved”, “Budget”, “Actual”, and “Experienced”. For
the purposes of the UFG Dashboard, “Actual” reflects UFG recorded based on the Board Approved
throughput percentage of 0.219%, with a true-up to the actual throughput percentage in December.
“Experienced” reflects UFG recorded based on the actual throughput percentage each month.
1
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6) Review of Send-out data to assess consistency and reasonableness with
prior periods, adjusted for weather
7) Review of heat values used and the appropriateness of the calculations of the
conversions of volumes as it relates to the calculation of UFG
8) Review of storage inventory adjustments recorded and appropriateness of
inclusion in the calculation of UFG
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UFG Dashboard
Actual 2021 vs. Board Approved 2013
Actual 2021

Financial Variances ($000's)

Board Approved 2013

Favourable / (Unfavourable)

a

b

c

d

e

f

g

h

i=e‐a

$000's

103m3

PJ's

%

$000's

103m3

PJ's

%

Jan
Feb
Mar
Apr
May
Jun
Jul
Aug
Sep
Oct
Nov
Dec

1,360
948
1,427
804
679
676
630
757
619
941
1,307
30,365

10,350
7,210
10,856
5,929
5,005
4,987
4,876
5,865
4,793
5,561
7,723
179,427

0.4
0.3
0.4
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.3
7.1

0.219%
0.219%
0.219%
0.219%
0.219%
0.219%
0.219%
0.219%
0.219%
0.219%
0.219%
4.264%

1,953
1,685
1,365
1,086
1,040
933
1,042
917
892
969
1,213
1,694

9,278
8,005
6,484
5,157
4,941
4,432
4,948
4,355
4,238
4,604
5,762
8,048

0.4
0.3
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.3

0.219%
0.219%
0.219%
0.219%
0.219%
0.219%
0.219%
0.219%
0.219%
0.219%
0.219%
0.219%

Variance
Total
Company
UFG ‐ $
593
738
(62)
281
361
257
412
159
273
28
(94)
(28,671)

YTD

40,513

252,582

9.93

0.672%

14,789

70,253

2.66

0.219%

(25,724)

UFG Throughput
Total Company
Total UFG Volume
%
UFG ‐ $

Total Company
UFG Throughput
Total UFG Volume
UFG ‐ $
%

$40.0

Regulated
Utility UFG

UFG Volume
Deferral

p

o

n

m

Variance Offset by Revenue

Variance to $5M Deadband

Unregulated
Storage

Regulated Utility
Throughput

Regulated
Utility Price

30
29
15
16
17
14
17
13
14
11
13
(362)

(0)
23
(48)
(5)
4
(3)
10
(12)
0
(27)
(47)
(2,957)

3
2
3
2
1
1
1
1
1
2
3
(5,019)

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
(20,482)

664
573
464
349
335
300
364
321
312
172
215
301

(104)
111
(495)
(81)
4
(56)
20
(163)
(54)
(130)
(277)
(151)

(174)

(3,063)

(5,000)

(20,482)

4,370

(1,376)

$45.0

$35.0

UFG Volumes ‐ Experienced vs Budget
GJ '000

300
250

$40.0

$30.0

200

$35.0

$25.0

150

$30.0

$20.0

$25.0

$15.0

100

$20.0

$10.0

50

$15.0

$5.0

0

$10.0

$0.0
‐$5.0

Regulated ST
Storage

Total UFG$ ‐ Experienced vs Actual
$ millions

Calendar Year UFG
$ millions

$45.0

l

k

Variance Allocated to

Jan

Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Jul

Aug Sep

Board Approved 2013

Actual 2021

Experienced 2020

Budget 2021

Experienced 2021

Oct Nov Dec

Jan

$5.0

Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Jul

Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

‐50

$0.0
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun
Actual

Jul

Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Experienced

Experienced 2021
Experienced 2020

Budget 2021
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
School Energy Coalition (SEC)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Ex. E/1, p. 46
Question(s):
Please provide any internal reports, analyses, memoranda, or other documents dealing
with the 52% increase in OM&A costs set out in Table 2, and provide an explanation of
what steps were taken by the Applicant to minimize those cost overruns.
Response:
The Company does not have any internal reports, analyses, memoranda, or other
documents that deal with the increase in OM&A costs attributable to the Dawn H/LOBO
D/Bright C Compressor Project.
Management recognizes the increased cost of operating the noted assets/project,
however, Enbridge Gas does note that the costs incurred were necessary to address
the needs and demands of the overall Dawn to Parkway system. The costs are
reflective of operational decisions made in order to meet those demands in a safe and
reliable manner, including at times limited options of various available units. The
parameters of how the system is operated today was unknown at the time the original
estimates were made based on assumptions at that time.
Overall, the 52% increase noted is primarily related to higher salaries and wages
including overtime and benefits of the employees required to operate these assets
based on a higher level of operating hours. Also, as a result, utility costs associated with
operating these assets has increased because of higher operating hours and a
significantly higher cost per kwH than initially estimated. And finally, the costs of
maintenance on these assets have escalated, based on parts and labour being OEM
specific and reflective of higher vendor invoicing.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
School Energy Coalition (SEC)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Ex. F/1, p. 3
Question(s):
Please explain why the spending on IRP in 2021 was so low, and reconcile that low
spending with the criticisms of the members of the IRP Working Group about the slow
start of the Applicant to meeting its IRP obligations.
Response:
IRP spending in 2021 was low due to the timing of the OEB’s IRP Framework Decision,
which was received in July 2021 1. Prior to the OEB’s IRP Framework Decision being
issued, existing IRP resources continued to work with team members from across the
organization to identify what would be required to implement the decisions that were
anticipated to be included within the OEB’s IRP Framework Decision. However,
Enbridge Gas did not hire the resources identified as being required, begin work with a
consultant on enhancements to the DCF+ test or work with an agency to create new
stakeholder engagement web site materials until the OEB’s IRP Framework Decision
was received and there was certainty with regards to cost-recovery of these activities.
Following the OEB’s IRP Framework decision Enbridge Gas initiated:
•
•
•

Hiring for the roles identified as being required. The hiring process is time
intensive, taking place between September 2021 and early 2022,
Engagement with a consultant, Guidehouse, on the DCF+ enhancement study,
and
Engagement with a marketing agency to develop an IRP Stakeholder
engagement web site.

The costs associated with these activities, due to timing, will mostly be reflected in the
costs included in the 2022 deferral account.

1

EB-2020-0091, OEB Decision and Order, July 22, 2021.
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ENBRIDGE GAS INC.
Answer to Interrogatory from
School Energy Coalition (SEC)
Interrogatory
Reference:
Ex. H/1, p. 27-37
Question(s):
Please confirm that the Applicant does not believe the role of the IRP Working Group
includes providing input to the Applicant on load and demand forecasting as it relates to
the energy transition, nor input on asset management planning activities other than
those relating to specific IRP projects.
Response:
Confirmed. As outlined in the IRP Decision and Order issued on July 22, 2021 the OEB
indicated that:
Despite concern raised by some parties about the demand forecast, the OEB has
determined that a more comprehensive review of Enbridge Gas’s demand forecasting
methodology is not needed at this time. Detailed examination of the ten-year demand
forecast methodology is appropriately done at Enbridge Gas’s next rebasing application,
at which time the AMP will be filed as evidence. 1

1

EB-2020-0091, OEB Decision and Order, July 12, 2021. page 42

